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RETIREMENT PROTECTION ACT OF 1993

WEDNESDAY, JUNE 15, 1994

U.S. Senate,
Committee on Finance,

Washington, DC.

The hearing was convened, pursuant to notice, at 10:09 a.m., in

Room SD-215, Dirksen Senate Office Building, Hon. Daniel Patrick

Moynihan, Chairman of the Committee, presiding.
Also present: Senators Baucus, Bradley, Pryor, Rockefeller,

Conrad, Packwood, Roth, Durenberger, and Grassley.
[The press release announcing the hearing follows:!

[Press Release No. H-37. May 25. 1994]

Finance Committee Sets Hearing on the Retirement Protection Act*

Washington, DC.—Senator Daniel Patrick Moynihan (D-NY), Chairman of the
Senate Committee on Finance, announced today that the Committee will hold a

hearing on S. 1780, the Retirement Protection Act of 1993, the Administration's pro-

posal to improve pension plan funding and limit the exposure of the Pension Benefit

Guaranty Corporation (PBGC).
The hearing will begin at 10:00 A.M. on Wednesday, June 15, 1994, in room SD-

215 of the Dirksen Senate Office Building.
"Pension underfunding is a serious issue," Senator Moynihan said in announcing

the hearing. "The Committee looks forward to hearing from the Administration on
its proposal to strengthen pension funding requirements to assure retirement secu-

rity for workers and retirees and keep the PBGC on sound footing."

OPENING STATEMENT OF HON. DANIEL PATRICK MOYNIHAN,
A U.S. SENATOR FROM NEW YORK, CHAIRMAN, COMMITTEE
ON FINANCE
The Chairman. A very good morning to our distinguished admin-

istration witnesses and to our guests and to the panel that will fol-

low. This morning we are going to hold an initial hearing on S.

1780, a bill to amend the Employee Retirement Income Security
Act of 1974 and the Internal Revenue Code of 1986 to provide secu-

rity for workers, to improve pension plan funding, to limit growth
in insurance exposure, to protect the single employer plan termi-
nation insurance program, and for other purposes.
This is an administration bill drafted by our most distinguished

Secretary of Labor with the collaboration of the Department of the

Treasury, represented by Hon. Leslie Samuels, the Assistant Sec-

retary for Tax Policy, so well and favorably known to this commit-
tee; and by Hon. Martin Slate, who is the Executive Director of the
Pension Benefit Guaranty Corporation.

*See also, a Joint Committee on Taxation print prepared for the hearing entitled Description
and Analysis of S. 1780 ("Retirement Protection Act of 1993"). (JCS-4-94), June 14, 1994.
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As with any arrangement of this kind, it needs attending on a

periodic basis. But some events have taken place that make this

more urgent than might otherwise be the case. So we very much
look forward to hearing the views of the Secretary and the Treas-

ury and the Corporation.
Senator Conrad is particularly knowledgeable in this area. He

might want to make an opening remark.

OPENING STATEMENT OF HON. KENT CONRAD, A U.S.

SENATOR FROM NORTH DAKOTA
Senator Conrad. Mr. Chairman, given the number of witnesses

we have here today, I will withhold from making a full statement.
I would like to point out, however, that of the $53 billion in esti-

mated unfunded liabilities in single employer defined benefit pen-
sion plans in 1992 the government at the current time is only on
the hook over and above the resources that it currently has for

some $2.9 billion.

So even though there is substantial underfunding in the system
the Federal Government at this stage is only obligated for a deficit

amount of some $2.9 billion which is guaranteed by the PBGC.
That may not be much comfort given the pressures that will exist

for the Federal Government to respond as this problem becomes
more apparent and especially as we move into a period in which
more and more people are retiring and the pensions they were

counting on are not there. That will put substantial pressure on
the Federal Government to respond.
Mr. Chairman, I think this is a very important subject. It is

timely that you have called this hearing today and I thank you for

it.

The Chairman. We thank you for being here.

Senator Packwood is involved in a Commerce hearing, as Senator
Pryor is also at another hearing. We are at that moment in the leg-
islative cycle.

Senator Rockefeller is here and we welcome any remarks from

you, sir.

OPENING STATEMENT OF HON. JOHN D. ROCKEFELLER IV, A
U.S. SENATOR FROM WEST VIRGINIA

Senator Rockefeller. Mr. Chairman, I would just repeat what
Kent Conrad said in thanking you for holding this hearing. Pension

underfunding is a great lurking black cloud over the horizon. Not
many people know much about it, and it is a very difficult subject.
Of the $53 billion in total pension underfunding, I think $38 billion

comes from what we know well to be troubled industries: steel, tire,

and automobiles.
The Chairman. We are going to hear from Hank Barnette, for

example, later on.

Senator ROCKEFELLER. There is a lot of work to do.

The Chairman. Work to do, so let us get about that most indus-
trious of Cabinet officers who is everywhere and involved in most
everything and very constructively so. Mr. Secretary, we welcome
you.



STATEMENT OF HON. ROBERT B. REICH, SECRETARY, U.S.

DEPARTMENT OF LABOR, WASHINGTON, DC

Secretary Reich. Thank you, Mr. Chairman. I do want to thank

you personally for introducing this bill and also thank you and the

committee for scheduling the hearing and taking the time out.

Word has it that you are engaged in other pursuits as well, legisla-

tively. This is, as Senator Rockefeller and Senator Conrad indi-

cated, a cloud on the horizon. It is not yet a crisis, but it is a seri-

ous cloud.

The Chairman. Did not Franklin Roosevelt use the Biblical

image—a cloud no bigger than a man's hand. I think we vvould put
it that way rather than a black cloud looming over the horizon.

Secretary Reich. It is a cloud no bigger than a man or a woman's
hand. But I think it is

The Chairman. Oh, God, I forgot.

Secretary REICH. Times have changed since F.D.R.

But in all seriousness, and this is a serious matter, if I may sub-

mit my testimony for the record and simply proceed
The Chairman. Please, for the record, and you proceed exactly as

you like and as long as you feel you wish.

Secretary Reich. Mr. Chairman, you have already introduced to

my left Martin Slate, Executive Director of the Pension Benefit

Guaranty Corporation, to my right Leslie Samuels, Assistant Sec-

retary of the Treasury for Tax Policy.
When the Clinton Administration came into office, I, as the

Chairman of the PBGC, set out to find out the facts and also to

come up with legislative solutions. There had been a lot of talk

about problems. We wanted to make sure that we understood the

nature of the problems and also came up with a solution that was

targeted precisely to deal with the problem, not to burden compa-
nies that were not underfunded, but to deal in a very surgical way
with the underfunding.

Let us be very clear about the nature of the problem. With re-

gard to defined benefit plans, and the defined benefit pension
plans, as you know, are a very, very large part of our pension sys-
tem. There are 41 million American workers right now who are de-

pendent on defined benefit pension plans when they retire.

There are about 65,000 defined benefit plans. This is still a very

good system. It is a very solid system, our discussion today should
in no way imply that this is not a solid and very important system
on which many American workers are dependent for their pension
security.
The problem is confined to a small part of the universe. There

are about 8 million American workers who are working for compa-
nies who are actually in plans that are substantially underfunded.

They are in some jeopardy with regard to their pension security.

Underfunding has increased substantially.
The Chairman. About 8 million.

Secretary Reich. Of the 41 million workers who are covered by
defined benefit plans there are 8 million who are now in plans that

are substantially underfunded.
The Chairman. That is 20 percent.

Secretary Reich. Yes. And the trajectory of the problem, that

cloud on the horizon, is getting larger at an alarming rate. In 1987



there was $27 billion in underfunding. Now the most recent data
are for 1992, and it is up to $53 billion in underfunding and that
is about twice.

The PBGC's own deficit is now $2.9 bilHon. But that has doubled
in the last 5 years. So what we are seeing is a cloud that is becom-

ing a larger and larger cloud. Why we are so eager to advance this

legislation and so eager that you take it up as you have is that
while it is not a crisis now, it could easily become a crisis unless
we do something about it. And now is the perfect time when the

economy is in recovery, when jobs are coming back, when profits
are being restored to do something about it.

If we waited for the next economic problem, the next economic

downturn, and economies, as you know, do subscribe to Isaac New-
ton's law, that is, everything that is down eventually comes up; ev-

erything that is up eventually comes down. If we waited for the

next economic problem we might be in a real crisis. I do not want
to overstate that. It is easy to overstate the nature of the problem.
But it is a problem. It is a growing problem. Now is the time to

do something about the problem. It is the ideal time to do some-

thing about the problem and we feel that we have crafted a solu-

tion that deals specifically with the problem.
As I said, sponsors of well-funded plans will not be affected.

There are four key provisions. I will outline them very, very quick-

ly-

The Chairman. Mr. Secretary, take your time. We are here to lis-

ten. We have to legislate.

Secretary REICH. The first provision has to do with the actual

funding laws, the funding provisions. The current funding provi-
sions are simply too flexible. They allow too much wiggle room.

They often allow companies that have unfunded plans 30 years to

come up to full funding.
They are acting within their legal authority right now. I am not

suggesting that any company that has an underfunded plan is act-

ing illegally, but that is precisely the problem. There is simply too

much latitude within the law right now.
The reform legislation takes out a great deal of this wiggle room.

We accelerate the time in which underfunded plans have got to

come up to full funding, and most new benefits have got to be fund-
ed within five to 7 years. We ensure in this legislation that compa-
nies with underfunded plans will not be able to minimize their con-

tributions.

Again, I want to emphasize that fully-funded plans will not be
affected by this. This accelerates the funding for plans that are be-

hind.

The Chairman. And Mr. Slate is going to be able to tell us how
he defines such a plan.

Secretary Reich. Yes, we will get into all of the details in a mo-
ment. I just want to give you the overview.
The Chairman. Right.

Secretary Reich. The second point is that this plan includes new
compliance authority for the Pension Benefit Guaranty Corpora-
tion. Right now it is perfectly legal for a company to sell off a sub-

sidiary that is in trouble.



Let us say you have a subsidiary with a plan that is very, very

badly underfunded, but you have a healthy company. Well, the

healthy company can sell off the subsidiary and essentially escape
all liability. That subsidiary is then left with all of that

underfunding liability and no longer has the cushion of the parent
company to fall back on.

Not only are those workers of the subsidiary company exposed,
but also, indirectly, the PBGC premium payers are exposed be-

cause the premium payers are backing up this entire system.
Under this legislation, the PBGC would have better tools, so that

if a company was about to sell off a subsidiary with a very badly
underfunded pension plan, for example, they would have to notify
the PBGC.
The PBGC at that point could enter court proceedings, could get

all the information and, argue in court that this is not appro-
priate

—that the transaction would leave these workers, and poten-

tially the PBGC, holding the bag.
This is not possible right now under current law.

Another very important provision would eliminate the cap on the

premium that is now paid by companies, a risk premium that is

related to the riskiness of the pension.
Right now firms with 80 percent of the underfunding are only ac-

counting for something like 20 percent of the revenues going into

the PBGC. The incentives are not right. We have got to increase
the incentives on firms with underfunded plans by adjusting the
risk premiums they pay to better reflect the fact that they do rep-
resent a much, much larger risk.

Under this proposal those firms with very substantially under-
funded plans would essentially end up paying about half of the rev-

enues to the PBGC. Again, we do not want to handicap those firms.

And this is a very carefully crafted piece of legislation; the risk pre-
miums that those firms would pay would not be so much of a bur-
den that those firms would go under. Obviously, that we do not
want.
We want, and we think we have achieved, a careful balance in

terms of their paying a responsible premium that reflects the real

risk and not imposing upon firms with fully funded plans so much
of the burden of paying for underfunded plans.

Finally, the fourth provision would be a disclosure provision.

Right now, Mr. Chairman and members of the committee, many
American workers simply do not know that they are in severely un-
derfunded pension plans. We need a better disclosure provision.
Workers need to have that knowledge. They need to be able to

make reasonable and informed decisions based upon that informa-
tion. They need to be able to apply pressure appropriately.

Right now there is a dearth of information out there. This pro-

posal would provide disclosure to participants. Obviously, the more
workers that know, the better.

These reforms, taken together, will assure funding of all vested
benefits within 15 years and based on prior PBGC experience, will

eliminate the PBGC's deficit within 10 years.
The administration is enthusiastic about the proposal and stands

ready to help in any way. I realize again that this committee is

dealing with many other issues at the moment, but I want to em-



phasize again—this is not a crisis, but it could become so if it is

left unattended.
The trend lines are not favorable. Companies that have under-

funded pension plans have too much wiggle room under the law,
and now is the time to do something about it when the economy
is recovering. This is the ideal time. We do not want to look back
on this time years from now and say, why did we not handle the
crisis before it was a crisis. Why did we not do something about
it when we could have done something about it. That is relatively

easy to do. It puts the responsibility exactly where it needs to be

placed.
Thank you.
The Chairman. Thank you. Among other things, we do not want

to look back and say, if a crisis should develop, we knew it was
coming, we did nothing about it. You, sir, have brought it forward
in a most clarifying way and not an intimidating way in the view
of this member of the committee.

Senator Bradley, did you want to welcome our panel or just hear
them out?

Senator Bradley. I am prepared to ask questions at the appro-

priate time.
The Chairman. Sure.
Senator Bradley. I think this is a very important hearing. I take

what the administration said very seriously and I have questions
that I would like to ask.

The Chairman. Good.

Well, then we will turn to Secretary Samuels. Good morning
again, sir.

[The prepared statement of Secretary Reich appears in the ap-

pendix.]

STATEMENT OF HON. LESLIE B. SAMUELS, ASSISTANT SEC-
RETARY FOR TAX POLICY, U.S. DEPARTMENT OF THE TREAS-
URY, WASHINGTON, DC

Secretary SAMUELS. Good morning, Mr. Chairman. Mr. Chair-

man and members of the committee, I might begin by reaffirming
what Secretary Reich said that on behalf of the Treasury and Sec-

retary Bentsen, we appreciate, Mr. Chairman, your introducing
this bill and you and the committee holding the hearing.

I would ask that my written statement be placed in the record.

The Chairman. Of course.

[The prepared statement of Secretary Samuels appears in the ap-

pendix.]

Secretary Samuels. I will summarize it this morning. I am
pleased to present the views of the Treasury Department on the

Retirement Protection Act of 1993. The Treasury Department ac-

tively participated in the administration's PBGC task force and the

Department strongly supports this package. We believe that this

legislation addresses the primary causes of PBGC's deficits in a re-

sponsible manner and before the situation becomes a crisis.

This morning I will discuss the portions of the bill that amend
the Internal Revenue Code. Most of the amendments to the Inter-

nal Revenue Code in this legislation relate to the minimum funding
rules. These minimum funding rules are designed to ensure that



employers sponsoring defined benefit plans set aside assets to se-

cure the promised benefits.

The current minimum funding rules require sponsors of large un-
derfunded plans to make additional deficit reduction contributions
in order to eliminate the underfunding. In reviewing the effective-

ness of these special rules, we determined that some employers
with significantly underfunded plans had found loopholes in the
statute that allowed them to minimize or even eliminate these defi-

cit reduction contributions.
The bill modifies these funding rules in several ways to close the

existing loopholes and minimize the ability of employers to manipu-
late their contributions in the future. These changes in the funding
rules are the most important part of our PBGC reform proposal.
Without them, we cannot ensure that employers will adequately
fund the benefit promises they make to their employees.

I will spare you a discussion of the details which can be found
in my written testimony and turn to some of the other significant
tax related items in the legislation.

In reviewing the funding rules we found that the excise tax on
nondeductible contributions was discouraging some employers from
funding their plans as quickly as they and the PBGC would like.

In response, the bill creates exemptions in the excise tax in two sit-

uations where the employer's nondeductible contributions are not
motivated by a desire to obtain excessive tax shelter.
Now I would like to discuss the rounding rules for indexing val-

ues. Many of the statutory dollar thresholds and limits used in the

qualified plan area are indexed to changes in the cost of living. The
bill would modify the indexing rules so that new values for a year
are available before the start of the year and would specify that the
index values are rounded to even multiples of $5,000 or $500 in the
case of Section 401(k) plan limits.

These proposals would simply administration by employers and
communication with employees. As you know, Mr. Chairman, a
similar rounding rule was added in this committee in last year's
budget legislation.

Finally, I would like to turn to an important nondiscrimination
issue, one that impacts on the integrity of the private pension sys-
tem. As a condition of tax-favored treatment, Section 401(A)(4) of
the Internal Revenue Code requires that retirement plans dem-
onstrate that the contributions or benefits provided under the plan
do not discriminate in favor of highly compensated employees.
This can be shown on the basis of either contributions or benefits

without regard to whether the plan is a defined contribution plan
or a defined benefit plan. The bill would generally prohibit a prac-
tice known as cross testing a qualified defined contribution plan on
the basis of benefits it is expected to provide.

Creative practitioners have developed aggressive plan designs
that provide more contributions for highly paid employees than for

everyone else and complied with the nondiscrimination rules by
cross testing. The potential for highly compensated employees re-

ceiving substantial benefits in cross tested plans has received con-
siderable press attention.
These press reports emphasize that highly paid employees can

maximize benefits for themselves while minimizing contributions
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for rank and file workers. For example, a June 1993 financial plan-

ning article is headlined "Skewed Retirement Plans Help Owners
at Workers' Expense." Then an industry trade journal shows how
cross testing can be used to reduce the allocation for rank and file

workers from 15 percent of pay to 3 percent of pay while the owner
continues to receive the maximum allocation of $30,000.
And finally, the Wall Street Journal leads its story with, "Is it

a retirement plan or a tax shelter plan?" The administration is con-

cerned that these practices reduce the share of tax subsidized re-

tirement funds that go to rank and file workers and can encourage
employers to abandon the defined benefit system, thus eroding the

PBGC premium base.

Since the administration made this proposal, we have heard fi"om

many interested groups. The purpose of our meetings with these

representatives have been to identify the types of plans that pro-
vide meaningful benefits to rank and file workers as compared to

the abuse of cases. We have received useful suggestions. We hope
that we can work with the committee in tailoring the proposal to

target the troublesome cases.

In this process, however, are guiding principle remains. The re-

cently developed abusive practices must stop. Our private pension
system was not designed to be just another tax shelter, but to en-

courage employers to provide meaningful benefits to all the employ-
ees.

In conclusion, I would like to emphasize as Secretary Reich has,
that now is the time to act while the PBGC's problems are still

manageable. Enactment of the Retirement Protection Act of 1993
will require employer sponsoring defined benefit plans to do a bet-

ter job of satisfying their commitments by adequately funding their

plans thereby reducing PBGC's potential liability.

Mr. Chairman, this completes my statement.
The Chairman. Thank you. Thank you very much. Once again,

that is very clarifying, that as with any large arrangement over

time advantages will be found and tax shelters will appear. We just
have to keep working at this enterprise. I found that very helpful.
At least I did, and I cannot claim any large experience in this field.

I can claim some experience with our next witness. Mr. Slate and
I have worked together in the past in academic settings. Mr. Slate

is, of course, the Executive Director of the Pension Benefit Guar-

anty Corporation, a position that he was given as a reward for hav-

ing served for 6 years as the Director of the ERISA Program in the

Internal Revenue Service. Anybody who does that is entitled to

some form of public recognition and minimum statement of grati-
tude.

Good morning, Mr. Slate. We welcome you, sir.

STATEMENT OF HON. MARTIN SLATE, EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR,
PENSION BENEFIT GUARANTY CORPORATION, WASHING-
TON, DC
Mr. Slate. Thank you, Senator Moynihan. I hope you do not re-

member the grade you gave me.
The Chairman. You graduated Phi Beta Kapa.
Mr. Slate. Thank you. I, too, would like to be brief Secretary

Reich and Mr. Samuels have underlined the seriousness of the



underfunding problem, the need to address it squarely and speedily
and the goals of our reforms.

This is, indeed, the time to move forward to protect pension ben-
efits. I would like to review our reforms and describe how and why
they will work. Our reforms are straightforward. They are targeted
to address clear problems. Our major reform measures will

strengthen the funding rules for underfunded plans, enhance
PBGC compliance authority, increase premiums for plans that pose
the greatest risk, and broaden participant disclosure requirements.

Fully funded plans, most plans, will not be affected by our major
reforms. Our primary reform is to strengthen the funding require-
ments for underfunded plans. In 1974 ERISA established the con-

cept that money must be put aside currently for benefit payments
due in the future.

The Chairman. That is not exactly a radical idea, is it?

Mr. Slate. No. It has been in mortgages.
Senator Bradley. It is just one that has not been observed.
The Chairman. I see. It has not been observed.
Mr. Slate. Right. Exactly. That is precisely the next sentence.

But acute underfunding persists, in part, because companies were

permitted to fund a portion of their benefit liabilities over a period
of 30 to 40 years.
Thirteen years later Congress addressed funding again. OBRA-

87 introduced an additional contribution requirement intended to

accelerate funding in underfunded plans. Still, underfunding has

grown since 1987. Companies can use credits and offsets and set

actuarial assumptions so that contributions are minimized.

Fully within the law many employers have been able to make lit-

tle or no pension contributions even though their plans are severely
underfunded. As Senator Conrad mentioned, underfunding of ongo-
ing plans has climbed to $53 billion in 1993. It was $27 billion 5

years ago. And the PBGC deficit, the cost that the government
must bear for plans that are already terminated, is $2.9 billion.

To get funding back on track we make three changes. First, we
would speed up the funding formula in severely underfunded plans.
Most new benefits would be paid for within five to 7 years.

Second, our reforms remove a loophole from the law. We end the
double counting of credits that has enabled employers to minimize
contributions.

Third, our reforms require the use of specified interest rate and
mortality assumptions to determine contribution amounts so that

again employers cannot reduce plan funding by using aggressive
actuarial assumptions. Our reforms also include a special solvency
rule to ensure that severely underfunded plans meet their benefit

obligations.
A plan would be required to meet cash equal to 3 years' worth

of benefit payments. Accelerated funding is essential if plans are
to be placed on a sound footing. We do want companies to move for-

ward with their business. The legislation contains a special transi-

tion rule to protect employers from extraordinary increases in their
annual contributions for up to 7 years.
This is especially important. The underfunding gap must be

closed, but business and work must move forward. Strengthening
funding rules should assure improvement in most cases. There are,
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however, special circumstances where PBGC needs better tools to

protect pensions.
All too often we have seen companies undertaking business

transactions that endanger pension promises. A healthy corpora-
tion might spin off a subsidiary in poor health with an under-
funded pension plan, leaving the subsidiary's plan without a source
of funding because the corporate tie is broken.
The only remedy the PBGC has in these circumstances is to ter-

minate the plan. This can be a harsh remedy because participants
are hurt and the resulting claim for plan underfunding can have
serious consequences for employers.
Our proposals would allow PBGC to apply to Federal Court for

remedies other than plan termination. For example, PBGC could
ask that a corporation selling a subsidiary continue funding the

subsidiary's plan for a period of time. Our reforms are tailored.

They would apply only when a company has a hugely underfunded

plan and that company undertakes a transaction of a substantial
nature and only when that transaction poses a risk to pensions. We
want to protect the benefits, not hobble corporate transactions.
We also propose to require companies whose plans are under-

funded by more than $50 million to provide PBGC with advance
notice of transactions that might affect underfunding.

Next, we propose to increase premiums for plans that pose the

greatest risk, by phasing out the current cap on PBGC's variable

rate premium. PBGC's annual insurance premium for plans has
two elements—a flat $19 per participant that's paid by all plans
and a variable rate charge for underfunded plans.
The variable rate charge is capped at $53 per participant. Plans

at the cap, as the Secretary said, account for 80 percent of all pen-
sion underfunding, but their premiums represent only about 25

percent of PBGC's total premium revenue. We need to put the re-

sponsibility where it belongs and change the incentives in the pre-
mium structure.

Finally, our reforms would require that timely, clear information
on plan funding and PBGC guarantees be provided annually to

participants in underfunded plans. These reforms will markedly in-

crease funding in the most underfunded plans. They will assure
that all vested benefits are funded within 15 years. They are tar-

geted in very specific ways to correct current law and make it

work. We build on the existing legal structure simply to fix what
is wrong.
The reforms are comprehensive and balance. We think we have

the fix for the problem and we think it is the right fix. Thank you.
The Chairman. Thank you, sir. Thank you for clarifying testi-

mony.
[The prepared statement of Mr. Slate appears in the appendix.]
The Chairman. I want to welcome Senator Grassley. Good morn-

ing, sir.

I have just one question. First in the interest of full disclosure

may I simply state that I find your arguments persuasive and I

think the committee ought to act. It is refreshing to have a panel
come and say you do not have to do an)d;hing this year but you will

wish you had because there is this trouble out there waiting for

you which you can avoid now.
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The ERISA system has been in place just 20 years. This would
be the second major change, I guess. There have been some

changes.
Mr. Slate. There have been changes along the way. Yes, there

have been changes. In our area, Senator, there was a major law in

1987 that sought to address this underfunding problem, but it

frankly did not work, as we pointed out. Underfunding in 1987 was
$27 billion and it has gone up to $53 billion now. So we have taken
a shot at it.

The Chairman. There will be those in the next panel, after we
have Senator Jeffords, who will claim that the increase in reported
deficits is really a matter of a change in the accounting rules.

We would like to ask you—I will ask the panel, but might I just
ask you, Mr. Slate—if you will read the testimony that follows and

maybe give the committee the benefit of your rebuttal, or you may
be persuaded.

[A subsequent submission from Mr. Slate appears in the appen-
dix.]

The Chairman. Why do you not answer that right now?
Mr. Slate. Let me just flat out say that the General Accounting

Office last month validated our deficit at $2.9 billion.

The Chairman. I see.

Mr. Slate. We used generally accepted accounting principles and
it was squarely and firmly validated by the General Accounting Of-

fice.

The Chairman. That is a pretty clear answer. I do not think I

have any more questions.
Senator Conrad?
Senator Conrad. Mr. Chairman, thank you.
Maybe I could turn first to Mr. Slate. How much of the $53 bil-

lion is in companies with below investment grade ratings or in

these financially troubled institutions that you described?
Mr. Slate. $14 billion. Of the $53 bilhon in underfunding $14

billion is in companies with below investment grade ratings. Just
for the record, sir, that would include about 1.2 million workers
who are in that kind of company.
Senator CONRAD. How much relates to troubled industries that

do not have below investment grade ratings?
Mr. Slate. $14 billion.

Senator Conrad. Earlier I saw^the number $38 billion that is re-

lated to the steel, automobile, and airline industries.

Mr. Slate. Out of the $53 billion a large amount is in four indus-

tries—steel, air, auto, tire, and machinery. Those are the industries

that are the most heavily impacted and the most heavily at risk.

Senator CONRAD. Does that represent $38 billion?

Mr. Slate. It represents about 70 or 80 percent of the $53 bil-

lion, yes.
Senator CONRAD. $38 billion. The question I would have for you

is, how much are we expecting these distressed and troubled indus-
tries to make in additional expenditures; and what is the evidence
that they can afford those additional expenditures? Is there any
question that those additional expenditures would threaten their

viability?
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Mr. Slate. Senator Conrad, this was a major concern and one of
the reasons that the Secretary appointed to his task force, not just
pension people but people with economic expertise and financial ex-

pertise and so forth. We worked very, very hard to develop rules
that were reasonable and affordable.

One of the reasons we put in the transition rule which would es-

sentially minimize or reduce the bite of the new funding rules, is

precisely because, while we think it is very important to fund pen-
sion plans, we also think it is important that people be able to con-
tinue with their business.

Senator Conrad. Is there any question that these increases
would threaten the viability of any of these firms? Secretary, do

you care to respond to that?

Secretary Reich. Senator, I do not believe that the viability of

any of these firms would be threatened by the increases in pension
contributions called for under this plan.

Again, I want to emphasize that the transition rule which really

puts a ceiling on how much they would have to pay in the range
of, I think, 3 percent for the first 4 years

Senator CONRAD. Three percent of

Secretary Reich. For the first 5 years and then 4 percent. Three
percent of what is essentially due in terms of underfunding. They
would not have to suddenly come up to full funding. It is a gradual
transition rule which enables them, over a substantial number of

years to get their house back into order.

We did this specifically with those firms in mind so that they
would not suddenly face a huge liability. But they could have
enough time to adjust to fiilly funding pension promises to their
workers.
We looked at individual firms. Again, there is no guarantee in

life, but we tried to design this very carefully to avoid burdening
any individual company in any one of those industries or for that
matter any industry.

Senator Conrad. So you are confident that the increase in pen-
sion funding obligations of these firms that are underfunded would
not threaten the viability of any of these businesses?

Secretary Reich. I am confident.
Senator Conrad. Let me ask you this. I am told that some ex-

perts say that a 1 percent reduction in interest rates increases li-

abilities 20 percent. I do not know if that is a good rule of thumb
or not. Obviously, it makes a substantial difference if you change
the interest rate assumptions. What happens to the projections of
the liability in those out years? Is that a good rule of thumb?

Secretary Reich. I think actually I would make the rule of
thumb a little bit less. Senator Conrad, probably maybe about half
that much. But let me address the basic point.
There is a chronic and persistent mass of underfunding. Yes, it

does go up and down with interest rates, but that mass is still

there. It has continued. If you hold interest rates constant it con-
tinues and there is no question that we are talking about real

money and real underfunding.
The trend is worrisome. That is, the trend regardless of interest

rates, regardless of the economic conditions, that long-term trend
is getting worse and worse.
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Senator CONRAD. We have recently had an increase in interest

rates. How would that affect the deficit number?
Mr. Slate. Well, a drop in interest rates would increase liabil-

ities. But I think our point is that even if you had held the interest

rates constant, there would not have been a significant drop. And
that until we change the law, that big mass of underfunding will

continue and we have to reverse that.

Senator CONRAD. All right. Thank you.
The Chairman. Thank you, Senator Conrad.
Senator Rockefeller?
Senator Rockefeller. Mr. Chairman, I only have one brief ques-

tion for anybody who wishes to answer it. Senator Conrad asked
about the effect of the increased payments on companies. Logically,
if you think about this really quite serious, very serious, problem,
there are not any other alternatives that I can think of I doubt
that one could get the Federal Government to substitute for those

payments. I doubt that one could get that done legislatively.
So assuming that there are increased payments and assuming

that for the most part companies can survive that, I think it makes
sense for us to look at the tire industry, and maybe the auto indus-

try, in terms of pension underfunding. On the other hand, a few

years ago the steel industry was in a great deal of difficulty.

Now we are in a better period now, Secretary Reich, as you have
indicated. So this would be a good time to strike. But you are quite
confident that the cure would not put the patient out of business.

Secretary Reich. Senator, I am as confident as one can be. Now,
again, there is no guarantee in life, there is no guarantee in busi-

ness. But we have designed this in such a way as to minimize the

burden.
Senator Rockefeller. Are you estimating ways, and methods,

and models?

Secretary Reich. Yes, we carefully estimated with a lot of actuar-

ial modeling and a lot of investigation into these individual indus-

tries and companies. We tried to develop a transition rule that was
realistic, that the companies could deal with but also at the end of

the line that would not leave either the taxpayers or workers in

these companies holding the bag.
You see, that is the fine line we are treading here. On the one

hand we have to make absolutely sure that we do nothing to jeop-
ardize these companies. That would be making
Senator Rockefeller. Because that is jeopardizing the worker.

Secretary Reich. It would be jeopardizing the workers and tax-

payers.
Senator Rockefeller. Yes.

Secretary Reich. But by the same token, we have to tighten the

rules so that all companies, not just these companies, but all com-

panies are going to be fully funding their pension plans at some

point in the future and are on the right trajectory with regard to

fully funding their pension plans so that workers and/or taxpayers
do not get left out in the cold at the end of the day.

I want to commend the task force because they put in a great
deal of time and energy. The two gentlemen sitting on either side

of me deserve a great, great deal of credit for what they have come

up with.
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They looked very, very carefully at the question of the appro-

priate burden on these companies, these industries, and I am con-

vinced that they have come up with a formula that is appropriate.
Senator Rockefeller. Do you have any examples in these major

industries, any of you, where there was ever a period of time where

companies were not putting in their share because of what they
deemed at that time or alleged at that time to be insufficient finan-

cial position?

Secretary Reich. Companies have taken holidays from funding
their pension plans for a whole variety of reasons. Some we might
deem quite legitimate, some we might deem completely illegit-

imate.
The point is that all companies that have severely underfunded

plans need to develop a strategy for bringing those plans up to full

funding. This particular piece of legislation enables them, encour-

ages them, gives them all the incentives to do so.

Again, I want to emphasize. Senator, that we are all concerned,

obviously, to ensure that companies are not overly burdened by any
kind of a requirement like this. When the transition rules were de-

veloped, when this legislation was developed, there was extensive

modeling of actual company data, using actual plan and company
data in some of the companies with the most severely underfunded

plans.
Now I want to add the obvious. That is that the economy is now

in recovery. The modeling that was done did not assume a recov-

ery. I want to state this for the record as clearly as I can. Years
from now we do not want to be in the position of looking back and

saying we should have done this because the PBGC is now over-

whelmed, the public is left with a great liability.

Senator ROCKEFELLER. One more defining question or defini-

tional question. You mentioned that some companies have taken a

holiday and some for causes that were reasonable, some for causes

which were not—you did not use the word unreasonable, but you
used a similar word.

In this proposal, would there be a differentiation between compa-
nies who took a holiday for really a very unsubstantial reason and
those who took a holiday for a substantial reason? In other words,
do you differentiate between those two types or do you just treat

everybody the same?
Mr. Slate. I do not think that we look back and try to see who

did what. I think our purpose is to try to get everybody to catch

up. The companies are treated on the basis of their level of

fundedness. If you are 40 percent funded you have to move a little

faster than if you are 70 or 80 percent funded. But I think what
our law would do is require companies to make the appropriate
contributions, not put them in just in the case of the contribution

holiday.
And, ft-ankly. Senator Rockefeller, we worked very, very hard to

make these provisions affordable. I do not know that afibrdability
is the issue. I think that the issue is that we want to make sure

that companies do not have the option to avoid paying for benefits

that they have promised.
Senator Rockefeller. I agree and I thank the Chairman.
The Chairman. Thank you. Senator Rockefeller.
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Senator Bradley?
Senator Bradley. Thank you very much, Mr. Chairman.
I would simply like to applaud the panel's work and in particular

the last statement by Mr. Slate. This issue has an ominous ring to

it. There are distant echos of S&L crises here. We are not at that

point. But the combination of moral hazard and adverse selection

creates a dangerous combination where the Federal Government
has the responsibility of guaranteeing pensions and where compa-
nies can opt out of the system, leaving a smaller and smaller

group, paying higher and high premiums to pay for a larger and

larger pool of pension liabilities that have been dumped on the Fed-

eral Government.
So I think that Mr. Slate's last comment as well as the testimony

of the Secretary and Mr. Samuels is right on target. My questions

really go to whether this is really enough.
When you look at the GAO analysis, you find that over 50 per-

cent of the underfunded plans will not be required to pay addi-

tional amounts under the new funding rules. My question to you
is, if we adopt your proposal, would you think this was the final

solution. Do you think that we will have solved the problem here

or are we not taking the strong medicine now because we hope that

things will go away, but they will not go away and we will be back
here in a couple of years asking for another change?
The experience of the S&L crisis is relevant. Strong action early

would have averted massive exposure later. If we are at a similar

position, I hope that we are not going to have a duplication of that

unwillingness to be bold.

Mr. Slate. I am glad that you asked that question. We did look

at actual plans and actual data and we built on existing law. We
have made our reform strong, but targeted at underfunded plans.
With respect to the GAO information, we looked at the under-

funded plans that the new law does not pick up. And almost invari-

ably those plans are making substantial progress. They are using
reasonable actuarial assumptions and by and large their work
forces are younger and there is time for them to move ahead. We
wanted to cast our net firmly but we did not want to cast it any
more broadly than we had to.

Senator Bradley. So the answer is?

Mr. Slate. The answer is, we think we are on target and we
think that we will correct the situation and God willing we will not

be back here asking you for more help.
Senator Bradley. And the GAO report though talks about what

they call hidden liabilities involved in pension plans whose spon-
sors are financially troubled. What are the hidden liabilities here?
Mr. Slate. Let me address that. That is a separate issue. Their

first issue is whether our funding rules are appropriate targeted.
I believe they are. The GAO is concerned, as are we, that as you
get closer to termination, liabilities tend to increase.

As an example, part of a work force may be laid off and they
would be able to take early retirement. Another example is, as you
get closer to termination an employer may not be able to put as

much money into the plan as he anticipated. Our funding rules

work very, very hard to try to anticipate that kind of situation.
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We work very hard to try to anticipate the spiral that you get
into when you are down at the end. But that is a fact of life in a

poorly funded plan with a poor company.
Senator Bradley. So the more early retirements the greater the

hidden liability?
Mr. Slate. That is a possibility.
Senator Bradley. And what other, other than early retirements,

would fit into this category?
Mr. Slate. Basically it is early retirement, layoffs, severance

benefits and that kind of thing.
Senator Bradley. Become liabilities on top of the pension?
Mr. Slate. Well, presumably, hopefully, we put it all in the mix

and try to anticipate it.

Senator Bradley. As best you can?
Mr. Slate. As best you can, right.
Senator Bradley. So as a rule of thumb, that is a bit of informa-

tion here. Now they have set up a program to try to deal with the

problem of pensions on the one hand. On the other hand, to the ex-

tent you produce a policy that leads to earlier retirements, there

is a tension there between the two.

The Chairman. Yes.

Senator Bradley. I thought I heard someone start to talk. If not,
I will move on to the next question.

Secretary Reich. I was just going to say. Senator, that this policy
that we are proposing and the plan represents a careful balancing
act. We do not want to burden companies that have fully funded

plans. We do not want to unnecessarily burden companies even if

their plans are underfunded, in terms ofjeopardizing them.
We do not think that we are, on the basis of the actuarial re-

views we have done and also the company data we have used, en-

couraging any kind of adverse selection process. We are certainly

cutting way back or way down on any moral hazard here.

Because we are adjusting the premiums, speeding the funding
and we are requiring full disclosure, we are making a lot of adjust-
ments that reduce or eliminate any moral hazard. You referred to

the savings and loan crisis; obviously, that is on everybody's mind.
We are not there yet by any stretch of the imagination. Could we

be there if we do nothing, given that the government is the guaran-
tor? I cannot guarantee you that if we do nothing right now, if the

Congress fails to act, that we will not be somewhere down the line

in a savings and loan crisis.

Senator BRADLEY. But if we take these steps, we will go a long
way to averting that.

Secretary Reich. If we take these steps we will go a very long
way to averting this.

Senator Bradley. Now, these steps are not going to be univer-

sally supported by everybody. Mr. Samuels, therefore I would like

to kind of open up a little bit the point you made about cross tested

plans because this is a level of esotery that is sometimes missed.

But just to bring it alive here, or try to, for any nonexpert who
is listening, you basically had your staff prepare an example where

you had two employees, one 55 years old earning $150,000 a year
and one 25 years old earning $20,000 a year. And under a tradi-
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tional defined contribution plan, employers contribute the same

percentage of compensation as all employees.
In this case it would be $4,500 for the $150,000 person and $600

for the younger person. Now, under a cross tested plan you point
out the employer could provide a $30,000 benefit for the older

worker and still only provide a $600 benefit for the younger work-
er.

Now, it is my understanding that what you have recommended
will prevent this from happening. Is that correct?

Secretary Samuels. That is correct, Senator Bradley. It is those

type of abusive cases that we are concerned about. Those are the

type of cases that are the subject of these press clippings that are

attached to my testimony, that people are going out and promoting
these as tax shelters and we think that while it is an esoteric area,
it is a very important one with respect to the integrity of the pen-
sion system.
Senator Bradley. How close to the traditional defined contribu-

tion plan will you reach?

Secretary SAMUELS. Senator, that is a question that we have had
a lot of people come in to talk to us about. We are willing to have
discussions about exactly how to draw the lines. We think there are

some plans that come very close to meeting the traditional rules,

but might have failed under our proposal and we are willing to dis-

cuss with the committee and its staff ideas to modify the proposals
to make sure that we are really just touching the abusive cases.

Senator Bradley. Mr. Chairman?
The Chairman. Yes, sir.

Senator Bradley. Could I ask one more question?
The Chairman. Would you, please.
Senator Bradley. All right. The area of the provision of new ben-

efits, you have a plan, the plan is in trouble, and yet your negotia-
tions go on and new benefits are added to a plan that is already
in trouble.

Under your proposal you have basically limited the provision of

new benefits if the company is in bankruptcy. If it is in bank-

ruptcy, you cannot then provide new benefits without collateral. My
question to you is: Should it be broader than that? Do you consider

even tougher measures? Why did you stop only with plans in bank-

ruptcy? What should we be looking at in this regard?
Because it seems to me that on top of a weak plan that is under-

funded not yet in bankruptcy but teetering on the brink and then
sizable new benefits are agreed to with the ultimate result being
it pushes it into bankruptcy and the taxpayer ends up having to

pay the sizeable new benefits that were agreed to by the two par-
ties that in the end will just simply pass it on to the Federal Gov-
ernment and the taxpayer, that maybe you should have gone a lit-

tle bit more than simply the issue of bankruptcy.
Secretary Reich. Senator, we are in this proposal requiring that

if companies that have underfunded plans offer any additional ben-

efits, they bring those additional benefits up to full funding within
five to 7 years.
Now some people might say, and I think you were asking the

question, why draw the line there, why allow any additional bene-

fits. I think the real issue here is fairness. Fairness to working
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Americans, fairness to blue collar Americans. Managers generally
have benefit increases built into their plans. Most wage earners,
most blue collar workers, do not. Blue collar workers have to have
their plans specifically amended to get any kind of an increase at

all.

We felt again that in the careful balancing and weighing that we
are doing, we do not want to prevent companies who have

underfunding from providing any additional benefits at all to their

blue collar workers, but again we want to crack the whip. We are

saying, if you are going to do it, you have to be on a very acceler-

ated schedule for fully funding those additional benefits.

Senator Bradley. I think that is a clear answer and I thank you
very much.
The Chairman. We thank you, sir, for raising the parallel, pos-

sible parallel, of the savings and loan debacle.

I do not know whether anybody came forward and told the Con-

gress, you know, this is coming unless you do thus and so. But we
know it came and we have had this testimony, an equivalent situa-

tion. It also concerns the greater issue of savings, does it not, that

your subcommittee will examine later this week?
Senator Bradley. Yes.

The Chairman. This is a form of capital formation. I am correct

in that, am I not? If you put it aside you invest it. Senator Bradley
is Chairman of the Subcommittee on—if you would hke to have a

set of problems—Deficits, Debt Management and Long-Term Eco-

nomic Growth. He is going to take care of all those things on Fri-

day.
Senator Bradley. Between 10:00 and 11:45.

The Chairman. Senator Grassley?
Senator Grassley. Mr. Chairman, before I ask questions on this

very important question or issue you have before the committee,
could I make for 45 seconds a point on the nomination because I

cannot be here?

The Chairman. Surely. Of course.

Senator Grassley. First of all, I have no objection to these nomi-

nations being reported out. But I do have some written questions
for Ms. Lau.
The Chairman. Of course.

Senator Grassley. I would expect responses before Senate con-

firmation comes up on the floor.

The Chairman. Done.

[See "Nomination of Valerie Lau," S. Hrg. 103-646.]
Senator GRASSLEY. More importantly, I do have a problem with

Mr. Noble's nomination. I am not going to object to our committee

working as I said. But during Mr. Noble's last confirmation I had
a commitment from him to meet and work with me on carrying out

Congressional intent regarding Treasury's report on terrorists as-

sets. To my knowledge, there has not been any attempt whatsoever

to fix this problem. So clearly I think a promotion is premature at

best.

Hopefully more cooperation will be more forthcoming and hope-

fully more cooperation will be forthcoming before they expect the

nomination to get through the Senate.
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The Chairman. I predict that Mr. Noble will be calling on you.

[Laughter.]
The Chairman. Fearless forecasts.

Senator Grassley. However the system works. I am not sure I

know.
[See "Nomination of Ronald K. Noble, Frank N. Newman, LesHe

B. Samuels, and Jack R. DeVore, Jr.," S. Hrg. 103-145.]

Senator Grassley. Now, I do not know I can do any better than

Senator Conrad and Senator Rockefeller did on a couple questions
I want to ask. Before I ask a couple questions though I would just

simply say as a matter of reaction to some points that have been

made by the three of you on the panel, obviously it is probably cor-

rect for you to say that there is fine tuning of the present law in

your suggestions. I do not argue with that characterization.

But I think it would be misleading to use the term fine tuning
without realizing that there is a tremendous—let me put it in

terms of billions of dollars of impact upon industry and business

and should not—even the slightest changes might make billions of

dollars of difference.

We have a problem here that we have to work with and I can

appreciate that. But I hope that we are cognizant of that as well

as you use the terms fine tuning.
I suppose I should start first with IVlr. Slate. This is in regard

to the interest rate question that has previously come up, I think,

by Senator Conrad. At least one of the witnesses on our third panel
makes a criticism about the policy that is used to compute their

pension liability in relationship to interest rates.

As I understand it, this witness says that the assumptions re-

quired by the law are much too conservative. They say that pension

plans typically can earn better rates of return than the bill says

they should assume and that this thus causes them to overstate

their pension liability.

I would like a response to that specifically. Are the assumptions
that would be required by the bill too conservative and, if so, why
are they? Why have you decided to make them that way?
Mr. Slate. I think the assumptions, Senator, are appropriate.

We are simply asking employers to fund pension plans so that peo-

ple will not lose their benefits if their plans terminate. History has

shown that companies will take advantage of the flexibility in the

law and reduce contributions by using aggressive interest rates.

We are asking them to use Treasury interest rates and they will

get plans funded to pay benefits. These are interest rates that are

used by insurance companies and it is roughly comparable to the

interest rates used by the Securities and Exchange Commission.
We want to get benefits funded to protect them.

Senator GRASSLEY. You are saying that they are not too conserv-

ative then. What about the point that the Federal Accounting
Standards Board only requires the use of a corporate bond rate for

corporate financial statements? Why should the standards for pen-
sion plans be more conservative than that?

Mr. Slate. I am not sure I necessarily follow that. We are using
the same interest rates that the Securities and Exchange Commis-
sion is currently requiring. We have to make sure people do not
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lose benefits. That is what insurance companies do. That is what
the Securities and Exchange Commission does.

Senator Grassley. I will have to check that out. It was my un-

derstanding that it was not the same and the Federal Accounting
Standards Board was somewhat different. If I am right and you are

wrong, I will get back to you and ask for something in writing.
Mr. Slate. Sure.

Senator GRASSLEY. Also for you, one of the other aspects of the

bill criticized by some is, as I understand it, the requirement that

the uniform mortality assumptions be made by all companies. The

argument is made that the mortality experience of the companies
can differ considerably. Consequently, there should be some vari-

ation in that and you do not allow that.

Mr. Slate. Well, again, yes, we want to get pensions funded so

that people do not lose their benefits. The task force, if there was
one thing we found, was that companies have too much flexibility

to reduce funding by the use of actuarial assumptions.
We need to take the wiggle room out of the laws as the Secretary

has said, and see that plans have enough money to pay their bene-

fits if they terminate. The provision we are proposing, GAM 83, is

the nationally recognized standard to determine termination liabil-

ity to get pensions funded. It is used by States. It is used by insur-

ance companies. And we need a uniform standard to make sure

that companies fund pensions.
If I could go on a second, history has shown that companies will

take advantage of the situation if assumptions are not standard-

ized. A couple of examples. Senator Conrad talked about the airline

industry. We have one company in bankruptcy with $86 million in

pension underfunding. Over the last 3 years they have paid only

$2 or $3 million a year into their plan. A major reason has been
the use of aggressive mortality assumptions to reduce contribu-

tions.

That particular company is using a 1965 mortality table for a

major part of its work force. 1965 was a long time ago.
He mentioned the auto industry. We have one automobile com-

pany that is using a mortality table that is pretty comparable to

ours. There is another one right across the street that is using a

table that assumes that twice as many people die each year. Those

are two good examples.
The Chairman. That was before seatbelts. [Laughter.]
Mr. Slate. Right, exactly. And those are two good examples of

why we need to require companies to use assumptions that will as-

sure that benefits are paid.
Senator Grassley. I am done asking questions. Just a comment

to clarify. I know there is something that has to be done in this

area and that they must be sound. I just want to make sure that

we do it in a way that does not have a one-size-fits-all approach
and leads to a point where we are taking too much money out of

the private sector for operation.
Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
The Chairman. Thank you. Senator. I think we completely agree

on that.

Senator Packwood?
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Senator Packwood. I have just one question of Mr. Slate. On the

underfunded companies, the really badly underfunded ones, you
want to increase their rate of contributions to their plans and then
have them pay a higher premium to you. Why not just have them
put all of the money into their underfunded plan?
Mr. Slate. The focus and thrust of our bill is on increased fund-

ing. That is where the major impact will be. We do feel that these

companies have not been paying their fair share in premiums. We
mentioned that plans that carry 80 percent of the underfunding are

paying only 25 percent of the premium. We need to put the respon-

sibility where it belongs. We want to put the incentive where it be-

longs.
In the end, we are simply asking people to pay $1 in premiums

for every $100 in underfunding. And as underfunding goes down,
and hopefully it will, the amount of premiums will go down.
Senator Packwood. But the reason for your premium is make up

for their lack of less than their payment in the past?
Mr. Slate. To make up for the lack of less than fair payment,

to get them to pay their fair share now, and to create an incentive

for them to fund.

Senator Packwood. Thank you, Mr. Chairman. That is all the

questions I have.
The Chairman. Thank you.
Could I just make one comment? Senator Grassley, you can make

the point that whatever is put aside for pensions does not leave the

private sector. It is simply invested in other securities.

Senator Grassley. I know that. But it would be out of—in the

sense to which there is an obligation, real or not real, and you go
and it were not real, then that would take money out of the operat-

ing.
The Chairman. That is right.
Senator Grassley. That does not really take it out of the private

sector, I know. But it does, in a sense, curtail the leeway of the cor-

porate board to use it.

The Chairman. Precisely. But I note, I would like to ask just one
last question. Perhaps Mr. Reich could give the answer. In the Wall
Street Journal, September a year ago, it simply says, "By next year
more than half of the 200 largest corporate pension funds could be
underfunded according to a recent study by J. P. Morgan & Compa-
ny's Asset Management Group." But this is no longer a problem of

particular sectors that get into troubles that have nothing to do
with their pension arrangement, but these are corporate decisions

of some kind.

Secretary Reich. Yes. I think that needs to be emphasized, Mr.
Chairman. Undoubtedly there are some troubled sectors histori-

cally. But what we are seeing increasingly is that as a matter of

company strategy companies are abrogating their responsibilities,

underfunding their pension plans, and potentially leaving workers
and premium payers holding the bag. This must stop.
The Chairman. I put it to you that we have been given fair

warning. I deeply appreciate the panel. I deeply appreciate the
work you are doing. You will be hearing from us presently, just as

soon as we have done health care reform, welfare reform, Uruguay
Round and tax simplification. [Laughter.]
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The Chairman. Thank you very much. It is a great honor to have
you here.

Now we are going to hear from our colleague who has been pa-
tiently waiting. Senator Jeffords from Vermont has some legisla-
tion in this field. We are pleased to have him here and to speak
to the particular bill that you have. You have a statement, of

course, which we will place in the record and you proceed exactly
as you wish, sir. You are very welcome.

[The prepared statement of Senator Jeffords appears in the ap-

pendix.]

STATEMENT OF HON. JAMES M. JEFFORDS, A U.S. SENATOR
FROM VERMONT

Senator JEFFORDS. Thank you, Mr. Chairman. In addition to

what I have introduced, a bill which I will talk to, I think we have
some additional information that I want to share with you, which
will shed some light on some of the problems that we are dealing
with with respect to the PBGC.
The Chairman. Could I just make the note that Senator Duren-

berger who has just arrived, I believe is a co-sponsor.
Senator Jeffords. He certainly is. I am proud that he is a co-

sponsor. It is a pleasure to be before you, Mr. Chairman. I have
sat with great interest and listened to the panel before me and to

their answers. I know that this is a difficult subject. I am a little

concerned at your comments as to when this would be taken up.
I know it was done with some mirth.

But this is a critical issue. I think the last time we got serious

about it was 1987. So I hope that we will give it some urgent con-

sideration. I know you will.

The Chairman. May I just here right now say that was purposes
of levity after a fairly heavy discussion.

Senator JEFFORDS. I expected it was and I knew you wanted to

clear that up.
I do not need to remind you that, of course, the Social Security

system was not considered to be a pension plan but rather one to

be supplemented by savings and private pensions. But I think what
I would like to show you is a dramatic and disturbing connection
between what is happening in health care and retirement income

security.
There is some debate as to the urgency of the task of health care

reform. But some people in my own State and across the country
feel satisfied with the status quo and are nervous about health care
reform. Mr. Chairman, the problems in our health care system af-

fect almost everything in our economy. Pensions are no exception.
I would like to take a look at the graphs that I have brought

with me. I have been very concerned about the trend many employ-
ers have taken in either underfrinding pension plans or terminat-

ing them completely. My theory has been that employers are

spending so much money on providing health care benefits there is

not enough money in the coffers to provide for their employees re-

tirement income.

Thus, many employers are making benefit promises they can
never keep, knowing that the Federal Government will save the

day with respect to that. But if you take a look at the startling
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demonstration here, what has happened—on the left is private em-

ployer spending. And as you will see in 1965, these are in constant

1991 dollars, in 1965 there was more being spent on health care.

In 1975 it was about even. In 1985 and starting about 1981 there

was a dramatic shift, such that health care expenditures go way up
and pension expenditures come way down.
The Chairman. Actually come down, yes.
Senator JEFFORDS. But if you look how we took care of ourselves

and the States took care of their employees as far as the public sec-

tor, though we have kept our pensions up and improved them, and
also was able to suffer the increased health care cost. But I just

bring that up because these figures came from the Employee Bene-

fit Research Institute to alert us to the pressures that these busi-

nesses are having in trying to keep up v^th their pension benefits.

So, if we do not get the health care costs under control, we are

just not going to be able to get these things like pensions up and
funded. And, of course, during that period of time, life expectancy
increased, which is going to put a further drain on the pension

plans. It is up about 6 years, five or 6 years, since 1965 to this

year.
So as we look towards the future I think it indicates very strong-

ly that we must be very careful what we're doing on the pension
side. Because I think that we want to make sure that in solving
the health care problem we do not rob the pension bank or else we
are going to end up with lots of old healthy people living in one-

room shacks. That is what is going to happen here.

Now on to the issue of the underfunded pensions. You have

heard some excellent testimony on this. I will not go over a lot. But
I would point out that the one big difference

The Chairman. Please your time, sir.

Senator Jeffords. All right, sir. I would be happy to do that.

Today the PBGC guarantees over $53 bilhon in unfunded pen-
sion promises made by single employer pension plans. This un-

funded liability, the PBGC estimates that over $13 billion will very

likely be a real liability to the agency. The PBGC's current deficit

at $2.9 billion in its single employer program is a dramatic in-

crease over just a few years ago and the slowed down growth is no-

where in sight.
As you are aware, the problem is not new. Since before 1987 this

committee and other committees dealing with pension issues have
been aware of the fact that big companies in troubled times are

able to take advantage of the Federal Government's defined benefit

pension guarantee system. They promise big pensions to their

workers, continually increasing benefits, while at the same time

making the most minimal funding contributions permitted under
the law.

These troubled companies eventually terminate their pension

plans and shift the cost of their pension debt to the PBGC, renege
on promises made to the workers and drive up the cost of those re-

maining in the system, often including their creditors and competi-
tors.

Although we addressed this problem in 1987, unfortunately we
did not go far enough. Here we are again in 1994 looking at the

looming PBGC deficit. Companies and unions continue to use the
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PBGC, not just as an insurer of last resort, but rather as a silent

partner with deep pockets during contract negotiations for wages
and benefits.

In the previous Congress Senator Durenberger and I introduced

legislation that would make sure that companies that had under-
funded pension plans would be held accountable for providing their

workers the benefits that they promised. Workers need to be as-

sured that employers' promises of increased pension benefits are
more than a mere illusion.

Workers need to know that employers will be held accountable
for the promises they make. An employer should only promise what
it can afford.

Congress Jake Pickle, Chairman of the House Subcommittee on

Oversight of the Ways and Means Committee also introduced a

companion bill in the House. This Congress Senator Nancy
Kassenbaum has joined Senator Durenberger and me.

I would like to take a moment to commend Secretary Reich and
the other representatives of the Clinton Administration here today
for their commitment in addressing the financial crisis. Although
there are differences in the bills, they are predominantly in the

way to get to our ultimate goal
—

getting underfunded pension plans
funded.
As in health care reform, if we work on a bi-partisan basis we

can solve this problem this year. Indeed,this is a much simpler
task, as the issues are more limited and consensus more easily ob-

tained.

The Pension Funding Improvement Act of 1993 is a three part
bill. Part I of the bill includes stronger funding rules for under-
funded pension plans to ensure faster funding of present under-
funded obligations. That is very similar to the administration's bill.

The Chairman. It is very similar.

Senator Jeffords. Yes. Part II prevents a bad situation from

getting worse, by requiring underfunded plan sponsors to imme-
diately fund up their plan or put up collateral in order to increase

pension benefits. It is what I would call the first rule of holes. If

you are in a deep hole and you are having trouble getting out, the
first thing you do is stop digging.

Part III of the bill includes a Congressional Budget Office and
PBGC study of what premium increases would be necessary to bal-

ance the PBGC's accounts. Over the past 2 years the PBGC, the
General Accounting Office and the Congressional Budget Office

have all testified about the sorry state of our termination insurance

program.
They also have stated that the problem will only get worse and

at some point in time require Congressional bailout if changes in

the law are not made. We can no longer wait to change the law.

There is no excuse for allowing a small number of plans to continue
to abuse our current system for their own advantage while placing
workers, retirees and other responsible plan sponsors and tax-

payers at risk.

Therefore, I respectfully ask this committee to act now. Let us
work on a bi-partisan basis and iron out our differences to change
the law. The future of the defined benefit plan system depends on
what we do.
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Mr. Chairman, I am pleased to be here and I know that you are

going to give this urgent attention and I deeply appreciate that. I

also deeply appreciate the support of my good friend, Senator

Durenberger, in this case as well as Senator Kassebaum.
[The prepared statement of Senator Jeffords appears in the ap-

pendix.]
The Chairman. We thank you, sir, for being here, being ahead

of us all in this regard. You heard. Senator Durenberger, having
just arrived would not have heard Senator Bradley say we have the

makings of a savings and loan crisis on our hands here. We can
act now when it is doable or we can wait until it is ruining us.

I found myself very much persuaded by the task force. I gather
your legislation is compatible with the recommendations of the ad-

ministrations.

Senator JEFFORDS. Yes, it is. The only difference is that we say—
and it gets into a problem which Senator Bradley I believe brought
out—and that is, if you are getting worse and worse and even look-

ing towards a bankruptcy possibility, the thing to do is you keep
promising more and more and more knowing that you can keep ev-

erybody somewhat happy by the fact that the PBGC will be there

if you do go bankrupt to pick up the tab. They say five to 7 years;
we say now.
The Chairman. Right. That is Jeffords first law about what to

do when you are in a hole.

Senator Jeffords. Right, stop digging.
The Chairman. Stop digging.
Senator Packwood?
Senator Packwood. No questions, Mr. Chairman.
The Chairman. Senator Durenberger, would you want to speak

to this?

Senator Durenberger. Yes, Mr. Chairman, if I may. If I may
begin by saying the one thing that I am looking forward to most
in my next life is not having decisions about how I use my time
dictated by other people. My staff tells me my exact movements

starting at 7:30 each morning or whatever the case may be until

I am finally relieved of duty sometime after an event which began
at 7:30 pm.

Unfortunately, this morning some unknown person did not put
this hearing on my schedule or I would have been here earlier. I

wanted to say two things. One to you, Mr. Chairman, and to my
Ranking Member, you are probably the only two people who have
the capacity to take on this subject in the context of health care

reform, welfare reform, and everything else that you have to do

and not be overwhelmed by it. Because the dollar consequences are

in the trillions, to say nothing of the politics which you have al-

ready alluded to in terms of the S&L's.

Second, to say that in every institution like ours there is always
somebody who has the vision to be able to see these things coming
because they have been fortunate or unfortunate enough to have

accepted an assignment on a committee or been assigned to a sub-

committee where you get stuck with something as arcane as the

PBGC.
And over on the House side it is Jake Pickle and over here it is

Jim Jeffords. This is arcane. I joined with Jim last year not only
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because I could perceive it as a problem, but because of my enor-
mous respect for his ability to take on an incredibly difficult subject
and stick with it until it has been resolved.
So I am just glad that somebody—I think it was Senator Kasse-

baum at the beginning of a mark-up over in the Labor Committee,
which you have to be at—and I should stop talking so we can both
go—said Jim will not be here until he finishes at the Finance Com-
mittee and I turned to the person next to me and said, "What is

he doing at the Finance Committee?" That is how I got here.

[Laughter.]
The second point, besides saying hello to David Gustenson over

there from PBGC who was in on the ground work of insurance re-

form and all of the stuff we keep sa3dng we are going to do, the

easy stuff in health care reform, but on loan from PBGC, helped
me design the original. I need to reinforce what Jim said about not

robbing the pension bank to solve the health security problem.
It is absolutely, absolutely critical. Last week the Labor and

Human Resources Committee of which we are both members guar-
anteed that if their bill is passed and all their reform is done that
health care expenditures in this country 10 years from now by the
American people will be a minimum of 19 percent of our GDP.

I have to tell you, Mr. Chairman, looking at these charts, that
is a guarantee that we are going to continue to keep robbing the

pension bank, the retirement bank and a whole lot of other things.
I know Paul Ellwood was in here once on this. If we do nothing
it goes to 20 percent; if we do the Clinton-Kennedy bill it goes to

19 percent. And he said, well, it will never go to 20 percent.
He is right. If we do not do anything, out there a lot of voluntary

activity who will not ever let it get to 20 percent. But if we do what
was proposed by the Labor Committee last week where you have
universal coverage, mandated employer payments, you have price
controls in the form of premiums, you have all these little HCFAs
masquerading as health alliances and so forth, I can guarantee you
we will be at 19 percent and I can guarantee you, Mr. Chairman,
that we will break somebody else's bank in order to do it.

That is the really critical point that I wanted to make to substan-
tiate Jim's testimony today. That it is so important that when we
do health reform we do it right and we look at the issue I raised

yesterday in that back room when we were debating triggers and
we were debating a triggering event which is a percentage of unin-
sured in America that at some point in time triggers a mandate.
So I said to my colleagues, before we try to define what we do

in the event that a certain percentage of our fellow Americans are

uninsured, why do we not define what we mean by insured. We
have not done that. We have not defined universal coverage.
The Chairman. I have to report that the meeting concluded on

that note.

Senator DURENBERGER. Right. But that becomes so critical. Be-
cause as Jim is pointing out to us here today, the universal cov-

erage on the insured side is not a health issue. It is an income se-

curity issue. And in that regard, it is the same issue that he is pre-
senting to us today. How do we subsidize by income, age, disability,
whatever it is, access for every American for a private health plan?
And how do we combine the resources that are committed to pen-
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sions, to earnings, to savings, and to subsidize health plans in

order to get that done?
It seems to me that is what the Labor Committee has been miss-

ing and that is also the challenge that is presented by our col-

league from Vermont to this committee.
Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
The Chairman. Well, we thank you, sir. We are particularly

grateful to Senator Jeffords for this chart because among other

things those red bars represent consumption. The blue bars rep-
resent savings.
Senator Jeffords. Right.
The Chairman. Do we have a savings problem? We surely do. If

there is one rule, other than Jeffords' first law about what to do
when you are in a hole, is that you never change just one thing.
I think we have to pay very great attention to that.

We thank you very much. You are wanted in the Committee on
Labor and Human Resources. It is very generous of you to come

today, sir.

Senator JEFFORDS. Thank you. It is a pleasure to be here, Mr.
Chairman.
The Chairman. We look forward to—Senator Packwood and I

were just saying, we think we can legislate this year on this mat-
ter.

Senator Jeffords. That is very reassuring. Thank you, Mr.
Chairman.
The Chairman. And now we have a panel from the affected, in-

terested corporations and trade unions and trade associations. I see

Mr. Hank Barnette coming up, our first witness, who will be—you
are first, why do we not put you in the middle. Good.
The panel consists of Curtis H. Barnette, who is chairman of

Bethlehem Steel who appears on behalf of the Pension Issues Coa-

lition; Mr. David Hirschland, who is assistant director of the Social

Security Department of the United Automobile Workers of Amer-
ica; Mr. Chester Labedz, Jr., who is vice president of Human Re-
sources for the Textron Defense Systems and is Chairman of the

Title IV Task Force to the ERISA Industry Committee; Mr. Robert

Spira—do I have that right, sir?

Mr. Spira. That is correct.

The Chairman. Who is director of government relations and sen-

ior corporate counsel to the Leaseway Transportation Corporation
on behalf of the Multiemployer Pension Plan Solvency Coalition;
and finally, Ms. Calimadfde is not here. If she gets here, we will

put her on.

In any event, here you are and very welcome indeed. We will put
all statements in the record. Please proceed. We will have a prob-
lem of being in session too long after the Senate has gone into ses-

sion, but we are very happy to hear you and we are going to give

you all the time you want.
Mr. Barnette.
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STATEMENT OF CURTIS H. BARNETTE, CHAIRMAN, BETH-
LEHEM STEEL CORPORATION, BETHLEHEM, PA, ON BEHALF
OF THE PENSION ISSUES COALITION

Mr. Barnette. Mr. Chairman, good morning. Senator Packwood,
good morning. It is a special privilege to appear before you again.
The Chairman. Yes, you are getting to be a regular here.

Mr. Barnette. I apologize, Senator, but trade, health care and

pensions are interrelated and they deal with the very competitive-
ness of American industry. That is why we appreciate this privilege
to discuss pensions with you this morning.
The Coalition consists of eight companies, including Alcoa, Wes-

tinghouse, Chrysler, Ford, General Motors, Northwest, Armco and
Bethlehem Steel.

Last year the Coalition paid PBGC $105 million in premiums.
That is about 12 percent of the PBGC total. We sponsor pension
plans covering nearly 2 million workers and retirees and we back
that with about $90 billion in assets.

We fully support the administration's goal of having a financially
sound pension insurance program and we especially commend Sec-

retary Reich, Executive Director Slate, Assistant Secretary Sam-
uels, and their staffs. They worked long and hard. We appreciate
their leadership on the legislation they have submitted to you.

Many members of our Coalition, my company included, have
been supportive of many of the administration's reforms, especially
health care. And we think certain provisions of the administration's

bill, including the proposal to eliminate tax penalties for funding
pension plans such as the excise tax on contributions and the pro-

posal to establish a solvency rule to make sure pension plans do
not run out of cash, make sense.

Other provisions, however, we think under close examination
could be contrary to the interests of our employees and our work-
ers. If I may just briefly comment on several of those.

First, the administration's proposal would require our Coalition

and companies generally to fund pensions to a level that is simply
above the level necessary to pay all promised benefits. This is be-

cause of the mortality and the interest rates that would be speci-
fied here are simply wrong as applied to our group.

Companies are required to reach this new level of funding very
rapidly with increases that apply retroactively to already estab-

lished benefits. In cyclical industries we need pension funding rules

that allow us to weather high points and cyclical downturns. Weak-
er companies mean fewer jobs and weaker companies mean greater
risks to the PBGC.

Second, the legislation proposes a premium increase. We respect-

fully suggest there is no need for that increase. PBGC now collects

$1 billion each year in premiums. About a third of that is used to

pay benefits. The reason for the proposed increase is to make the
bill revenue neutral, to offset increased tax deductions from higher
pension funding.

I guess the logic of that escapes us because if the bill itself is to

reduce the risk, it would seem that less premium revenue, not

more, would be required.
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And third, a very general concern is with the broad and sweeping
oversight provisions and powers that would be given to the Agency
here.

We would suggest while some have argued that a crisis is at

hand that there is no such crisis, that the financial condition of

PBGC is not deteriorating, and that it will not become the next
S&L crisis.

In fact, comparing apples to apples the deficit is simply not in-

creasing. Since the 1980's the total reported deficit has grown from
$1.5 to $2.9 billion. In 1989, however, the PBGC began to count

"probable" terminations as part of its deficit, probable terminations
that it believes might happen sometime in the future. Because of

that and other changes of accounting methods, it really appears to

be worse off. In fact, the deficit for actual terminations decreased

during this period.
The trend in the funding level of pension plans should also be

examined. Here pension plan underfunding is reported nearly dou-
ble the past 6 years to some $53 billion. What is not reported is

that while liabilities grew assets also grew. The result is that the

funding ratios, the plan funding ratios, have basically stayed con-

stant. There was no alarming deterioration and funding levels. The
dollar amount of underfunding grew because the PBGC used a

lower interest rate to estimate liabilities.

Recent interest rate increases, which we are also familiar with,

therefore, will drive down this underfunding. It is difficult here to

understand why action must be taken now to address underfunding
that is a result at least in large part as a result of past decreases
in interest rates which have now begun to increase.

Let me just close, Mr. Chairman, by saying this. There have been

significant changes in accounting and other reforms that encourage
sound pension funding. Members of this Coalition are taking ex-

traordinary steps to fund their pensions. Chrysler has contributed
more than $3.8 billion above the legal minimums to fund its plan.
General Motors has recently announced a plan to contribute some
$10 billion. Bethlehem Steel in the last 2 years has contributed

$632 million to our plan. Westinghouse has announced a plan to

contribute $200 million. This Coalition very much wants to work
with this committee and with the Congress to bring about sound
and constructive reform. While we support certain provisions of the

administration's proposals, there are others we have difficulty with
and we appreciate this opportunity to bring it to the attention of

the committee.

[The prepared statement of Mr. Barnette appears in the appen-
dix.]

The Chairman. We appreciate that attitude, that approach very
much, sir. I am glad to know that profits are up and contributions
in the pension fund are up also, that is all very reassuring.

Let us hear from the union side of this matter as many of the

major firms that are on that list are union firms and have nego-
tiated benefits. Mr. Hirschland, good morning.

88-738 0-95-2
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STATEMENT OF DAVID HIRSCHLAND, ASSISTANT DIRECTOR,
SOCIAL SECURITY DEPARTMENT, INTERNATIONAL UNION,
UNITED AUTOMOBILE, AEROSPACE AND AGRICULTURAL IM-

PLEMENT WORKERS OF AMERICA (UAW), DETROIT, MI

Mr. HiRSCHLAND. Good morning. Thank you very much. I am
happy to be representing the UAW which represents 1.4 miUion ac-

tive and retired members, most of whom are covered by defined

benefit pension plans. We thank you for the opportunity to testify

on the subject of the proposed Retirement Protection Act of 1993

and the problems associated with pension plans that are less than

fully funded.
The UAW commends the administration for its careful review of

the financial status of pension funds, of the Pension Benefit Guar-
antee Corporation and of the security of the Retirement Income
Protection afforded American workers.
We agree with the administration that there is no immediate cri-

sis facing the PBGC. At the same time we also agree with the ad-

ministration that there are a lot of concerns that can and should

be resolved now. The proposed Retirement Protection Act of 1993
focuses on strengthening the funding rules for pension plans. The
UAW applauds the administration for taking this positive approach
towards resolving the problem of underfunded plans.
The UAW strongly opposes proposals which have been made by

others to cut the PBGC benefit guarantees or to restrict benefit in-

creases by encumbering corporate assets. Such proposals would pe-
nalize workers and retirees by reducing the security and adequacy
of their retirement income.
The problem of underfunding of certain pension plans has not

been caused by overly generous PBGC guarantees. The five-year

phase-in of the guarantees under current law provides adequate
protection against so-called death bed increases shortly before a

plan termination.

Similarly, the problem of underfunding has not been caused by
inappropriate or excessive benefit increases. While the plans nego-
tiated by the UAW with the big three auto companies are currently
less than fully funded, over the last two decades the benefits pro-
vided by the plans have continued to replace a relatively confident

percentage of pre-retirement income.
Because the benefits provided under these plans are based on the

flat dollar amount related to the worker's years of service rather
than a set percentage of worker's wages, the benefit levels have to

be adjusted every few years to keep pace with the growth in wages.
These ad hoc benefit increases simply accomplish the same result

that happens automatically under salary related management pen-
sion plans. Thus, proposals that would restrict ad hoc increases in

flat dollar plans would discriminate against rank and file workers.
In addition to negotiating ad hoc increases, the UAW has also

negotiated special early retirement programs to assist in the

downsizing of the big three auto companies. Again, these programs
have not been excessive or irresponsible. Many other companies
have instituted similar programs. Congress recently approved such
a vital program to help produce the Federal work force. If the UAW
had not negotiated these special early retirement programs at the
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big three auto companies thousands of younger workers would have
been laid off.

The problem of underfunding in certain pension funds is attrib-

utable to the fact that the company sponsoring these plans has not
contributed sufficient monies to the plans. Thus, the obvious solu-

tion for Congress is to enact legislation requiring quicker, more se-

cure funding of these plans.
The UAW supports a number of specific reforms to strengthen

ERISA's funding rules and approve the funded status of pension
plans. Specifically, we support tightening the deficit reduction con-
tribution required under OBRA-87 to assure the plan's funded sta-

tus actually improves.
We are pleased that the administration has included a transition

rule in S. 1780 to make sure that the tougher funding rules do not

jeopardize the economic viability of some companies. But we are
concerned that the application of the transition rules changes pen-
sion liabilities due to fluctuations in economic conditions could lead
to dramatic swings the amount of contributions which a company
is required to make from 1 year to another.
The UAW believes that the funding increases resulting from in-

creases in current liabilities should be smooth. This will have the
same funding result as the administration's approach, but with a

leveling of the contributions required in any given year.
The UAW also supports the enactment of a plan solvency role.

The UAW opposes the provision in the administration's bill which
would lift the cap on the variable rate premium. Instead of requir-

ing companies with other funded plans to pay additional premiums
to the PBGC, the UAW believes it would be preferable to have
these funds go directly into pension plans.
We understand the administration's proposed increase in the

variable rate premium in order to offset the revenue loss associated
with the tougher funding rules and to make the overall bill revenue

neutral, the UAW urges the Congress not to let the arcane rules
of budget scoring force bad policy.

Since the tougher funding rules will help protect the PBGC from
additional unfunded pension liabilities they should not be scored as
revenue losers. The administration should not be required to find

revenue sources to offset these prudent funding proposals.
There are two other items not covered by the administration's

bill which the UAW believes should be addressed by Congress in

any pension legislation. First, we believe Congress should clarify
the right of plan participants to assert claims for non-guaranteed
benefits they often lose in my unfunded plan terminations.

Second, we urge the Congress to reassert PBGC's role in guaran-
teeing pension benefits in situations where the benefits are being
provided through the purchase of annuities from an insurance com-

pany.
In conclusion, Mr. Chairman, the UAW appreciates the oppor-

tunity to testify on the subject of the Retirement Protection Act of

1993. We are firmly committed to the objective of improving the

funding status of pension plans. We look forward to working with

you and the other members of this committee as you consider this

critically important issue.

Thank you.
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[The prepared statement of Mr. Hirschland appears in the ap-

pendix.]
The Chairman. We thank you, sir. I certainly want to agree

about those arcane budget rules. It happens that in the administra-

tion's proposal the theoretical losses are offset by the theoretical

gains from eliminating cross testing and premium increases. So

they have anticipated this. But do not even think that I can ex-

plain it to you.
Mr. Labedz, good morning sir.

STATEMENT OF CHESTER S. LABEDZ, JR., VICE PRESIDENT,
HUMAN RESOURCES, TEXTRON DEFENSE SYSTEMS, WIL-

MINGTON, MA, CHAIRMAN, TITLE IV TASK FORCE, THE
ERISA INDUSTRY COMMITTEE (ERIC)

Mr. Labedz. Good morning, Chairman Moynihan and members
of the committee. My name is Chester Labedz. I am pleased to ap-

pear before you today on behalf of the ERISA Industry Committee.
In June of 1993 ERIC presented a plan to strengthen pension

funding rules and the government program that guarantees bene-

fits. The proposal reflects the consensus of a broad range of major
employers on changes needed to provide an effective and coherent

structure.

ERIC believes that its proposals are more consistent with the

purposes of the termination insurance program and the mission of

the PBGC as stated in ERISA than is S. 1780. Although S. 1780
is intended to address pension funding and security issues con-

structively, the bill does not address the fundamental problems fac-

ing defined benefit plans.
S. 1780 appears to be designed primarily to protect the PBGC

rather than the plans that the PBGC insures. We would like to

focus today on four features of the bill that give us particularly

strong concerns.

First, S. 1780 would narrowly restrict or dictate the interest

rates and mortality table that may be used to determine a plan's
current liability for funding purposes. Although these proposals
might appear to be technical and innocuous, they are extremely
substantive and they will have a severe effect on pension funding
requirements.
ERIC believes that the proposals are inappropriate and strongly

objects to both of them. Our chart illustrates how the bill's man-
dated interest and mortality assumptions overstate the amount an

employer needs to fund. The bars in the chart add together the li-

ability of 10 diverse ERIC member plans.
The yellow bar shows the plans' combined liability based on ex-

pected long-term earnings on their assets. The dark blue bar is the

same liability, but it is based on the rate of return on corporate
bonds that is conservatively used in a company's SEC financial

statements.
The green and light blue bars show that the bill's mandated in-

terest and mortality assumptions respectively would add an aver-

age of almost 12 percent to the liabilities of these diverse plans. In
some individual cases, S. 1780 will increase liabilities by as much
as 20 percent over the already conservative SEC requirement.
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Finally, the magenta bar shows the liability amount that plans
must use to calculate their variable rate premiums.

Second, S. 1780 revises the current pension funding standards

primarily by strengthening the deficit reduction contribution re-

quirements of current law. ERIC believes that it is a mistake to

focus on the DRC. The deficit reduction contribution applies only
to plans that already have experienced funding difficulties. A defi-

cit reduction contribution is thus an after-the-fact remedy. The def-

icit reduction contribution requirement also significantly increases
the volatility and unpredictability of funding requirements.

Plans may bounce in and out of the bill's harsh requirements
from 1 year to the next causing substantial and unnecessary dis-

ruption in a business's financial planning. We recommend that the
committee focus instead on fashioning strong and appropriate basic

funding standards that require faster funding of new obligations
under the basic funding rules.

Third, S. 1780 includes a transition rule that limits the manda-
tory increase in the level of an employer's contribution for 7 years.
This merely defers the full impact of the bill's funding require-
ments. The result of the administration's proposal is that an em-
ployer can hit a wall of new contribution requirements as soon as
the transition period expires.
One company estimates that its annual funding obligations will

virtually double in the first 2 years after the transition period ex-

pires. By contrast, under the ERIC proposal, companies would
make higher contributions in the early years than what is required
under S. 1780 but would not hit a contribution wall in the out

years.
Fourth, S. 1780 requires employers to give advance notice to the

PBGC of certain business sales and other dispositions and allows
the PBGC to hold up the transactions to bring an enforcement ac-

tion. We strongly oppose this provision.
The provision will allow the PBGC to interfere with and disrupt

many normal, non-abusive business transactions that are not based
on pension considerations. These provisions will affect many buyers
and sellers of businesses, not just businesses with underfunded
pension plans.
We urge the company to revise S. 1780 to accommodate
The Chairman. You urge the committee.
Mr. Labedz. I am sorry. To accommodate the concerns I voice

today.
Thank you, Mr. Chairman, for the opportunity to testify.
The Chairman. Thank you for very concise and informative testi-

mony, sir. We will have questions later.

[The prepared statement of Mr. Labedz appears in the appendix.]
The Chairman. Mr. Spira on behalf of the Multiemployer Pen-

sion Plan Solvency Coalition.

STATEMENT OF ROBERT M. SPIRA, ESQ., DIRECTOR OF GOV-
ERNMENT RELATIONS AND SENIOR CORPORATE COUNSEL,
LEASEWAY TRANSPORTATION MULTIEMPLOYER PENSION
PLAN SOLVENCY COALITION

Mr. Spira. Thank you, Mr. Chairman. My name is Robert Spira
with Leaseway Transportation in Cleveland Ohio. I am pleased to



34

appear before you on behalf of the Multiemployer Pension Plan Sol-

vency Coalition.

The Coalition represents substantially all of the employers who
contribute to multiemployer pension plans. We recognize that S.

1780 does not address underfunding in multiemployer pension
plans.

According to testimony by Secretary Reich at the House Ways
and Means Committee in April 1994 the administration believes
that multiemployer plans do not present a problem because

underfunding has decreased since 1980. Therefore, legislation ad-

dressing multiemployer pension plan funding levels is not required.
We disagree with Secretary Reich. The administration's position

ignores the facts. There is a problem. The problem is getting worse.
It will not go away by itself. The favorable funding trends reported
by Secretary Reich occurred in the 1980's. They are a thing of the

past.
Since 1990 underfunding in multiemployer plans has more than

doubled, from $5 billion to $11 billion. The recent increases in

underfunding are even more significant when viewed in the context
of the declines of the number of employees in these plans for whom
contributions are made.

Many of these plans are in the trucking industry. Deregulation
in 1980 resulted in a dramatic realignment of the trucking indus-

try. Non-union segments have grown while employment levels in

union trucking operations have declined. These changes in the

trucking industry have had a negative impact on the union-spon-
sored multiemployer plans.
Many of the underfunded multiemployer plans have lost between

40 percent and 60 percent of their active employee participants.
These declines are expected to continue. Each decline in the con-
tribution base of an underfunded multiemployer plan has the effect

of increasing the exposure of the union employers who remain.
In 1990 PBGC reported that 89 percent of all multiemployer

plans covering approximately 80 percent of all multiemployer plan
participants were fully funded for vested benefits. By 1992, how-
ever, only 80 percent of all multiemployer plans covering approxi-
mately 68 percent of all multiemployer plan participants were fully
funded for vested benefits.

Approximately 3 million employees are covered by plans that are

currently underfunded. Many of these plans are funded are less
than 90 percent. Many of these plans are underfunded by hundreds
of millions of dollars.

Employees who rely on severely underfunded multiemployer
plans for their retirement benefits are threatened by continued

underfunding. If a plan becomes insolvent, PBGC guarantees
$487.50 per month of retirement benefits. This compares unfavor-

ably to the $2,500 per month promised by some of the underfunded
plans in the trucking industry.
The problems of employers that arise from multiemployer pen-

sion plan underfunding are real. My employer, Leaseway Transpor-
tation, is a trucking company with operations throughout the Unit-
ed States. Revenues for 1993 were approximately $630 million. As
a result of obligations under our union contracts, Leaseway contrib-
utes to more than 40 multiemployer plans. Leaseway's aggregate
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contingent withdrawal liabilities to these plans are estimated to be

in excess of the company's $50 million net worth.

Although Leaseway does not desire to withdraw from any of the

plans in which we participate, events outside of the company's con-

trol, such as the cancellation of a major contract, could result in

claims that exceed our ability to pay.
Other union trucking companies who are members of our Coali-

tion, particularly the smaller family owned companies are also

threatened by their obligations to underfunded pension plans.
These obligations make it difficult, if not impossible, for these indi-

viduals to reap the benefit of years of hard work and risk.

Potential purchasers are not willing or able to assume contingent
liabilities that far exceed the value of the business. In addition, a

company's financial results are affected because its pension fund

obligations negatively impact credit ratings and interest rates.

The PBGC and the administration have taken the position that

the problem of underfunding in multiemployer plans is not so great
that Congress needs to address it now. This position is unrealistic.

PBGC has admitted that the insolvency of even one large multiem-

ployer plan could threaten the relatively small surplus of the

PBGC's multiemployer insurance fund.

Further, in September 1993, the General Accounting Office re-

ported to Congress that the PBGC has not adequately assessed its

liability for future assistance to financially troubled multiemployer

plans.
The administration's efforts to deal with underfunding in defined

benefit plans, as reflected by S. 1780, will be incomplete unless

they also deal with underfunding of multiemployer plans. The at-

tention now being given to single employer plan underfunding pre-
sents a perfect opportunity for Congress to correct the chronic

underfunding in multiemployer plans.
The question of multiemployer pension plan reform is not new.

In 1991 and again in 1992 our Coalition testified before House and
Senate subcommittees regarding multiemployer pension plan

underfunding.
In the last Congress and again in this Congress Senator Jeffords

introduced the Pension Funding Improvement Act of 1993. Title II

of the Pension Funding Improvement Act includes modest limita-

tions on unfunded benefit increases in certain underfunded single
and multiemployer pension plans. This is as Senator Jeffords dis-

cussed this morning "the first rule of holes"—if you are in a hole,

stop digging.
Our Coalition supports these limitations as a necessary part of

comprehensive pension reform. Action should be taken now while

the issue of pension funding is being considered by the Congress
and before plan reorganizations and insolvencies occur. Employees
are entitled to rely on the pension promises that are made to them.

Although potential restrictions in unfunded benefit increases might
at first glance appear to be unfair, these restrictions are far less

unfair to employees than a system that authorizes empty pension

promises.
Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
[The prepared statement of Mr. Spira appears in the appendix.]



36

The Chairman. Thank you, Mr. Spira, with admirable precision
and you add a dimension to this matter which we have not heard.
It is part of the Jeffords-Durenberger-Kassenbaum proposal. I see
Mr. Barnette nodding. We have to take this into consideration, ob-

viously.
Well, we have heard all divergent views. We have asked Mr.

Slate to comment specifically on the testimonies of Mr. Barnette
and Mr. Labedz. I am persuaded that there is something we need
to do and we need to do it this year. We want to do it carefully.

Senator Packwood?
Senator Packwood. I have a question of Mr. Barnette that does

not relate so much to the testimony today as to the facts you gave
me when we were visiting. How many employees did Bethlehem
have? How many do you have now? How much has it gone down
over what period of years?
Mr. Barnette. In 1980 we had about 80,000 employees. Today

we have 20,000 employees. Today we have 70,000 retirees and
20,000 in the active work force. We have 109,000 plan bene-
ficiaries. We have 170,000 health care beneficiaries—active employ-
ees and retirees.

So it is vitally important. We are probably representative of

many mature companies who have gone through massive restruc-

turing to become world class, low-cost high quality producers in the

products that we have in this market. That is certainly true of our

company and it is true of the companies represented by the Coali-
tion. We need to stay competitive and we need internally generated
cash to do that.

Senator Packwood. I want to go through these figures.
Mr. Barnette. Yes, sir.

Senator Packwood. You have gone from 80,000 employees to

20,000 from 1980 to 1990.
Mr. Barnette. Correct.
Senator Packwood. Are you still producing about the same

amount of steel?

Mr. Barnette. Roughly. That's a part of restructuring, mod-
ernization and technology. We have downsized our capability, but
we are still very substantial—the second largest steel producer.

Senator Packwood. So your productivity has gone up tremen-
dously.
Mr. Barnette. It has gone up by quantum measurements—two

to three times depending on the product and the Division.

Senator Packwood. Now you have 20,000 employees, active em-
ployees.
Mr. Barnette. Yes, sir.

Senator Packwood. And you are covering how many bene-
ficiaries under your health plan?
Mr. Barnette. 170,000 health care beneficiaries at a charge to

P&L—these are approximate numbers. Senators—of $250 million.

And in our case our cash expense of health care and pensions is

about the same.
That is why, Senator, we so appreciate the leadership of this

committee and, Chairman Moynihan, this committee on health care
and other related matters. Health care is a critical issue, but it is

related to pensions.
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Senator Packwood. Now, 20,000 employees, 170,000 health care
beneficiaries.

Mr. Barnette. Yes, sir.

Senator Packwood. I am just going to take a guess, what, 60,000
of those are employees and dependents and 110,000 are retirees?

Mr. Barnette. Approximately, yes, sir.

Senator Packwood. And those retirees in many cases you are

carrying from age 55 onward.
Mr. Barnette. Yes.
Senator Packwood. With rather generous health benefits.

Mr. Barnette. For some. Some may have other jobs. I think the

the pre-Medicare coverage under President Clinton's bill and other
bills would have a limited effect because those benefits do not trig-

ger in until such later time so that the retirees would be up in the
Medicare age levels anyway. But we do have a substantial number.
Senator Packwood. Say that again.
Mr. Barnette. We have employees who have retired early.
Senator Packwood. Right.
Mr. Barnette. Employees who are retired as the result of re-

structured operations.
Senator Packwood. Do you cover them with their health benefits

when they retire?

Mr. Barnette. We do. We do, indeed.

Senator Packwood. Are they a significant portion of your $250
million cost?

Mr. Barnette. They are not.

Senator PACKWOOD. They are not?
Mr. Barnette. They are not. They are a portion of that liability.

But they may have second employment and they are marching to-

ward the age 62 or 65.

Senator Packwood. And if they have other employment you are
not responsible for their health benefits?

Mr. Barnette. Normally that would be the case. Senator.
Senator Packwood. If they are covered, if whoever covers, in-

stead of primary payor you are a secondary?
Mr. Barnette. Yes, that is correct.

Senator Packwood. Thank you. That is all I have, Mr. Chair-
man.
The Chairman. That is a stunning ratio, that from 80,000 em-

ployees you are down to 20,000 and you produce just as much steel.

Mr. Barnette. Slightly less. Senator. But the order of magnitude
is roughly the same.
The Chairman. That is a phenomenal achievement by the firm

and by the work force. But it does produce this extraordinary ratio

of active employees to retired employees. That is in one sense good.
Mr. Barnette. Yes, it is.

The Chairman. We are not short of steel. It just represents ad-

vances in technology. But as with all that creative destruction of

capitalism, it has side effects you have to attend to. But no one
comes before us more open about these matters than you, sir.

Mr. Barnette. Thank you, sir.

The Chairman. We much appreciate it.

Senator Pryor?
Senator Pryor. Yes, sir, thank you, Mr. Chairman.
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The Chairman. The Chairman of our Subcommittee on Private
Retirement Plans and Oversight of the Internal Revenue Service.

Senator Pryor. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
I did not want my absence this morning earlier to indicate my

lack of interest in this subject, Mr. Chairman.
The Chairman. We explained.
Senator Pryor. I had to chair another hearing this morning of

the Governmental Affairs Committee. But I want to thank you, Mr.
Chairman and Senator Packwood, for holding this hearing.

I just have a couple of questions. First to Mr. Barnette. Let me
ask, I think the line of questioning imposed by Senator Packwood
is very interesting. Let me continue that with a couple of questions.
Does your particular company pay 100 percent of the health care

program, the benefits for your employees?
Mr. Barnette. It does not. Senator. We have share rings. We

have deductibles. We have co-pays. We have a number of different

collective bargaining agreements. They may be slightly different

under different agreements, but there is a full employee involve-

ment in the health care process now and it varies by employee. It

varies by retiree also, depending on when the person retired.

Senator Pryor. That has gone through some degree of change
also in the last few years.
Mr. Barnette. Yes, sir, it has; and through good cooperation, es-

pecially by the unions, the United Steelworkers, through excellent

cooperation by employees. We have active managed care programs.
We have a new health clinic in Bethlehem, PA. We are doing a lot

of things to try to reduce our own health care expenses and keep
the quality of health care up.

Senator Pryor. Good. Thank you.
Now, the steel, and automobile, airline industry account I guess

for a fairly large portion of the estimated underfunding that we are

talking about this morning. Now, my question is this, taking your
company, how much more can you pay into the unfunded plans or
the PBGC, how much more can you pay at this time without jeop-

ardizing your financial position or without cutting back further em-

ployees?
Mr. Barnette. It is a question of competitiveness. Senator. I

think it is an excellent question and it is the very heart of many
of our concerns about this legislation. I guess we prefer to use the
word "unfunded" rather than underfunded because underfunded

suggests we have not done something that by law we are required
to do. That is not the case in our company or the members of our
Coalition.

But the question is one of competitiveness and what internally

generated cash must we have to keep our companies competitive.
In the case of Bethlehem in the last 2 years we have contributed

$600 million to our pension trust. We have a $1 billion pension
funding credit at the present time.
The contributions we are making under current law. Senator

Pryor, are ones that could otherwise be used for capital expendi-
ture and modernization. These funding requirements under current
law are going from $250 to $500 million. They are going to double
under current law going into next year. That is a very substantial
increase.
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Senator Pryor. Excuse me. This goes into the unfunded plan?
Mr. Barnette. Yes.
Our contribution requirements are going to double under current

law, from $250 to $500 million, again, using general numbers. And
as with Senator Packwood, with your permission, Mr. Chairman, I

would like to file a memorandum with the specific members and
the specific responses.

But, yes, sir. So to have that happen and have our premiums tri-

ple, this legislation will triple our premiums from about $8 million
to $24 million premium payments, would impose very substantial
economic consequences on our company.
But we very much want to get our unfunded liability funded and

we are doing all we can responsibly and still stay competitive in

the industry that we are in.

Senator Pryor. Well, I want to thank you for that. I did not hear
our colleague Senator Jeffords this morning. But it appears that
the bottom line of Senator Jeffords concept, I guess, is in looking
back over the past history of these pension funds, is that we have
been basically borrowing or robbing—he may have said—from the

pension funds to pay for health care benefits. I think he had a
chart here earlier.

Mr. Barnette. Yes, sir.

Senator Pryor. Do you agree with his hypothesis on this?

Mr. Barnette. I would never disagree with a U.S. Senator, Sen-
ator Pryor. I agree with his hypothesis that they are increasing.
But I must say that in the case of our company, I can best speak,
both have been increasing. Our health care expenses are $250 mil-

lion generally.
Our pension expense is the same and both have been increasing.

Health care has increased though expedientially compared to pen-
sion expense on a comparative basis.

Senator Pryor. Mr. Chairman, I just have one more question of
Mr. Barnette. I appreciate this.

This is a question that comes from an article in the Wall Street
Journal of December 3, 1993. I will quote.

Mr. Barnette. Yes, sir.

Senator Pryor. "... for every 1 percentage point decline in inter-

est rates, you can expect a 20 percent increase in liabilities." Now
this is from Ann O'Connell who is a nationally defined benefit busi-

ness leader for the accounting firm of Coopers & Lybrand.
So now we have a little increase in the interest rates. Does this

also mean that the unfunded liabilities is looking a little rosier for

us?
Mr. Barnette. It does. Senator. Yes, sir, it does. In the case of

Bethlehem Steel a decline of 25 percent basis points, a quarter of

a percent, increases our unfunded liability by $100 million. One
percent means $400 million. The change is that dramatic.

To mandate very conservative interest rates, which we believe

are far more conservative than what FASB requires, and certainly
does not relate to the actual earnings on our pension fund, would

substantially overstate pension liabilities. So it is a key issue to ex-

amine both the mortality tables suggested here as well as the in-

terest rate assumptions.
Senator Pryor. I want to thank you, Mr. Barnette.
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Mr. Barnette. Yes, sir.

Senator Pryor. Mr. Chairman, if I might ask your indulgence.
The Chairman. Please.

Senator Pryor. I would appreciate very much if you would place

my statement in the record. I was going to give it this morning, but

I did not have an opportunity.
The Chairman. I would place it there.

Senator Pryor. Thank you, sir.

[The prepared statement of Senator Pryor appears in the appen-
dix.]

The Chairman. It would be interesting to the committee if I

could ask that each of our witnesses, and we have one to hear from

yet, could give us a sense of what portion of the portfolios involved

in a pension system are interest sensitive in the sense that they

might be 90-day Treasury bills or things like that. This would help
us. Could we ask Mr. Labedz, Mr. Spira, and Mr. Hirschland? 1.

Mr. Labedz. It varies from time to time. But I would say that

with the investment strategy of pension managers more is in equi-
ties than in debt instruments today. But there is still a substantial

portion.
The Chairman. Why don't you give us a note when you can get

an approximate answer. Mr. Spira?
Mr. Spira. I am afraid I do not have the answer to that.

The Chairman. No, I did not think you would. But it has come

up. Dig it out.

Mr. Hirschland, you all know a lot about those things.
Mr. Hirschland. I would also instead of try to answer, I would

rather send you a note about it.

The Chairman. Yes. Sure.
Now we have the pleasure of having Ms. Paula Calimafde. Do I

have that correct?

Ms. Calimafde. It is Cahmafde.
The Chairman. Just Calimafde, no "ee." I was misinformed. Rep-

resenting the Small Business Council of America. We welcome you
for this final

STATEMENT OF PAULA A. CALIMAFDE, J.D., CHAIR, SMALL
BUSINESS COUNCIL OF AMERICA, BETHESDA, MD

Ms. Calimafde. Thank you very much. It is a pleasure to be
here. My name is Paula Calimafde. I am the Chair of the Small
Business Council of America. I am also a practicing attorney who
specializes in retirement plan and employee benefits law.

I am here only to discuss the miscellaneous provision in this bill

which would ban cross-tested and age-weighted defined contribu-

tion plans. It is important to understand that this provision deals

with defined contribution plans, whereas the whole rest of the bill

and everything you have already talked about in large part is deal-

ing with the funding of defined benefit plans.
Now defined contribution plans are just a totally different ani-

mal. They have individual account balances. Every participant in

the plan knows what his or her account balance is each year by
law. Participants are basically either 100 percent vested or vested

within a short period of time.
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Small businesses that are stable enough to sponsor retirement

plans almost never sponsor defined benefit plans. Defined benefit

plans simply got too expensive for small businesses.
Defined contribution plans have not caused any of the problems

that are going on with PBGC now. There is no PBGC guarantee
or funding that PBGC gives defined contribution plans because

every year they have to be funded properly or correctly or, fully
funded is the best way to put it. So there is no government subsidy,
or protection, or guarantee in a defined contribution plan.
The reason why small businesses are so upset about a mis-

cellaneous provision in the PBGC bill is that the Section 401(a)(4)

regulations, which are about 600 pages in length, allow defined
contribution plans to be tested on a benefits basis as well as a con-

tributions basis.

When you test a defined contribution plan on a benefits basis, it

allows the plan to take age into account. What that means is, it

is very similar to life insurance. If a company pays $1 for a 30-

year-old for $1,000 of life insurance and $10 for a 55-year-old for

$1,000 of insurance, it is considered fair because they both have
the same $1,000 of insurance.
That is exactly what is going on with the cross tested or age-

weighted plan. The contributions going in are different. But if you
test them as to what each person would get at retirement age, it

would be the same. So older employees receive larger contributions

because they have less time to accumulate benefits in the plan
until they retire.

I have heard some people say that age-weighted and cross-tested

plans are the same as defined benefit plans. Nothing could be fur-

ther from the truth. There is just almost no similarity between an

age-weighted or cross-tested plan and a defined benefit plan. Treas-

ury says, they do not have the protections afforded to a defined
benefit plan. Well, the protections afforded by a defined benefit

plan are what you are all talking about today, the PBGC guaran-
tee. You do not need that in a defined contribution plan.
Another area where you might say a defined benefit plan is bet-

ter than a defined contribution plan is that in a defined benefit

plan there is an actuarially assumed interest rate. In a defined
contribution plan, whatever the account balance earns is what the

employee gets.
But there is another major difference that no one is talking

about, which is critical to small business employees, which is in a
defined benefit plan you get cut back if you don't stay with that

company until retirement age. Now unfortunately in the small
business arena employees do not tend to stay as long as we would
like. Quite often they move into big business.
So what happens is, if you have a plan that has a cut back if

you are not there to retirement age, the employees are understand-

ably angry about it and they get less. So if you really sat down and
looked at your numbers between a defined benefit plan and an age-

weighted or cross-tested plan, you would find that for almost all

employees they are going to do better in the age-weighted or cross-

tested plan unless they are planning on staying until retirement
with that company. Unfortunately, as I said, most small businesses

cannot rely on that.
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I have heard people say age-weighted plans are abusive. Well,

age-weighted plans are not abusive. I think even Treasury would

say they know age-weighted plans are abusive. In an age-weighted

plan the amount of the contribution depends on what age you are.

That is exactly what goes on in target benefit plans and defined

benefit plans.
If there is any kind of abuse out there, it would be in the cross-

tested area. However, these plans can provide some valuable bene-

fits. For instance, you can have a plan that gives one contribution

for people hired before a certain date and people hired after an-

other date—that allows a company to give credit or extra benefit

for long-term employees. Another example is giving extra credit to

older employees.
Finally, I want to mention that the SBCA is a member of the Co-

alition to Preserve Profit Sharing Flexibility. NFIB is a member of

this Coalition and NAM is a member of this Coalition. The Profit

Sharing Council is the head of this coalition. By the way, almost

every retirement plan group in the country, save I think two, be-

long to this Coalition. We are trying to come up with a compromise
that is simple.
This is the compromise—to get into the world of cross-testing, as

long as a top heavy plan provides 5 percent contribution for every
non-highly compensated employee, then the plan will meet the non-

abusive rules under 401(a)(4).

We think it is a fair compromise. It hurts us more than most

plans because every small business plan is basically top heavy.
That is how it works out mathematically. But we are willing to go
along with this compromise because it is based on simplicity. We
are getting very tired of these incredibly complicated rules.

So that is why we are going along with it. We really like the sim-

ple concept and we are willing to deal with some kind of com-

promise to either have this cloud removed that is in the PBGC leg-
islation or to work out some kind of compromise that we can live

with. Thank you.
The Chairman. We thank you.
[The prepared statement of Ms. Calimafde appears in the appen-

dix.]

The Chairman. It is refreshing, I believe you are the first attor-

ney I have heard come before this committee and complain about

complicated rules.

Ms. Calimafde. Is that right? I could produce a lot for you.
The Chairman. Attorneys tend to like complicated rules. Their

clients may not.

Ms. Calimafde. Not this attorney.
The Chairman. Good for that attorney. And we are interested,

indeed, in your proposition.
Right now we have a question of the equity of tax expenditures.

At this point about the top one-fifth of families by income receive

three-fifths of the tax expenditures in the pension area and there
is a question of fairness. What is it, the bottom two-fifths of fami-

lies receive 1.5 percent. The bottom 40 percent gets 1.5 percent.
Senator Packwood?
Senator Packwood. No further questions, Mr. Chairman.
The Chairman. All right, sir.
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Senator Pryor?
Senator Pryor. No questions. Thank you.
The Chairman. Well, we want to thank our panel. We do very

much appreciate it. We would like any comments you have on the

interest sensitivity. It would help us get our own minds in shape.
Thanks to all present. You should know we are going into an Ex-

ecutive Session to hear Ms. Valerie Lau who is nominated to be the

Inspector General of the Department of the Treasury.
We will stand in recess for 15 seconds for stretching purposes.

[Whereupon, at 12:24 p.m., the hearing was adjourned.]
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Prepared Statement of Curtis H. Barnette

Thank you, Mr. Chairman. I am Hank Barnette, Chairman of Bethlehem Steel

Corporation. I am testifying today on behalf of the Pension Issues Coalition, a group
of companies that was recently formed to work together on legislation to reform the

Pension Benefit Guaranty Corporation. We appreciate the opportunity you have

given us to testify on the Administration's proposed legislation, S. 1780, "The Retire-

ment Protection Act of 1993."

The Pension Issues Coalition represents a broad cross section of American busi-

ness in industries such as airlines, automobiles, defense, energy and metals. Coali-

tion members operate in highly competitive markets, often with intense foreign com-

petition. Members companies include ALCOA, Armco, Bethlehem Steel Corporation,

Chrysler Corporation, Ford Motor Company, General Motors Corporation, North-

west Airlines, Inc. and Westinghouse Electric Corporation. Coalition members spon-
sor pension plans covering nearly 2 million workers and retirees, backed by over $90
billion in assets.

The Coalition has a vital interest in maintaining the financial integrity of the

PBGC. As the Committee well knows, the PBGC is not supported by taxpayers;
PBGC is supported by premium payers. Last year. Coalition members paid PBGC
$105 million in premiums, about 12 percent of PBGC's total. The Coalition com-

mends the Administration's goal of ensuring a financially sound pension insurance

program and its willingness to consider a wide range of views concerning the PBGC.
We appreciate the Administration's efforts to tone down the rhetoric about the

PBGC's future and we thank Secretary Reich, Executive Director Slate, Assistant

Secretary Samuels and their staffs for their leadership. Many members of the Coali-

tion, my company included, have been supportive of the Administration's legislative

efforts in many other areas, including health care reform. We believe that certain

points in the Administration's bill would be helpful. In particular, we agree with

proposals (1) to eliminate tax penalties for funding pension plans, such as the excise

tax on contributions in excess of 25% of compensation, and (2) to establish a sol-

vency rule to make sure that pension plans do not run out of cash.

However, there are other provisions in the proposed legislation that we believe

would impose unwarranted additional costs and impair our ability to compete. Let

me give you some examples.
First, the Administration's proposal would require members of our Coalition to

fund pensions to a level that is significantly above the amount necessary to pay all

promised benefits. This overfunding is mainly the result of a requirement that plans
calculate their liabilities using mandated assumptions about mortality and interest

rates that, in fact, are simply wrong for the members of our group. A recent, de-

tailed study by the Society of Actuaries independently confirms that the mortality
table mandated by S. 1780 does not reflect the actual experience of companies such

as ours. By requiring employers to use actuarial assumptions that overstate pension
liabilities, the proposal directly imposes excessive funding costs on employers.
Not only is full-funding redefined by S. 1780, but companies are reouired to reach

this new level very rapidly. The result is a large increase in annual contributions

that apply retroactively to benefits that have already been established. Capital-in-
tensive businesses faced with restructuring and severe competition, much of it for-

eign, will be less able to weather business cycles and make the capital investments

necessary to stay competitive. Weaker companies mean fewer jobs, and more impor-

tantly for this legislation, weaker companies mean greater risks to the PBGC.

(45)
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Second, in addition to the new funding requirements, the proposed legislation
would impose a premium increase. There is no need for this increase. The PBGC
premium has been raised three times in the last decade. For Coalition members, the

average increase has been even greater. PBGC premium revenues are now close to

$1 billion annually, three times the amount that PBGC needs to pay unfunded guar-
anteed benefits. This very healthy cash flow stands in sharp contrast to the mid-

1980s, when annual premiums were less than PBGC's share of annual benefits.

The main reason—perhaps the only reason—for the proposed premium increase

is the need to make the bill "revenue neutral," that is, to offset the additional tax-

deductions that would result from the increased pension funding required by the

bill. The members of the Coalition disagree with this logic. The new funding require-
ments included in S. 1780 are supposed to reduce the risk to the PBGC. But, if this

were true, PBGC would need less premium revenue, not more.

Third, the Coalition is also concerned with the provisions of S. 1780 that would

grant sweeping new oversight and enforcement powers to the PBGC to become in-

volved in the ordinary business affairs and transactions of companies that sponsor
so-called "underfunded" pension plans—determined using PBGC's overly conserv-

ative measures. The bill would authorize a level of interference in arm's length busi-

ness transactions that is just not warranted. More pointedly, this government in-

volvement with business would be aimed at the companies that have the greatest
need to restructure in order to remain competitive.
Some have argued that a crisis is at hand and Congress must act regardless of

these problems. We do not believe there is a crisis. The financial condition of the
PBGC is not deteriorating and PBGC will not become the next "S&L" crisis.

The PBGC's deficit is not increasing. Since the mid-1980s, PBGC's total reported
deficit has grown from $1.5 to $2.9 billion. During that time, however, PBGC
changed its accounting methods. In 1989, the PBGC began to count "probable" ter-

minations as part of its current deficit. Probable terminations are pension plans
that the PBGC believes will terminate, but have yet to actually terminate. This

change in accounting methods does not reflect any underlying change in PBGC's fi-

nancial condition. But, because of the change, PBGC appears to be worse off. In fact,

PBGC's deficit for actual terminations has decreased during this time.

Given the dramatic decline in interest rates over the last few years—a decline

that tends to increase PBGC's calculated deficit and individual companies' cal-

culated liabilities—it is a very encouraging sigji
that the PBGC deficit has not risen

more sharply. The PBGC has also changed its mortality assumptions twice, and
both times the result was an increase in measured but not actual liabilities. When
PBGC's deficit is computed the same way each year using the same assumptions
and accounting conventions, the only conclusion that can be drawn is not that some-

thing is going wrong, but rather, that something is going right.
The Coalition has also examined the trend in the funding level of the pension

plans that PBGC insures. According to PBGC, pension plan underfunding has near-

ly doubled over the past six years to $53 billion. The Administration frequently cites

this $53 billion figure to justify immediate action. But, upon closer examination, we
found no cause for alarm.

Let's look at the $15 billion growth in underfunding that occurred between the
last two surveys years—which accounts for almost 60 percent of the "doubling" cited

by PBGC. What is not reported is that (according to PBGC's Top-50 list) while li-

abilities of underfunded plans grew by 28 percent from 1991 to 1992, assets also

grew by 28 percent. The result is that the pension plan's funded ratio—the percent
of liabilities that is funded—remained constant. There was no alarming deteriora-
tion in funding. The reason for the apparent growth in underfunding is that PBGC
used a much lower interest rate than it has in years past to estimate its liabilities.

PBGC itself has acknowledged that "the primary reason for the increases in

underfunding was the fall of interest rates to historically low levels." What has not
been pointed out is that interest rates have increased recently, which would drive
down underfunding by PBGC's own measure. Unfortunately, this will not be re-

ported for another year and a half because the PBGC list is based on old data. It

is difficult to understand whv action must be taken now to address the growing
underfunding that is a result of past decreases in interest rates which have now
begun to increase.

It should also be noted that there have been significant changes in the legal and
accounting environment that have gone largely unrecognized in the debate over
PBGC reform. Since 1986, it has become much more expensive for companies to

maintain pension plans that are not fully funded. Companies are now required to

recognize unfunded obligations on their balance sheets. Another important change
has been the reaction of creditors to companies with pension underfunding. Credi-
tors and the rating agencies now treat pension liabilities like any other debt. In gen-



47

eral, companies with unfunded pension liabilities receive lower credit ratings and
must pay more to borrow. This heightened creditor concern is due to new laws that
this Committee was instrumental in enacting in 1986 and 1987. The PBGC now has
a claim for the full amount of underfunding and creditors have become very aware
that an underfunded pension plan can result in very low recoveries for them in

bankruptcy.
In response to these changes, many members of the Coalition are taking extraor-

dinary steps to fund their pensions. For example:
• Since the beginning of 1993, Chrysler has contributed more than $3.8 billion

above the legal minimums to its pension plans. The company has also an-
nounced its intention to fully fund its pension liability (on a FASB basis) by the
end of 1994.

• General Motors recently announced a plan that could lead to a contribution of
stock and cash worth approximately $10 billion above the legal minimums to

its hourly pension plan.
• Stock offerings in 1993 and 1994 by Bethlehem Steel along with internally gen-

erated cash have resulted in an additional $632 million dollars being contrib-
uted to its plans.

• Westinghouse has announced its intention to contribute an additional $200 mil-
lion in stock to its pension plan.

The Pension Issues Coalition wants constructive reform of the PBGC. Indeed,
there are several provisions in the Administration's proposal that we support. Even
so, the members of the Coalition believe that other provisions of S. 1780 that we
have discussed would impair the competitiveness of our companies and the welfare
of our employees and retirees.

Thank you, Mr. Chairman. I would be pleased to answer any questions.

Prrpared Statement of Paula A. Calimafde

Mr. Chairman and Members of the Committee, I am Paula Calimafde, the Chair
of the Small Business Council of America (SBCA). I am also a practicing attorney
who specializes in retirement plan and employee benefits law. As Chair of the

SBCA, I am here to present our views on the Administration's proposal to ban age-
weighted and other cross-tested defined contribution plans which is included in the
Administration's PBGC reform proposal (S. 1780). This testimony is also endorsed

by the Coalition for Profit Sharing Flexibility, which is chaired by the Profit Sharing
Council of America and includes NFIB and NAM as members. AJl members are list-

ed below.
SBCA is a national nonprofit organization which represents the interest of pri-

vately-held and family-owned businesses on federal tax, health care and employee
benefit matters. The SBCA, through its members, represents well over 20,000 enter-

prises in retail, manufacturing and service industries, which enterprises represent
or sponsor over two hundred thousand qualified retirement and welfare plans.
As a spokesman for small business retirement plan sponsors, we are primarily

concerned with defined contribution plans since they are the preferred retirement

plan vehicle for privately held businesses. Unfortunately, they are primarily pre-
ferred because defined benefit plans have become too expensive for most small busi-
nesses to sponsor. Changes made by Congress over the last ten years dealing with

funding corridors and cut backs in benefits, combined with an IRS audit program
targeting only small business defined benefit plans which challenged mainstream
actuarial assumptions retroactively have effectively closed down these plans. Any
practitioner in this area will tell you that the demise of the defined benefit plan oc-

curred well ahead of the time that the Section 401(a)(4) regulations were even is-

sued the first time in proposed format. It is foolish to think of these plans as some-
how "replacements" for defined benefit plans and therefore hurting the PBGC fisc.

At the same time to talk about these plans not having the "protections" afforded
defined benefit plans is also an absurdity since they must be funded on a current
basis and generally credit the same if not better interest yields to participants than
defined benefit plans. Also, for most small business employees, specifically including
non-highly compensated employees, these plans provide for larger contributions

amounts, which are vested in a short period of time, if not immediately, and most
importantly are not subject to the "accrued benefit" fraction which cuts back em-
ployees if they do not stay with the company until retirement. Almost any non-high-
ly compensated small business employee will receive more under ANY cross-tested

plan than a defined benefit plan. Accordingly, we do not offer recommendations on
the proposed modifications to the PBGC insurance program. We limit our remarks
to the proposed ban on age weighted and other cross tested defined contribution
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plans which by law are totally outside the PBGC program and do not contribute in

any way to the PBGC's financial problems. We do not believe that changes to de-

fined contribution plans should be included in a bill aimed exclusively at protecting
the interests of employees covered by defined benefit plans.
We are opposed to this proposal to ban age-weighted and other cross-tested plans.

Small businesses overwhelmingly rely on defined contribution plans to meet the re-

tirement needs of their workers. Many use age and service weighted plan formulas

which benefit all employees, both highly compensated and non-highly compensated
employees, but would be outlawed by the Administration's proposal.
The SBCA believes that employers should be able to continue sponsoring age-

weighted and other cross-tested defined contribution plans. We do not share the

Treasury view. By its own admission the Department has no hard evidence that

these plans are being utilized in an abusive manner (indeed plan sponsors are fol-

lowing IRS regulations) and has allowed that its proposed ban of all cross-tested age

weighted plans is not warranted.

First, it must be understood that age-weighted plans are simply not abusive. The
hundreds of technical experts in the SBCA have never seen any abusive situations

under these types of plans. The protections designed by the IRS through its regula-

tions, combined with the top-heavy minimum requirements, assure that the inter-

ests of all employees are fully protected. In fact, any practitioner skilled in the re-

tirement plan area will quickly concede that the age-weighted plan will give rise to

almost identical numbers as a target benefit plan and similar, if not larger numbers
for non-highly compensated employees, than those generated by a defined benefit

plan.
IRS Code §401(a)(4) prohibits discrimination in favor of highly compensated em-

ployees. This section provides that either contributions or benefits must not dis-

criminate in favor of highly compensated employees. Age-weighted and cross-tested

plans comply with IRS developed non-discrimination regulations which were devel-

oped over a period of five years. These regulations received significant analysis and

input and were drafted, proposed and re-proposed several times before being final-

ized in the fall of 1993.

Testing contributions on a benefits basis allows age to be taken into account. A
smaller contribution for a younger employee will provide the same retirement bene-

fit when projected to retirement age as a larger contribution for an older employee.
The smaller contribution has more time to grow, so that when projected to retire-

ment age it is equal or greater in value to the larger contribution made for the older

employee, which has less time to grow. Thus, when contributions are compared by
the retirement benefit they are projected to provide, a smaller contribution for a

younger employee is nondiscriminatory. The fact that a contribution was greater for

an older person does not mean that the plan discriminated against a younger em-

ployee. A simple analogy which involves group life insurance may help explain the

process. A $1,000 death benefit may cost an employer $1.00a year for a 30 year old.

The same $1,000 death benefit may cost the employer about $10.00 for a 57 year
old. The fact that the employer is paying as much as ten times more for the older

person does not make the plan discriminatory. The plan is absolutely non-discrimi-

natory because it provides the same benefit to each employee. So it is with cross-

tested qualified plans. When the benefit provided is the same, the plan is not dis-

criminatory, even though the current year s cost is different.

If there are discriminatory cross-tested plans, then the correct solution is to pro-
vide that all employees receive some threshold contribution rather than prevent em-

ployers from using a plan technique that has made it possible and feasible for many
small businesses to offer a retirement plan. While curbing abusive tax practices is

a legitimate objective, as or more important are the objectives of fostering coverage
and providing retirement income and long term savings. Micromanagement and ad-

ditional changes in the law are counterproductive to these desirable goals.
It is the experience of SBCA's practitioner members that where it is possible to

design cross-tested plans to result in wide disparities between highly and non-highly

compensated employees, most employers are unwilling to adopt such a plan, since

to do would be counterproductive to the goal of providing a valuable and appreciated
employee benefit. Because the plans are used not only to provide a vehicle for sig-

nificant retirement savings, but also to provide a legitimate and valuable employee
benefit, absent a dire downturn in profits, contributions for employees should stay
at current levels or be increased. The existing rules work quite well to achieve that

result.

Recent examples of actual cross-tested plans show how desirable these plans can
be. A high technology company which produces software has just become stable

enough to provide retirement benefits for its employees. The company started in

1984. The company did not want to become involved with a defined benefit plan be-
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cause of the high administrative and actuarial expense involved. At the same time

it wanted to benefit its loyal long term employees particularly because loyalty is not

a given in this industry. The company adopted a cross-tested plan which had two

groups—employees hired before 1986 and those hired after 1986. The employees
hired before 1986 received a 14% contribution, those hired after received a 7% con-

tribution. This plan suited the goals of the company and all employees received a

significant retirement benefit they had not received before.

Another company, a large incorporated law firm, set up three different groups—
the first for all employees who are over the age of 50, the second group for employ-

ees except associate attorneys who are under the age of 50 and the third group for

associate attorneys who are under the age of 50. The first group is to receive a 12%

contribution, the second group is to receive an 8% contribution and the final group
receives a 3% contribution. Again, this plan suited this company better than any
other type of plan available to it. This plan is certainly not abusive.

There are many options available to companies who are willing to come under the

auspices of the 401(a)(4) regulations. For instance, different divisions can be given

different plan formulas, different groupings of employees, based on service, age or

type of job, can be given varying percentages, additional contributions can be given

to employees who exceed certain production goals, etc., etc.—as long as the complex,
and carefully constructed guidelines of the 401(a)(4) regulations are followed. These

are decent goals and their use should not be curtailed by a reaction that only de-

fined benefit and target benefit plans should be allowed to assist older employees.
While Treasury Department officials have admitted that the proposed ban was an

over-reaction, the dilemma they created continues to work a severe hardship on

small plan sponsors who have elected to use an age or service weighted benefit for-

mula. It has also dissuaded or discouraged many potential small business plan spon-
sors from adopting a retirement plan that gives credit to age or service.

Defined benefit plans which by their very terms assist older employees, realisti-

cally cannot be sponsored by small business. Many companies, particularly mid-size

or smaller, who would provide larger benefits for their older employees, now shy

away from defined benefit plans. Among the reasons are extraordinarily high ad-

ministrative costs and complexity. These additional burdens and complexity have

been added by Congress and IRS over the last ten years.

Therefore, our request of the Senate Finance (Committee is to work with cross-

tested plan sponsors to help convince the Administration to either officially abandon
the repeal of the age-weignted and cross tested plans, or agree upon a mutually

agreeable alternative for curbing aggressive use of cross-testing plans.
The Coalition for Profit Sharing Flexibility has come up with a compromise which

is fair and simple, which we endorse wholeheartedly. The SBCA is a member of the

Coalition for Profit Sharing Flexibility which literally includes every major retire-

ment plan group save ERIC (The ERISA Industry Committee) and APPWP (Associa-

tion of Private Pension and Welfare Plans). Other members of the Coalition include:

the Profit Sharing Council of America (Coalition Chair); the American Council of

Life Insurance (ACLI); the American Society of Pension Actuaries (ASPA), the Asso-

ciation for Advanced Life Underwriting (AALU); the Employee Benefits Policy Asso-

ciation; the Employers Council on Flexible Compensation (ECFC); the National As-

sociation of Life Underwriters (NALU); the National Association of Manufacturers

(NAM); the National Federation of Independent Business (NFIB); the National In-

stitute of Pension Administrators (NIPA); and the U.S. Chamber of Commerce.
This coalition has come up with a fair and workable compromise. This is the only

compromise to date which is based upon simplicity. The importance of simplicity in

this area can no longer be ignored. Unfortunately, SBCA has reviewed two other

proposals which have been advanced by groups which protect the interests of large

employers—both of these proposals suffer from the same fatal fiaw—they are indeci-

pherable.
As mentioned above, the final IRS regulations clearly endorsed the "age-weighted"

and other "cross-tested" plans and set forth a road map for companies to follow so

as to demonstrate nondiscrimination. Over the last four years, these regulations
have been issued in

proposed, final, re-proposed, and finally, final form with the IRS
and Treasury being fully aware of these provisions and how they operate. At each

stage the rules for testing nondiscrimination on a benefits basis have remained es-

sentially the same.
A senior Treasury Official criticized these plans at a press hearing held on Sep-

tember 30 1993 and proposed eliminating them. This same official had signed off

on these 401(a)(4) regulations which explicitly allow age-weighted and cross-tested

plans, less than a month before. Indeed, two days before the press statement criti-

cizing the plans, IRS had announced that it would begin approving individually 'de-

signed age-weighted and other cross-tested plans (September 28, 1993). The PBGC
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legislation because it included language prohibiting these plans thus came as a

major surprise, particularly to practitioners who had relied on the regulations and
the many oral statements of senior IRS and Treasury Officials made at practitioner

continuing legal education conferences explaining how these regulations worked.
This legislation provides that defined contribution plans (other than target benefit

lans) can only be tested for nondiscrimination on the basis of contributions and not

enefits. The effective date for this ban on these plan is for plan years beginning
after September 30, 1993, except for plans that were in existence on that date, the

effective date is for plan years beginning in 1995. Questions still remain as to the

meaning of the effective date.

Privately held companies who had adopted these individually designed plans dis-

covered that what had been set forth by the regulations for more than four years
had within a matter of days been deemed "abusive" and legislation had been intro-

duced to eliminate the newly established plans. Understandably, companies large
and small which had paid money to advisors to establish these plans and/or work
out the numbers to make sure they fell within the parameters of the legislation are

extremely concerned.
The Coalition compromise requires a top-heavy plan that is using the 401(a)(4)

regulations to test a defined contribution plan for nondiscrimination on a benefits

basis to give a minimum 5% contribution to any non-highly compensated employee.
Now this compromise is not perfect, particularly because it singles out businesses
which are privately held for greater burdens by requiring extra contributions for

those who fall within the top-heavy rules. And there is no question that a hike from
3% to 5% is a major price to pay to enter the world of the 401(a)(4) regulations,
particularly when larger businesses have no such road blocks. But despite these real

criticisms, this is a compromise that the Coalition can endorse primarily because of
its inherent simplicity and fairness which must now begin to reign supreme in the
retirement plan area.

SBCA believes that this compromise should only apply to cross-tested plans that
are not age-weighted. It is essential to understand that the top-heavy rules already
single out small businesses for additional burdens and required minimum contribu-
tions. Whether all of these additional requirements are necessary in a system which
is driven by the owners of a business wanting to maximize contributions so that
there is sufficient retirement income is debatable. Whatever the reasons, the small
business plan is almost always more generous than its counterpart in the big busi-
ness arena.

Last year, the National Institute on Aging (NIA) reported that millions of Ameri-
cans in their 50s face an uncertain future, lacking health insurance or pensions, or

fearing that they will lose the benefits they do have. The survey by NIA found that
a substantial number of people—especially minorities—lack pension coverage that
may rob them of a satisfying and successful retirement.
The findings, while shocking, do not' come as a surprise to benefits professionals.

Most of us are aware that in recent years the focus of America's retirement and em-
ployee benefits policy has shifted dramatically for the worse. Those of us concerned
about the viability of the private benefits system know all too well that the budget
deficit and not retirement and savings objectives, has driven almost all debate on
important national issues, including retirement matters.

In March of 1993, the American Academy of Actuaries reported that since 1988
at least 50,000 of America's small business firms—those with less than 25 employ-
ees—have eliminated their defined benefit pension plans leaving their workers with-
out retirement plans. An equal number of small firms, according to the Academy,
chose to replace their defined benefit plan with a defined contribution plan. The
Academy's data is confirmed by the U.S. Department of Labor which reported in its

initial Private Pension Bulletin that defined benefit plans had decreased by 24% be-
tween 1983 and 1989. The DOL reported that the trend shows that we are no longer
seeing a growth in the number of plans nor is the percentage of the workforce with
pension plans growing. Indeed, while the workforce grows, the percentage of covered
workers falls (albeit, there was a small increase in 1992).
This drop in pension plan coverage could not come at a worse time. The graying

of America, and the burden that it will place on future generations, can not be ig-
nored. The American Council of Life Insurance reports that from 1990 to 2025, the

percentage of Americans over 65 years of age will increase by 49%. This jump in
our elderly population signals potentially critical problems for Social Security, Medi-
care and our Nation's programs designed to serve the aged:
While we must assure our citizens that Social Security and Medicare will remain

strong and stable, private pensions, savings and private sources for retiree health
care will have to play a more significant role for tomorrow's retirees. The savings
that will accumulate for meeting this need will contribute to the pool of investible
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capital that will provide the economic growth needed to finance the growing burdens

of Social Security and Medicare. But such savings will not be forthcoming in the

face of the kind of policy directions reflected by the Administration proposal.
While many factors can be cited for the crisis, two stand out—DIMINISHING

TAX INCENTIVES and INCREASED COSTS DUE TO OVERREGULATION. The
loss of tax incentives appears to be directly related to our nation's budget deficit

problems. Reducing the tax incentives for pensions is destructive of our goal of hav-

ing an adequate retirement savings system.
Frequently, the case for reducing the incentive is premised on dubious assump-

tions that the current incentives are not functioning as expected. Oftentimes, advo-

cates for reducing tax incentives employ the politics of envy. Both the Association

of Private Pension Plans and the Employee Benefits Research Institute have re-

cently published treatises that punch holes in the logic of those advocating reduced

tax incentives for retirement savings. While defending current tax incentives is com-

mendable, what's really needed are new tax incentives to overcome the losses of the

past decade.
We are not advocating that pension and employee benefit tax incentives should

be designated as too sacred to touch. What concerns us is that the review and eval-

uations are hasty and seldom subject to adequate public input. Efforts to raise op-

posing views are subjected to budgetary points of order and saddled with the burden
of proposing alternative revenue sources if the questioned policy change is to be re-

moved from the revenue package. This violates the American sense of fair play. We
ask simply that someone speak out against what we see as a patently biased ap-

proach to setting public policy.
The other factor that is contributing to the stagnation of private pension and wel-

fare plans is the unrelenting drive to suffocate our private benefits system with

questionable costs due to increased burdens imposed by regulation. In the above
mentioned American Academy of Actuaries study the reason most given for aban-

doning a pension was the growing burden to comply with government regulation.

Nearly 60% of small employers in the Academy's cited the cost of compliance as the

primary reason for their decision to terminate a defined benefit plan. Almost 30%
of large firms cited this factor also.

Despite the increasing evidence that we are drowning employers in regulations,
the push for more regulations and laws appears unrelenting while the drive to sim-

plify compliance is locked up in legislative stalemate as is the case for the laudable
Pension Simplification Bill.

The SBCA hopes that the Committee will appreciate the valuable contributions
which can be made to our society by allowing the age-weighted and cross-tested

plans to flourish and will either legislatively endorse the compromise set forth by
the Coalition for Profit Sharing Flexibility or abandon this ill-conceived ban on age-
weighted and cross-tested plans entirely.

Prepared Statement of David G. Hirschland

Mr. Chairman, my name is David G. Hirschland. I am the Assistant Director of

the Social Security Department of the International Union, United Automobile,
Aerospace, & Agricultural Implement Workers of America (UAW). The UAW rep-
resents 1.4 million active and retired members of the UAW, most of whom are cov-

ered by defined benefit pension plans. We thank you for the opportunity to testify
on the subject of the proposed Retirement Protection Act of 1993 (S. 1780) and the

problems associated with pension plans that are less than fully funded.
The UAW commends the Administration for its careful review of the financial sta-

tus of pension funds and the Pension Benefit Guaranty Corporation (PBGC), and
the security of the retirement income protection afforded American workers. We
agree with the Administration that there is no immediate crisis facing the PBGC.
At the same time, we also agree with the Administration that there are longer term
concerns that can and should be resolved now.
The legislation which has been developed by the Administration, the proposed Re-

tirement Protection Act of 1993 (S. 1780), focuses on strengthening the funding
rules for pension plans. In our judgment, this is the best way to address the prob-
lem of "underfunded" pension plans. Improving the funded status of pensions di-

rectly improves the retirement income security of plan participants and also helps
to protect the PBGC. The UAW applauds the Administration for taking this positive

approach, rather than an approach which would cut benefit guarantees or restrict

benefit increases.

The UAW strongly opposes proposals others have made to cut the PBGC benefit

guarantees, such as by lengthening the phase-in period for the guarantees or elimi-
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nating the guarantee for plant closing benefits. And we also strenuously oppose pro-

posals that would restrict benefit increases by encumbering corporate assets. Such

proposals would penalize workers and retirees by reducing the security and ade-

quacy of their retirement income. As a result, these proposals are at odds with the
central goals of the Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 1974 (ERISA). In

contrast, the solution advocated by the Administration—requiring quicker, more se-

cure funding of pension plans—is fully consistent with the goals of ERISA.
The problem of "underfunding" in certain pension plans has not been caused by

overly generous PBGC guarantees. Under current law, there are already limits on
the amount of benefits which are guaranteed. More importantly, the five year

Chase-in
of the guarantees provides adequate protection against so-called "deathbed"

enefit increases shortly before a plan termination. Due to the five year phase-in
of the guarantees, companies and unions cannot "conspire" to increase benefits and
then dump the unfunded liabilities onto the PBGC. Thus, there is no need to change
the existing PBGC benefit guarantees.

Similarly, the problem of "underfunding" has not been caused by inappropriate or

excessive benefit increases. While the pension plans negotiated by the UAW with
the Big Three auto companies are currently less than fully funded, over the last two
decades the benefits provided by the plans have continued to replace a relatively
constant percentage of pre-retirement income. The lifetime benefits for our longer
service Big Three retirees have ranged around thirty percent of pre-retirement in-

come. And, the total "thirty-and-out" benefit provided to early retirees not yet eligi-
ble for Social Security (which includes a temporary supplement, as well as a lifetime
benefit) has typically replaced between 50 and 60 percent of pre-retirement earn-

ings.
The reason there has been so much misunderstanding is due in large part, we

believe, to confusion over the difference between salary related plans and flat dollar

plans. Most pension plans, including the plans maintained by the Big Three auto
companies for their management employees, provide pension benefits equal to a set

percentage of the wages or salary or the plan participants. Thus, as salaries grow
oyer time (due to inflation or real increases), the amount of pension benefits pro-
vided under these plans increase automatically. There is no need to amend the
plans every few years to update the benefit levels. Due to the salary-related for-
mulas which are used to calculate benefit levels, this happens automatically.

Unfortunately, the UAW has never been able to negotiate salary-related benefit
formulas in plans which cover rank-and-file workers. Instead, these plans (including
the plans maintained by the Big Three auto companies for UAW members) calculate
benefits based on a flat dollar amount for each of the worker's years of service with
the company. As a result, the pension benefits provided under these plans do not
automatically rise with the growth in wages (due to inflation or real increases). In-

stead, the plans have to be amended every few years to adjust the benefit levels
to keep pace with the growth in wages. Without these ad hoc increases, the real
value of the pension benefits gradually erodes over time, as they replace a lower
and lower percentage of the pre-retirement earnings of workers.
Thus, the criticism which has been directed at tne benefit increases negotiated by

the UAW with the Big Three auto companies is unfair. These increases have not
been excessive or irresponsible. They have simply updated the benefit levels to keep
pace with the growth in wages, so that the real purchasing power of the pension
benefits has not been eroded. These ad hoc benefit increases have simply accom-
plished the same result that happens automatically under management pension
plans.

Proposals that would restrict ad hoc increases in flat dollar plans, such as requir-
ing corporations to put up collateral for these increases, would discriminate against
rank-and-file blue collar workers. In effect blue collar workers would be condemned
to a decreasing standard of living in retirement. It is worth noting that supporters
of these proposals have never suggested that collateral requirements or other re-
strictions should be applied to the automatic benefit increases which occur under
salary-related plans covering management personnel. This amounts to a double
standard, and underscores the unfairness of imposing such restrictions on ad hoc
increases in flat dollar pension plans covering blue collar workers.

In addition to negotiating ad hoc increases that maintain the purchasing power
of pension benefits for rank and file workers, in recent years the UAW has also been
forced to negotiate special early retirement programs to assist in the downsizing of
the Big Three auto companies. Again, these programs have not been excessive or

irresponsible. It is widely recognized that pension plans play an essential role in re-

sponsible and humane efl^orts to downsize a workforce. Many other companies have
instituted similar programs. Congress recently approved such a buyout program to

help reduce the federal workforce. If the UAW had not negotiated these special early
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retirement programs at the Big Three auto companies, thousands of younger work-
ers would have been laid off, resulting in untold human misery and dramatically
increasing the costs to federal, state and local governments in unemployment and
welfare benefits. The efforts of the Big Three auto companies to reorganize would
have been severely hampered, thereby jeopardizing the jobs of the remaining work-
ers. Thus, it clearly does not make sense to restrict or prohibit the types of special

early retirement programs which have been negotiated by the UAW.
If the problem of "underfunding" in certain pension plans has not been caused by

excessive or irresponsible benefit increases, and has not been caused by the PBGC
guarantees, what is the culprit? The answer is really very simple. The inescapable
truth is that these pension plans are not fully funded because the companies have
not contributed sufficient monies to the plans. Thus, the obvious solution is for Con-

gress to enact legislation requiring quicker, more secure funding of these plans.
There are a number of reasons why these pension plans have not been fully fund-

ed. Many of the companies which sponsor these "underfunded" plans have been ex-

periencing severe financial difficulties as a result of the misguided trade and eco-

nomic policies of the previous Administrations. As a result, they have not always
been in a position to aggressively fund their pension plans. At the same time, as
these companies have been forced to downsize, the ratio of retirees to active workers
and the average age of the active workforce have both substantially increased. This
has resulted in higher pension liabilities. Compounding these difficulties is the fact

that many of these same companies also face enormous liabilities for retiree health
care benefits—liabilities which place them at a disadvantage with foreign and do-
mestic competitors.
The UAW is pleased that the Clinton Administration has taken steps to address

these underlying problems. The economic and budget policies of the Administration
have provided a basis for renewed economic growth. We are hopeful that the Admin-
istration's trade initiatives with Japan will alleviate our longstanding trade imbal-
ance with that country, especially in the automotive sector. In addition, the national
health care reform plan developed by the Administration promises to provide health

security to all Americans, while at the same time relieving the unfair competitive
disadvantage currently suffered by the Big Three auto companies with respect to
health care costs. The combination of all of these initiatives can play a powerful role
in enabling the Big Three auto companies and other employers to provide better

funding for their pension plans.
Contrary to the suggestions of some observers, there has never been any under-

standing between the UAW and the Big Three auto companies to leave our pension

Elans
"underfunded." In order to establish the principle that pension plans should

e pre-funded, rather than being operated on a pay-as-you-go basis, the UAW struck
Chrysler in 1950 for over 100 days. Furthermore, we strongly supported the enact-
ment of ERISA's minimum funding standards in 1974; and we then worked to tight-
en these funding standards in 1987 when the OBRA changes were enacted.

Recently, each of the Big Three auto companies has taken steps to contribute sub-
stantially more than the amounts required under ERISA. In 1993, Chrysler contrib-
uted over $2.0 billion to its pension plans for UAW members and has contributed
almost $1 billion so far in 1994. Chrysler has also announced its intention to fully
fund its pension liabilities, on the accounting basis, by the end of 1994. During
1992, Ford contributed $1.4 billion to its UAW-hourly pension- plan; in 1993, they
contributed $700 million, and so far in 1994, they have contributed another $700
million. General Motors is presently moving to improve the funding of its pension
plan. Its Board of Directors has approved an aggressive funding approach whereby
the Company expects to make their plans fully funded by the year 2000. A welcome
step towards this goal is their recent announcement of a $10 billion contribution of
stock and cash to the hourly plan in addition to the $1.9 billion contribution already
made in 1994. The UAW has welcomed these voluntary efforts to improve the fund-
ed status of our plans.

Nevertheless, the UAW believes there is still a need to enact changes in ERISA's
minimum funding standards to require companies with "underfunded" pension
plans to gradually improve

the funded status of those plans over a reasonable period
of time. Only through legislation can we be assured that necessary contributions
will be made. That is why we are pleased the Administration has endorsed this ap-
proach in the Retirement Protection Act of 1993 (S. 1780).
The UAW supports a number of specific reforms to strengthen ERISA's funding

rules and improve the funded status of pension plans. Specifically, we support tight-
ening the Deficit Reduction Contribution reauired under OBRA '87 to assure that
a plan's funded status actually improves. In this regard, we believe:

1. The double counting of gains and losses in the Funding Standard Account and
in the Deficit Reduction Contribution calculations must be eliminated;
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2. Actuarial assumptions and interest rates should be required to be responsive

to standards that reflect actual plan performance and market conditions, so they

cannot be used as tools to minimize required contributions;

3. The Deficit Reduction Contribution formula must also be strengthened in order

to move plans more quickly toward a fully-funded position; and,
4. Plan sponsors should be required to recognize for funding purposes any benefit

increases that have been negotiated, even if they have not yet become effective

under a collective bargaining agreement.
The UAW also believes that some transition rules are needed to make sure that

the tougher funding rules do not jeopardize the economic viability of some compa-
nies. We are pleased that the Administration has included a transition rule in (S

1780). But we are concerned about the application of the Administration's transition

rule to future increases in pension liabilities. These increases may result, for exam-

ple, from poor investment performance or significant reductions in the interest rate

used for valuing current liabilities. Regardless of the reason for the increased liabil-

ities, under the Administration's transition rule, these additional liabilities can lead

to dramatic swings in the amount of contributions which a company is required to

make from one year to another. This would make it more difficult for a company
to meet its pension obligations, and could aggravate the company's financial difricul-

ties.

The UAW believes that the strengthened funding rules should provide for a rel-

atively stable and predictable funding requirement. This can be accomplished by
permitting sudden changes in current liabilities, which occur in any year, to be
funded over three years; that is, to be phased-in to the targeted funding percentage
over three years. This will increase the funded status of the plan to the same posi-
tion it would have reached over the three year period under the Administration's

approach, but with a leveling of the contributions required in any given year as a
result of the increased liability. Our proposal would reduce dramatic fluctuations in

required funding, without diminishing appreciably the movement of a plan to a
more fully funded position.
The UAW also supports the enactment of a plan solvency rule that will assure

that underfunded plans are able to pay promised benefits even as they improve
their funded status. It makes sense to require a plan to maintain liquid assets equal
to expected near-term benefits and other plan obligations.
The UAW strongly opposes the provision in the Administration's bill which would

increase the variable rate premium by phasing out the cap. If enacted, this change
would place a substantial additional financial burden on companies. Instead of re-

quiring companies with underfunded plans to pay additional premiums to the
PBGC, the UAW believes it would be preferable to have these funds go into pension
plans directly.
We understand that the Administration has proposed an increase in the variable

rate premium in order to offset the "revenue loss" associated with the tougher fund-

ing rules and to make the overall bill revenue neutral. The UAW urges Congress
not to let the arcane rules of budget scoring force bad policy. Either some other reve-
nue source should be found, or the entire bill should be exempted from the normal
budget rules. Since the tougher funding rules will help to protect the PBGC from
additional unfunded pension liabilities, they should not be scored as revenue losers.

The Administration should not be required to find revenue sources to offset these

prudent funding proposals.
With respect to the other provisions in the Administration's bill, the UAW be-

lieves the PBGC should have advance notice of reportable events which could
threaten a plan's funding or viability. We also support giving PBGC the authority
to challenge corporate transactions which could undermine the adequacy of plan
funding.
The PBGC has raised concerns over increases in benefits to participants while a

corporation is in bankruptcy. The UAW believes it is unduly harsh to prohibit bene-
fit increases in this situation. Current law protects the PBGC because these benefit
increases are phased-in over a period of up to five years. Furthermore, a total prohi-
bition on benefit increases would deny increases to workers employed by healthy
businesses, which find themselves in bankruptcy only because of the insolvency of
a sister corporation. Finally, benefits in management pension plans that are salary-
related would be automatically increased if any pay raises are granted during the

bankruptcy process. Thus, the proposal unfairly discriminates against blue collar
workers whose benefits are typically provided through flat dollar plans.
We are in agreement that the PBGC should have more timely access to financial

information dealing with both plan sponsors themselves and their pension plans.
The information should pertain to certain cases of severe plan underfunding, or
cases involving significant amounts of missed or waived contributions. In addition.
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we believe that the PBGC should have authority to enforce minimum funding stand-

ards in PBGC-covered plans. We also support measures requiring plan sponsors to

inform participants when a plan is "underfunded," and to advise them that there

are limits to the guarantees provided by the PBGC. However, we are concerned that

the implementation of the notice procedure should be handled carefully so as not

to cause undue panic among covered participants. v u u
There are two additional items not covered by the Administration s bill which the

UAW believes should be addressed by Congress in any pension legislation. First, the

PBGC has argued that the Pension Protection Act of 1987 curtailed the rights of

participants and their representatives in recovering non-guaranteed benefits m the

event of a plan termination. In at least one reported case, the PBGC prevailed in

that argument and participants there were prevented from asserting contractual

claims for non-guaranteed benefits. We believe Congress should clarify the right of

plan participants and their representatives to assert claims for non-guaranteed ben-

efits they oflen lose in many underfunded plan terminations.

Second, Title IV of ERISA requires the PBGC to guarantee pension benefits of de-

fined benefit pension plans. Under a previous Administration, the PBGC took the

position that when the liabilities for these benefits have been provided for by the

purchase of annuities from an insurance company, the agency no longer is respon-

sible for these benefits. The UAW believes this position is directly contrary to the

intent of Congress when it enacted the Single Employer Pension Plan Amendments
Act of 1986. If this erroneous interpretation by the PBGC is not corrected, the secu-

rity of pensions, as required by Title IV, would be drastically eroded. We urge you
to reassert the PBGC's role in guaranteeing pension benefits regardless of the insti-

tution that is paying the benefits to retirees and their surviving spouses.
In conclusion, Mr. Chairman, the UAW appreciates the opportunity to testify on

the subject of the Retirement Protection Act of 1993 (S. 1780). We are firmly com-

mitted to the objective of improving the funded status of pension plans. We look for-

ward to working with you and the other Members of this Committee as you consider

this critically important issue. Thank you.

Prepared Statement of James M. Jeffords

It is a pleasure to come before you Mr. Chairman, as well as the other distin-

guished members of this Committee to testify about the problems confronting the

defined-benefit pension system and the Pens ion Benefit Guaranty Corporation
(PBGC). I commend you for your interest in this issue. As you know, there is not

a huge popular interest in PBGC reform. But there are tremendously important
public policy implications for the retirement income security of all Americans. I

don't need to remind you that the Social Security system was never intended to be

the total financing package for everyone's retirement. The Social Security system
was based on the theory that it was but one leg of a three legged stool—the other

two legs were private pensions and individual savings.
Before I share with you my own view of the problem and my recommended solu-

tions I would like to highlight a major fact that seems to have escaped our thought-
ful debate on health care reform. As you know the Labor Committee has just com-

pleted three weeks of debate and deliberations and was the first full committee to

report out a bill. Mr. Chairman, as your Committee works to produce a health care

bill I hope you will keep the following point at the forefront of why it is essential

to pass health care reform this year.
Mr. Chairman, I'd like you to take a look at the graphs I have brought with me.

I have been very concerned about the trend many employers have taken in either

underfunding pension plans or terminating them completely. My theory has been
that employers are spending so much money on providing health care benefits—
there is not enough money in the coffers to provide for their employees retirement

income. Thus, many employers are making benefit promises they can never keep—
knowing that the Federal government will save the day. At my request, the Em-
ployee Benefit Research Institute put together the data for these charts. As you can

see, in 1965 private employers were actually putting slightly more money into pen-
sion benefits than health benefits—by a ratio of 56% to 44%. But by 1991, the ratio

dramatically turned to 79% for health and only 21% for pensions. Interestingly, the

public sector, of which we are a part, has continued to fund for employee retirement.

As an additional note, as private pension funding has taken a nose dive people are

actually living longer. The average life expectancy for men in 1965 was 67 years—
in 199i it was 72 years. For women, 74 years and 79 years respectively.
As a leader in the Social Security trust fund debates I know that you are as con-

cerned as I am about the financial security of older Americans. As the baby-boomers



56

hit retirement age we will soon only have a two-to-one ratio of people paying into

Social Security versus people on Social Security. As if Social Security problems were

not enough—this trend of dramatic reductions in private employer spending on pen-
sion benefits emphasizes the retirement income crisis our country will face in the

next ten to twenty years if nothing is done. We need to make sure that in solving

the health care problem we don't rob the pension bank or else we are going to have

lots of old healthy people living in one room shacks.

Now onto the issue of underfunded pensions. Today, the PBGC guarantees over

$53 billion in unfunded pension promises made by single-employer pension plans.

Of this unfunded liability, the PBGC estimates that over $13 billion will very likely

be a real liability for the agency. The PBGC's current deficit of $2.9 billion, in its

single-employer program, is a dramatic increase over just a few years ago. And the

slow down of this growth is nowhere in sight.
As you are all aware, the problem isn't new. Since before 1987, this Committee

and the other committees dealing with pension issues have been aware of the fact

that big companies, in troubled times, are able to take advantage of the Federal gov-
ernment's defined benefit pension plan insurance system. They promise big pensions
to their workers, continually increasing benefits while at the same time making the

most minimum funding contributions permitted under the law. These troubled com-

panies eventually terminate their pension plans and shift the cost of their pension
debt to the PBGC and renege on promises made to their workers.

Although we addressed this problem in 1987, unfortunately we did not go far

enough. Here we are again in 1994, looking at a looming PBGC deficit. Companies
and unions continue to use the PBGC not just as an insurer of last resort, but rath-
er as a silent partner with deep pockets, at contract negotiations for wages and ben-
efits.

In the previous Congress, Senator Durenberger and I introduced legislation that
would make sure that companies with underfunded pension plans would be held ac-
countable for providing their workers the benefits they promised. Workers need to

be assured that employers promises of increased pension benefits is more than a
mere illusion. Workers need to know that employers will be held accountable for the

promises they make. And employers should only promise what they can afford.

Congressman Jake Pickle, Chairman of the House Subcommittee on Oversight of
the Ways and Means Committee also introduced a companion bill in the House. This
legislative session. Senator Nancy Kassebaum has joined Senator Durenberger and
I in reintroducing our bill, "The Pension Funding Improvement Act of 1993," S. 105.
The bill has also been reintroduced in the House by Jake Pickle, as H.R. 298.

I'd like to take a moment to commend Secretary Reich, and other representatives
of the Clinton Administration here today for their commitment in addressing the
financial status of the PBGC by proposing the Retirement Protection Act of 1993.

Although there are differences in our bills, these are predominately in the way to

get to our ultimate goal getting underfunded pens ion plans FUNDED. As in health
care reform, if we work on a bi-partisan basis we can solve this problem this year.
Indeed, this is a much simpler task, as the issues are more limited and consensus
more easily obtained.
The Pension Funding Improvement Act of 1993 is a three part bill. Part I of the

bill includes stronger funding rules for underfunded pension plans to ensure faster

funding of present unfunded obligations. Part II prevents a bad situation from get-
ting worse, by reauiring underfunded plan sponsors to immediately fund up their

plan or put up collateral in order to increase pension benefits. Part III of the bill

includes a Congressional Budget Office and PBGC study of what premium increases
would be necessary to balance the PBGC's accounts.
We have heard from unions, affiliated with the auto and steel industries, that

companies who offer fiat benefit pensions to workers simply cannot afford to put
more money into their pension plans.

Yet they continue to increase benefits. I am
deeply troubled by this. Especially since companies like USX Corporation and Ford
Motor company, which have the same type of plan, have been able to do the job.
These companies do the right thing and fund their plan. However, they must com-
pete against rivals who put far less into their pension plan in order to sustain the

operating budgets of their companies.
If we simply increase premiums to solve the PBGC's deficit problem, we are send-

ing a signal to USX, Ford and others, that not only do they have to pay for their
own pension benefits, at some point they will need to pay for the benefits of their

competitors. At what point does USX and Ford say they've had enough of this? I'm
not sure. PBGC has estimated that under a middle of the road scenario premiums
will need to increase to $58 per participant for well funded plans and to, as much
as, $219 per participant for underfunded plans. That $219 is still a bargain for a
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plan with a good chance of terminating. But is not such a bargain for a well funded

plan that will never really need PBGC, even if the plan should end.

Over the past two years, the PBGC, the General Accounting Office, and the Con-

gressional Budget Office have all testified about the 'sorry state of our termination

insurance program. They also have stated that the problem will only get worse, and
at some point in time require a Congressional bailout, if changes in the law are not

made. We can no longer wait to change the law. There is no excuse for allowing
a small number of plans to continue to abuse our current system for their owai ad-

vantage while placing workers, retirees, other responsible plan sponsors, and tax-

payers at risk. Therefore, I respectfully ask this Committee to do the right thing.

Let's work on a bi-partisan basis and iron out our differences so we can act soon

to change the law. The future of the defined benefit plan system depends on it.

In closing, I would like to highlight a part of the Administration's proposal to

which I must strongly object. Through their legislation the Administration would

eliminate age-weighted profit sharing plans. First, I do not believe that a PBGC bill,

intended to reform the funding rules for defined benefit plans, is the proper place
to propose an all out ban on age-weighted and cross-tested plans

Second, these types of pension plans have gained a lot of attention and many
businesses are using them because they are an extremely flexible way to offer pen-
sion benefits in the workplace. Plan sponsors have spent millions of dollars over the

past several years designing and testing plans in reliance on the consistent position
of the IRS and the rules that they have established. I realize that there has been
some abuses in this area where rank and file employees are discriminated in favor

of highly compensated employees. Well, let's fix the problem by either requiring
minimum contributions for lower paid workers or by putting restrictions on plans
that blatantly discriminate against younger, rank and file workers. But keep in

mind that these pension plans are similar to defined benefit plans, since they re-

ward older employees of all income levels with higher contributions and give lower

contributions to younger employees who have more time to finance their retirement.

More importantly, let's not kill one of the first vehicles that has come along in a

while that actually gives employers incentives to offer pension plans to their work-
ers. I look forward to working with you Mr. Chairman and the Administration in

developing a compromise solution to this problem.
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STATEMENT OF THE ERISA INDUSTRY COMMITTEE
BEFORE THE COMMITTEE ON HNANCE

OF THE
UNITED STATES SENATE
HEARING ON S.1780

THE RETIREMENT PROTECTION ACT OF 1993

JUNE 15, 1994

PRESENTED BY
CHESTER S. LABEDZ, JR.

TEXTRON INC.

Chairman Moynihan and members of the Committee, good morning.

My name is Chester S. Labedz, Jr. I am pleased to appear before you today on

behalf of The ERISA Industry Committee, generally known as "ERIC."

I am the Chairman of ERIC's Title IV Task Force. In that capacity I

have participated actively in the formulation and presentation of ERIC's positions

on pension funding and termination insurance issues for many years. I also serve as

Vice President - Human Resources at Textron Defense Systems.

THE ERISA INDUSTRY COMMITTEE

ERIC represents the employee benefits interests of the nation's largest

employers. Nearly all of ERIC's members employ more than 10,000 employees, and

a number of them have hundreds of thousands of employees. ERIC's members

share with the members of the Committee a strong interest in the success,

expansion, and security of the private-sector employee benefit plan system. Virtually

all of ERIC's members sponsor one or more defined benefit pension plans. These

plans have been remarkably successful in addressing the retirement security needs of

millions of employees and their beneficiaries.

ERIC has vigorously supported in the past, and continues to support

strong pension funding standards and a sound termination insurance program. Over

the years, ERIC has devoted thousands of hours and committed a substantial

portion of its resources to supporting legislation that will improve pension funding
and strengthen the single-employer termination insurance system.

On June 8, 1993, ERIC presented to the Congress and the

Administration a plan to strengthen pension funding rules and the government

program that guarantees benefits under defined benefit pension plans. (See
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Attachment "A".) The proposal reflects the consensus of a broad range of major

employers, including both those sponsoring fully funded plans and those sponsoring

less than fully funded plans, on changes needed to provide an effective and coherent

structure for funding defined benefit pension plan promises.

I respectfully ask that my written statement, and the ERIC proposal

(Attachment "A"), together with two additional proposals (Attachments "B" and "C")

that ERIC developed in response to S.1780, be included in the full hearing record.

ERIC SUPPORTS A STRONG DEHNED BENEnT PLAN SYSTEM

A vibrant defined benefit plan system and a sound termination

insurance program require a regulatory environment that —

encourages the formation and continuation of voluntary pension plans,

encourages employers to make only the pension promises they can keep and

to keep the promises they make, and

protects employees where protection is necessary and consistent with the

foregoing principles.

These objectives are fully consistent with the purposes of the

termination insurance program and the mission of the Pension Benefit Guaranty

Corporation ("PBGC) stated in ERISA:

^ to encourage the continuation and maintenance of voluntary private pension

plans for the benefit of participants,

to provide for the timely and uninterrupted payment of pension benefits to

participants and beneficiaries, and

^ to maintain termination insurance premiums at the lowest level consistent

with carrying out the PBGC's obligations.

The private pension system is a voluntary system. To the extent that

employers cease forming new plans or terminate existing plans, retirement security is

diminished: fewer workers earn pension benefits, the termination insurance premium
base is eroded, and the retirement security of all workers is weakened. Sound

funding standards are essential to the success of the private pension system;

however, any revisions to the funding standards or to the termination insurance
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program that make excessive demands on employers will discourage the formation

and expansion of pension plans.

The premium rates under the termination insurance program raise a

similar issue. Although the PBGC requires premium payments in order to meet its

obligations, we are gravely concerned that escalating PBGC premiums will

encourage employers to abandon defined benefit plans.

As an alternative to raising premiums, ERIC has proposed a package
of amendments to the Internal Revenue Code (IRC) that will (1) increase tax

revenue, (2) reduce administrative costs, and (3) increase corporate executives'

interest in maintaining well-funded pension plans. The ERIC proposal would extend

and expand the ability, under IRC §420, of pension plans to use excess assets to pay
retiree medical benefits; repeal the administratively complex, but seldom applicable,
limit in IRC §415(e) on benefits provided by a combination of defined benefit and
defined contribution plans; and amend IRC §401(a)(16) to allow plans that are in

full funding to pay excess plan benefits. These proposals are described in detail in

Attachment "B". We are pleased that Senator Danforth has requested a revenue

estimate on the §420 transfer provision and appreciate his interest and the interest

of others on the Committee in this proposal.

In addition, ERIC developed modifications to the Administration's

proposal in S.1780 to eliminate the ability of defined contribution plans to satisfy the

Treasury Department's nondiscrimination requirements by testing the plans on a

benefits basis ~ a procedure commonly called "cross-testing." The Administration

proposal is irrelevant to the central concern of the bill. It ap|>ears to be motivated,
not by concern for the security of defined benefit plans, but by revenue

considerations and concerns regarding the application of the Treasury's recently
issued nondiscrimination regulations to defined contribution plans. In any event, the

proposal is far broader than necessary to achieve these aims. There are many large,

long-standing, and nondiscriminatory plans that rely on cross-testing, and
Administration representatives have stated publicly that the Administration does not

intend to prohibit these plans from continuing to use cross-testing. Accordingly, the

Administration's proposal must be substantially narrowed. Attachment "C" to this

statement presents ERIC's recommendation on how to refine the Administration's

over-broad cross-testing proposal.

S. 1780

IN GENERAL . Although S.1780 is intended to address pension

funding and security issues constructively, the bill does not address the fundamental
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problems facing defined benefit plans. S.1780 appears to be designed primarily to

protect the PBGC, rather than the plans that the PBGC insures. For example, the

bill proposes a substantial increase in PBGC premiums by lifting the dollar limit on

the variable rate premium. In our view, however, the central focus of any legislation

should not be to "fix" the PBGC, but should be to place the private pension system

on a solid foundation. A premium increase will not do this. In fact, if the pension

funding standards are appropriately reformed, the premium rate can be and should

be reduced. This must be done if we are to maintain a vibrant defined benefit plan

system.

S. 1780 does require more rapid funding of defined benefit plans.

However, the bill's requirements not only leave the PBGC exposed, but are so harsh

and volatile that they will cause serious harm to the defined benefit system,

especially after the end of the temporary relief provided during the bill's transition

period.

By contrast, in developing its proposal, ERIC focused on establishing

funding standards that require faster funding of new obligations under the basic

funding rules that apply before a plan experiences in financial difficulty and that are

designed to avoid large fluctuations from year to year in the amounts employers are

required to contribute to. their plans.

Although we have objections to numerous provisions of S.1780, we

would like to focus today on four features of the bill that give us particularly strong

concerns:

the bill's mandated interest and mortality assumptions,

the bill's highly volatile and unpredictable contribution requirements,

the bill's failure to provide appropriate transition from the current funding

requirements to the bill's new funding requirements, and

the bill's proposal to authorize the PBGC to interfere with and disrupt many

normal, nonabusive business transactions.

MANDATED ASSUMPTIONS . S.1780 would narrowly restrict the

interest rates that may be used to determine a plan's current liability for funding

purposes. In addition, the bill would require all plans to use the same mortality

table to determine their current liability. Although these proposals might appear to

be technical and innocuous, they are extremely substantive, and they will have a

severe effect on the pension funding requirements. ERIC believes that the

proposals are inappropriate and strongly objects to both of them.
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(1) Interest Assumptions. Under the bill, the interest assumption used to calculate

a plan's current liability could not be more than 100 percent or less than 90 percent

of the trailing four-year weighted average of the rates of interest on 30-year

Treasury bonds. Currently, an interest rate of up to 110 percent of this average can

be used.

Because pension funds are typically invested in a diversified array of

corporate debt and equity securities, and not exclusively in Treasury bonds, their

normal rate of return is substantially higher than the average return on Treasury

bonds. For example, while the four-year average Treasury rate was approximately

8.8% during the last four years, most pension funds expected to earn above 8.8%

and actual returns were even higher than expected. Many plans had average

earnings between 12% and 16% during this period.

The Treasury bond rate substantially understates the rate of return

that pension funds can be expected to earn and therefore overstates the present

value of their future liability. Current law attempts to recognize this fact by allowing

a plan to use a rate of up to 110% of the Treasury bond rate.

ERISA already requires the plan's actuary to use reasonable actuarial

assumptions for funding purposes, and we do not think there is any need to mandate

assumptions that are more conservative than necessary. Even the Financial

Accounting Standards Board ("FASB"), which establishes the financial accounting
standards for corporate financial statements, requires the use of a corporate bond

rate, rather than the Treasury bond rate. At the end of 1993, high-quality corporate

bonds were yielding from 7.0% to 7.5%, which is far more than 100% of the then-

prevailing Treasury bond rate of 6.25% that would have been required under the

Administration's bill.

Calculations made by ERIC members show that the bill's mandated

interest assumption can produce liabilities that are from 5% to 10% greater than

those produced by the conservative FASB interest assumption and nearly 30%

higher than the liabilities measured using the rate of return expected to be earned

by the funds. I have attached to my statement a chart that illustrates how the bill's

mandated interest assumption will dramatically overstate the amount that an

employer needs to fund. {See Chart immediately following written statement.)

(2) Mortality Assumptions. Under the bill, the mortality table used to

determine a plan's current liability would be the most recent standard table

prescribed by the National Association of Insurance Commissioners to determine the

reserves for group annuity contracts. Currently, the standard table is the GAM 1983

mortality table; the table is expected to change within the next year to the GAM
1994 mortality table.
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The proposal to mandate the use of a uniform mortality assumption is

unjustified. The mortality experience of individual plans often varies significantly,
and there is no sound reason for prohibiting the liability of an individual plan from

being calculated on the basis of the plan's projected experience, rather than on the
basis of a uniform table that is not based on the plan's experience.

The bill also mandates the use of the GAM 1983 table for disabled

participants as well as for healthy participants. Applying the GAM 1983 table to
disabled participants may be inappropriate and can greatly overstate the plan's
liability to these participants.

As I mentioned earlier, ERISA currently requires the plan's actuary to

adopt reasonable actuarial assumptions for funding purposes. There is no
justification for overriding the actuary's judgment by requiring the use of

assumptions that are demonstrably inappropriate in many cases.

This is not just a technical point. Calculations by ERIC members
indicate that if the GAM 1983 table is mandated, the estimated present value of
their pension liabilities will increase by as much as 8 - 19%.

The use of demonstrably inappropriate mortality assumptions to
overstate a plan's liabilities is unjustified. It will impose excessive and unnecessary
financial burdens on employers, and it ultimately will lead to overfunding of pension
plans.

Taken together, the bill's mandated assumptions raise liabilities in

some plans as much as 20% over those produced by the conservative estimates used
in company financial statements. In addition, the artificially high liabilities created

by the bill's mandated assumptions will subject many plans that are adequately
funded for current needs to pay a variable rate premium for the first time.

Moreover, under the bill, the variable rate premium amount would be uncapped.
This is an unreasonable diversion of funds that otherwise could be productively used
for additional plan contributions or for business investment purposes and further
erodes the long-term stability and health of the defined benefit system.

VOLATILE AND UNPREDICTABLE CONTRIBUTION
REQUIREMENTS . S.1780 revises the current pension funding standards primarily
by strengthening the "deficit reduction contribution" requirements of current law and

expanding their application. (The deficit reduction contribution of current law is a

funding requirement that is applied in addition to normal funding requirements.)

ERIC believes it is a mistake to focus on the deficit reduction
contribution. The deficit reduction contribution applies only to plans whose funding
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condition is less than optimal and thus applies only after the plan has experienced

funding difficulties. A deficit reduction contribution is thus an after-the-fact remedy.

The deficit reduction contribution requirement also significantly

increases the volatility and unpredictability of the funding requirements. A plan can

be subject to the deficit reduction contribution requirement in some years but not in

others, depending on interest rate fluctuations, collective bargaining cycles,

investment results, and other variables — most of which are outside of the control of

the plan sponsor. As a result, a plan can be subject to markedly different

contribution requirements from one year to the next, depending on whether the

deficit reduction contribution requirement applies in that year. Highly volatile and

unpredictable contribution requirements discourage employers from adopting or

expanding defined benefit plans and make it difficult for companies to make reliable

long-term plans. This is not in the interest of our economy or the defined benefit

plan system.

The Administration has stated that it has focused its recommendations

on the deficit reduction contribution in order to affect only plans that are

underfunded. However, the Administration's bill affects many plans that have assets

adequate to meet current liabilities. In addition, under the bill's volatile funding
rules, plans may bounce in and out of the bill's harsh funding requirements from one

year to the next, causing substantial and unnecessary disruption in a business's

operations.

Ln addition, the deficit reduction contribution often saddles an

employer with its heaviest funding obligations at the time it can least afford to bear

them: at the down point of the business cycle, when security prices and asset values

also can be depressed, and when the employer's cash position typically is weak.

Deficit reduction contributions thus can impair the ability of an employer to recover

from its current financial difficulties.

We recommend that the Committee focus instead on fashioning strong
and appropriate basic funding standards that require faster funding of new

obligations under the basic funding rules which apply before the plan is subject to a

deficit reduction contribution requirement. This will lead to sounder long-run

funding and reduce the highly volatile contribution requirements that are the

inevitable result under S.1780.

ERIC asks the Committee to address these concerns in its deliberations. ERIC
will be pleased to work with the Committee in this regard.
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POST-TRANSITION WALL. S.1780 includes a transition rule that

limits the mandatory increase in the level of an employer's contributions for seven

years.

We appreciate the stated objective of the proposed transition rule: to

prevent the bill's funding requirements from becoming excessive. However, the

proposal merely defers the full impact of the bill's funding requirements.

The result of the Administration's proposal is that an employer can hit

a "wall" of new contribution requirements as soon as the tiansition period expires.

For example, one company estimates that although the proposed transition rule will

moderate the increases in its funding obligations for seven years, the company's
annual funding obligations will skyrocket after the transition period expires and will

virtually double in 2002 and 2003 (the first two years after the transition period

expires). Other companies may not have to make additional contributions, other

than those required by current law, during the Administration bill's transition period,
but will face additional requirements as soon as the transition period expires. By
contrast, under the ERIC proposal, some companies would make higher
contributions in the early years than what is required under S.1780, but would not

hit a contribution "wall" in the out years.

We strongly support designing and phasing-in new funding

requirements so that an employer will not bit a "wall" like that established by the

Administration's proposal.

PBGC INTERFERENCE WITH NORMAL BUSINESS
TRANSACTIONS . S.1780 requires employers with more than $50 million in

unfunded vested benefits to give advance notice to the PBGC of certain business

sales and other dispositions and allows the PBGC to hold up the transaction and to

bring an enforcement action in court if the parties do not meet any demands that

the PBGC makes to protect its interests (such as by seeking additional funding or

collateral).

We strongly oppose this provision. The provision will allow the PBGC
to interfere with and disrupt many normal, nonabusive business transactions that are

not based on pension considerations. The PBGC will have undue leverage in these

circumstances. If the parties wish to consummate a proposed transaction, they will

have no practical alternative to meeting the PBGC's demands. Moreover, in many
cases, if a transaction cannot be consummated promptly, it will not be consummated
at all. As a result, a PBGC demand often will terminate a proposed transaction.

It is important to understand that these provisions will affect all

businesses, not just businesses with underfunded pension plans. The prospect of
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PBGC intervention may deter businesses with well-funded plans from entering into

business arrangements that make economic sense (for example, an acquisition of a

company with an underfunded plan by a company with a fully funded plan).

Businesses with underfunded plans will have their economic health materially

harmed because they will find that the potential for PBGC intervention will cause

fewer companies to be willing to engage in transactions with them. The results will

gravely harm both the economy as a whole and the security and strength of the

defined benefit system in particular.

The PBGC should not be given this inordinate authority. Although
there is a substantial risk that the proposed provision will interfere with, and even

prevent, commonplace and unobjectionable business transactions, the Administration

has not shown that the provision is essential to improving the PBGC's financial

condition. The key to the security of the private pension system and the PBGC is

improved funding, not the introduction of unnecessary and disruptive enforcement

techniques.

CONCLUSION

As I mentioned earlier, ERIC has a long history of supporting strong

pension funding standards and a sound termination insurance program. Indeed,

ERIC's proposal appears to require faster funding for some companies for the

remainder of this decade than does the Administration's proposal. Although we

object to many of the Administration's proposals, we support improvements in the

current pension funding standards and the termination insurance program. We are

willing to work with the Committee and its staff to explore whether there is room
for compromise that will accommodate our concerns.

We urge the Committee to revise S.1780 to address issues I have

voiced today regarding interest and mortality assumptions, the volatility of the

contribution requirements, the proposed transition rule, and PBGC enforcement.

Although we also have other significant concerns with the bill, we believe that

progress is most likely to be made if agreement can be reached on these important
issues first

We thank you, Mr. Chairman, for the opportunity to testify. We look

forward to working with the Committee and its staff on improvements in the funding
standards and the termination insurance program for defined benefit pension plans.

G/r/RNANCE-TrV
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How Much Funding is Enough?

H.R.3396 & S.1780 Impose Pension Funding Targets
That Far Exceed Actual Plan Needs

Several large employers have measured the value of their plan

liabilities, using various interest and mortality assumptions. The chart on the

following page compiles the data from these plans, some of which are

underfunded and some of which are fully funded under current law. The

chart shows the dramatic increase in the estimated value of liabilities that is

caused by the Administration's pension fiinding and Pension Benefit

Guaranty Corporation (PBGC) reform legislation (H.R.3396/S. 1780), which

mandates that all plans use the same specified interest and mortality

assumptions, regardless of whether the assumptions are appropriate for each

plan.

To have a plan whose assets meet the pension funding targets in

H.R.3396/S.1780, an employer must take scarce cash that otherwise would

fund ongoing business operations, research, and development, and deposit

the cash in its pension plan, even though there is little reason to believe the

cash will be needed to fund the plan's current benefit liabilities. The chart

on the following page illustrates this point.
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COLUMN A : Combined plan liabilities using current long-term earnings assumptions and plan-specific mortality

assumptions. These assumptions are appropriate because pension funds have diversified portfolios that yield higher

average returns than Treasury or corporate bonds and because many plans have mortality experience that differs

sigmficantiy from the insurance company experience on which standard mortality tables are based.

COLUMN B : FY 1993 FASB discount rate and plan-specific mortality assumptions. The FASB discount rate is

based on returns on corporate bonds. Measuring liabilities on this basis meets the conservative funding standard

required by the SEC for disclosure in a company's financial statements.

COLUMN C : Mandated interest proposed in H.R.3396/S. 1 780 and plan-specific mortality assumptions.

COLUMN D : Mandated interest and mortality assumptions proposed in H. R. 3396/S. 1 780.

Columns C and D show the impact of the mandated interest and mortality assumptions proposed in the

Administration's bill. For the plans surveyed, this produces an increase in estimated liability of 1 1.9% beyond that

deemed sufficient by the SEC (which requires a measure oT investment return that is significantly below actual plan

investment experience).

COLUMN E : Required interest rate for calculating PBGC premiums and mandated mortality assumptions. Under

H.R. 3396/S. 1780. any plan that falls $1.00 below full funding (as measured under Column D) must pay a variable

rate premium to the PBGC. The amount of the premium is based on liabilities that are measured by using an

interest assumption that is even lower than that used under Columns C and D. together with the bills" mandated

mortality assumptions.
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The ERISA Industry Committee ATTACHMENT A

Pension Funding and ERISA Title IV:

A Proposal For Relorin

Introduction

The ERISA Itidustry Committee (ERIC)^' has for many years recognized that something must be done

to strengthen defined benefit pension plan funding and the Pension Benefit Guaranty Corporation's (PBGC)
termination insurance program. We have been in the forefront of efforts to strengthen plan funding and the

termination insurance system. Over the past year, a task force that included a cross-section of ERIC members

from a variety of industries has worked intensely to develop recommendations for remedial legislation.

As a result our task force's efforts, ERIC has adopted a proposal that is designed to protect defined

benefit plans and their participants through a combination of accelerated funding for plans with unfunded current

liabilities, coordinating the funding rules with the tax deduction rules and PBGC guarantees, and clarifying and

reforming the PBGCs status in bankruptcy.

ERIC does not believe that "fixing the PBGC should be the central focus of reform. If more money is

to be committed to the defined benefit plan system, it should be invested where it will do the most good; in the

pension plans themselves in the form of increased funding.

A premium increase is not the solution to the problems of the defined benefit plan system. With

adequate funding, the premium rate can be and must be reduced if we are to maintain a vibrant defined benefit

plan system.

A vibrant defined benefit system includes a sound termination insurance program and a regulatory

environment that:

^ encourages the formation and continuation of voluntary pension plans;

encourages employers to make only the pension promises they can keep, and to keep the promises they

make; and

does not give employers or unions a blank check on which they can make pension promises that they
cannot keep but that will be guaranteed by the Government and other employers.

The formation and continuation of voluntary pension plans is essential to the health and success of the

defined benefit plan system. With the work force growing older and more sensitive to retirement, workers will

be seeking greater retirement security. In many cases, that will mean increased pressure for defined benefit

pensions.

ERIC believes that sound funding and sound funding standards are the key to greater security for defined

benefit pension plans and the employees who participate in them. Revisions to the funding standards or to the

termination insurance program must not make unreasonable demands that will discourage plan formation and
continuation.

If employers cease to form new plans and begin to terminate existing plans, retirement security will be

diminished for all workers. Thus, any change in the funding standards must strike a balance between the need

- The ERISA Industry Committee (ERIC) is a non-profit association committed to the advancement ofemployee retirement,

health, and welfare benefa plans of America's largest employers and is the only organization representing exclusively the

employee benefits interests of major employers. ERIC's members provide comprehensive retirement, health care coverage
and other economic security benefits directly to some 25 million active and retired workers and their famUies. The
association has a strong interest in proposals affecting us members' ability to deliver those benefits, their cost and their

effectiveness, as well as the role of those benefits m the American economy.
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for sound funding, on the one hand, and the need to preserve and expand the private pension system, on the

other.

ERIC supports applying stronger funding standards to less than fully funded plans on a prospeaive basis.

If an employer knows in advance that it will be subject to more stringent funding standards, it can then decide

in advance whether it can afford to increase benefits and funding in a less than fully funded plan.

When employers agreed in past years to amend their plans to increase benefits, they did so on the basis

of the estimated costs of the benefits in reliance upon the law's existing funding standards. Thus, it would be

inequitable for Congress now to make dramatic retroactive changes in employers' funding obligations, long after

the employers became obligated to provide the additional benefits and before the employers had any knowledge
of the additional costs that any new funding standards would impose.

Employers should not make, nor should unions demand, pension promises that cannot be kept. As the

termination insurance program's premium payers and as those who bear the cost of the unfunded guaranteed
benefits promised by terminated plans, we support measures to assure that employers keep their pension promises
and to limit the pension benefits that the PBGC guarantees.

In the collective bargaining context, current law also gives precisely the wrong incentive to a union: it

encourages a union to bargain for additional p>ension benefits from a financially-pressed employer. The union

knows that if the employer is unable to fund the additional benefits, the termination insurance program will

provide them.

The termination insurance system cannot survive if the law provides a blank check that can be used to

make pension promises that are guaranteed by the PBGC and financed by other employers.

We therefore support an approach that would more closely link the extent of the PBGCs guarantee to

the plan's funded status. The law already recognizes that it is inappropriate to extend PBGC guarantees to

business owners before the plan's benefits are scheduled to have been adequately funded. ERIC urges that the

concept of linking guarantees to scheduled funding be extended to all employees.

ERIC strongly opposes a premium increase as a remedy for the ills of the termination insurance program.
In recent years, the premium rate has skyrocketed fi-om $2.60 per participant (as recently as 1985) to the current

rate of S19 p>er participant plus a variable premium of as much as $S3 F>er participant
-- an aggregate premium

of as much as $72 per participant .

These substantial premium increases are already driving employers out of the defined benefit system,

thereby narrowing the PBGCs premium base and weakening the program that the premiums are intended to

support.

In ERICs view, any legislation in this area should be designed to avoid the need for future premium
increases and to set the stage for premium reductions in the future.
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The ERISA Industry Committee

Pension Funding and ERISA Title IV:

A Proposal For Reform

June 8, 1993

In General

A. ERIC supports protecting defined benefit plans and their participants through a combination of

accelerated funding for plans with unfunded current liabilities, coordinating the funding rules with

the tax deduction rules and PBGC guarantees, and clarifying and reforming the PBGCs status in

bankruptcy.

B. The current funding rules do not work for all types of plans, in particular, flat dollar plans and

plans with lump-sum payouts.

C. However, certain legislative proposals that have been made are unfair and are potentially

counterproductive.

II. Minimum Funding Requirements

A. Any proposal to mandate accelerated funding should relate primarily to future plan amendments.

1 . Companies cannot reduce the benefit promises they made in the past. They granted benefit

improvements on the basis of their ability to fund the improvements in accordance with

current law (i.e.. over 30 years or at the percentages speciGed in OBRA '87).

2. At this time, a change in the minimum funding requirements for benefit promises made in

the past would be unfair: it would change the rules in the middle of the game.

B. The minimum funding schedule for plan amendments adopted after December 31, 1992, should

be accelerated to the extent these amendments cause the plan to have unfunded current liability

on a termination basis or increase the unfunded current liability of a plan that already has

unfunded current liability.

1. New unfunded current liabilities caused by past service amendments related to active

employees should be amortized over 10 years.

2. New unfunded current liabilities caused by past service amendments related to already-
retired or terminated employees should be amortized over S years.

3. A shutdown, "window," or similar benefit should be treated as a plan amendment for

already-retired employees, effective when the event occurs, and should be amortized over

the lesser of (a) 5 years or (b) the weighted-average payout period for the benefit.

4. The funding requirements for plans that are less than 100% funded' should take into

account all promised benefit increases, including increases scheduled to become effective

in future years {i.e., not just the first-year benefit increase under a three-year agreement).
This treatment should be optional for plans that are at least 100% funded after reflecting
the amendments.

5. Special rules for plans with unfunded current liabilities that have lump-sum payment
provisions.

a. The amortization period for any plan amendment should not be less rapid than the

rate at which the liability created by the amendment is paid out. If new or increased
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lump-sum amounts are paid in any year, funding ai least equal to those amounts

should be required for that year.

b. To the extent lump-sum payments in a plan with unfunded current liability decrease

the plan's funded ratio, contributions to offset that decline should be made for that

plan year.

c. The foregoing rules should apply to plans that purchase annuity contracts as well as

to plans that provide for lump sums.

6. Special rules would apply to plans with substantial unfunded current liabilities.

C. Detailed Funding Rules

1. This proposal modifies the speed of funding new plan amendments and other items under

§412(b). Section 412(1) remains in effect.

2. If a plan has assets (not reduced by any credit balance) less than its current liability

(measured as under current law) after a plan amendment increasing benefits, two (or three)

new amortization charge bases will be established under I.R.C. §412(b) to effect faster

funding for the additional accrued liability under the plan's funding method:

a. First, to the extent the accrued liability for active participants increases, a 10-year

base is established.

b. Second, to the extent the accrued liability for retired and terminated participants

increases, a 5 -year base is established.

c. These bases will be replaced with a 30-year base to the extent of the amount by

which the assets exceeded the plan's current liability immediately before the

amendment.

3. If a plan has assets (not reduced by any credit balance) less than 75% of the plan's current

liability (measured as under current law) as of the beginning of the year, the following rules

will apply;

a. If the valuation interest rate exceeds the Current Liability Base Rate (i.e.. 100% of

the current liability base rate under I.R.C. §412(b)(5)), the interest rate used to

compute all minimum funding standard account charges and credits under I.R.C.

§412(b) (but not under I.R.C. $412(1)) must be changed to a rate not higher than the

Current Liability Base Rate.

b. The plan will be subject to a minimum funding requirement equal to the greater of

the amount otherwise required by this proposal or the following:

i. Interest (determined on the basis of the current liability interest rate) on the

plan's unfunded current liability; plus

ii. The normal cost (on- a current liability basis) under the unit credit method

accrued during the year; plus

iii. The current year's amortization of outstanding funding waivers.

' "Less than 100% funded" Is based on a comparison of assets to current liability and does not include funding for

projected benefits.
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Any credil balance in the plan's funding standard account will be available to meet

this requirement.

4. The required change to the Current Liability Base Rate will be treated in the minimum

funding standard account as any other change in the valuation interest rate.

a. Each existing amortization base will continue to be amortized over its remaining

amortization period, although the annual charge or credit will change due to the

interest rate change.

b. A new amortization base will be created equal to the increase in accrued liability due

to the interest rate change. This base will be amortized over 10 years.

5. If a phased-in increase in benefits is negotiated under a plan that is less than 100% funded,

the funding standards should immediately reflect the full extent of the benefit increase

promised, regardless of whether the full amount of the increase is effective immediately.

This treatment should be optional for a plan that is at least 100% funded.

6. All plans (regardless of funded status) should amortize actuarial gains and losses over a 10-

year period for both minimum funding and tax deduction purposes, except that a plan that

is less than 100% funded should be required to amortize losses over a 5-year j>eriod for

both minimum funding and tax deduction purposes.

a. The current liability under a newly established plan should be amortized over 10

years.

7. If there is a change in the actuarial assumptions for a plan that is less than 100% funded,

both the change and the reasons for the change should be disclosed in the plan's Form

5500.

8. The foregoing provisions will be effective for plan amendments adopted after December 31,

1992.

D. Appended to this proposal are a table that summarizes the proposal and examples that illustrate

how the proposal will work.

III. Tax Deduction Limits

A. Conform the limits on the deductibility of plan contributions to the minimum funding

requirements. Current law requires spreading the costs of certain events over a period of at least

10 years for tax deduction purposes. This period should be changed to the lesser of 10 years or

the period under the minimum funding rules.

B. Amend the 25% deduction limit in I.R.C. §404(a)(7) to permit an employer that maintains both

a defined benefit plan and a defined contribution plan to deduct

1. Contributions to fund the defined benef!'. plan's unfunded current liability, as if the

employer did not maintain a defined contribution plan, and

2. The employer's contribution to its defined contribution plan.
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IV. PBGC Guarantees

A. For new plan amendments, the PBGC guarantee should be phased in and tied to the minimum

funding schedule for plans that are less than 100% funded. Hius, guarantees should phase in over

5 or 10 years, depending on the minimum funding period.

B. For new plan amendments, the minimum annual increase in the guarantee of S20 per month

should be rescinded.

C. The rights of participants and beneficiaries in the event of plan termination should be changed to

conform to the proposed change in the guarantee phase-in rules; as yet unfunded (and thus

unguaranteed) liabilities related to amendments after December 31, 1992, should be placed last

in the asset allocation schedule that appears in ERISA §4044.

D. If funding falls below the minimum required (e.g., in bankniptcy or during the period for which

a funding waiver is in effect), the increase in the PBGC guarantee will be halted. No funding

means no guarantee.

E. The practical consequence of ERlC's proposal is that after a transition period (i.e.. after today's

guaranteed amounts are funded), the PBGC's risk will be limited to actuarial losses.

V. Bankniptcy

A. ERIC supports conforming the Bankniptcy Code with the provisions of ERISA. ERIC supporu

amending the Bankruptcy Code to (a) recognize pension contributions as administrative expenses

that are paid during bankruptcy and (b) strengthen the PBGCs claim to contributions missed

before the plan sponsor filed for bankruptcy.

B. The proposed changes in the guarantee provisions, described above, should prevent companies
from increasing the PBGCs exposure while they are in bankruptcy.

C. The PBGC also should have the option to join unsecured creditors' committees.

D. ERIC does not support increasing the PBGCs claim above the historic 30% of net worth limit;

this could damage the interests of existing creditors and could cause creditors to try to negotiate

to improve their credit positions. This could seriously damage a company's access to the credit

markets.

VI. PBGC Premiums

A. ERICs proposal should allow near-term (if not immediate) reduction in PBGC premiums.

VII. Budget Rules

A. ERIC supports removing changes in the funding requirements and tax deduction rules from the

budget's pay-as-you-go requirements. Improvements in pension funding will reduce the PBGCs
liabilities in the long run, and should not have to be balanced by increases in current Government

revenues.

\'IIl. No Future Changes

A If ERICs proposal is adopted, it is anticipated that no additional changes to the law to protect

plan participants or to manage the PBGC liability will have to be considered for many years and

that premium reductions can be enacted.
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SUMMARY

PcrccDt Funded
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EXAMPLES

Example 1

Prior to Amendment After Amendment

Current Liability $90,000 $115,000

Actuarial Value of Assets 100,000 100,000

Funded Ratio 111% 87%

Acxn-ued Liability at

Valuation Rate

(Exceeding Mandated Rate)
Actives 95,000 110,000

Retirees 25,000 40,000

New § 412(b) Amortization Bases

(a) Tentative 10-year base for actives $15,000 (110,000-95,000)

(b) Tentative 5-year base for retirees 15,000 (40,000-25,000)

(c) Assets exceed prior current liability

(d) Adjusted 5-year base for retirees 10,000 (100,000-90,000)

5,000 (15,000-10,000)

Base 1

Base 2

Base 3

$15,000 over 10 years

$ 5,000 over 5 years

$10,000 over 30 years

Example 2 Next Year

Bepnnineof Year

Valuation Interest Rate 9.00%

Current Liability Base Rate 8.07%

Current Uability $140,000

Actuarial Value of Assets $101,000

Funded Ratio 72%

Because the plan is less than 75% funded at the beginning of the year, the interest rate for I.R.C. §412(b)

funding calculations must be dropped from the 9.0% rate to a rate no higher than 8.07% (i.e.. 100% x

8.07%).

Calculation of the current liabiUty and the funding charges under I.R.C. §412(1) are still based on an

interest rale within the 90% - 110% corridor around the 8.07% Current Liability Base Rate.

This change will result in signincantty higher charges for the year and a larger funding requirement.

0\T\nNTmvi23
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The ERISA Industry Committee ATTACHMENT B

PROPOSAL TO SIMPLIFY ADMINISTRATION AND ENCOURAGE FUNDING
OF PENSION PIANS

SUMMARY

Under recent changes in the law, corporate executives have less and less incentive to assure the maintenance and

funding of pension plans. Not only are there multiple, costly administrative burdens associated with maintaining

pension plans, also but the executive's own benefit security is increasingly divorced from the welfare of the pension

plan. Federal tar revenue needs have also contributed to poor funding incentives.

TTiis proposal would:

Increase tax revenues;

Decrease administrative costs; and

Increase executives' interest in maintaining well funded pension plans by granting plans that are in full

funding:
• increased flexibility,

• further decreases in administrative costs, and
• additional security for certain nondiscriminatory benefits.

PROPOSAL COMPONENTS:

The proposal would involve changes to three Internal Revenue Code (IRQ sections:

1. Repeal of IRC section 415(e);

2. Amendments to IRC section 401(a)(16) to allow plans that are in full funding to pay excess plan benefits; and

3. Amendments to IRC section 420 to improve the access to and useability of provisions that allow plans that

are in full funding to pay retiree health benefits.

(1) Repealing IRC section 415(e) is a key component to simplifying the administrative burden on corporate plan

sponsors and would enhance incentives to maintain qualified pension plans. 415(e) coordinates the maximum benefits

payable to an individual from a combination of pension and savings plans maintained by the same plan sponsor. In

order to calculate whether or not a benefit is limited by 41S(e), the plan sponsor must maintain records detailing pay,

employee and employer contributions to savings plans, etc., for each year of the individual's employment. Keeping

(and maintaining the integrity of) this data can be an enormous burden on employers. Further, the limit is inequitable

in that it favors employees who have worked for multiple employers over those with stable employment. In legislation

leading up to the Tax Reform Act of 1986, a 15% excise tax on excess distributions was proposed as a replacement

for 415(e). The 15% excise tax was adopted, but 415(e) was not repealed. Subsequent events (such as the imposition

of reduced limits under IRC section 401(a)(17) on compensation that can be used to calculate plan contributions and

benefits) have further served to reduce the number of occasions that 415(e) will apply, but have not reduced the

administrative burdens it imf>oses. Since actual limitation of benefits by 415(e) is rare, re]>eal of the limit is unlikely

to generate significant tax revenue losses.

(2) Allowing plans that are in full funding to pay excess plan benefits would further simplify the administration of

maximum benefit limits for sp>onsors of nondiscriminatory pension plans that are in full funding. Sponsors of these

plans would be allowed to secure the provision of nondiscriminatory benefits (e.g., for disabled employees or retirees

under early retirement incentive programs) that would otherwise be provided outside the pension plan (e.g., under a

415 excess plan) by paying benefits directly from the plan. This raises tax revenues, since benefits paid from

accumulated pension assets would not generate a tax deduction, while benefits paid from an excess plan do generate

a tax deduction. It also gives pension decision makers an incentive to better fund the pension plan so that benefits

will be more secure.

(3) The proposed changes to IRC section 420 would give further incentives for maintaining a fully funded plan by

extending and expanding the ability of plan sponsors to use any extra assets that arise to pay retiree medical benefits

that would otherwise be paid directly by the company. This also raises tax revenues, since the benefits would not be

deductible when paid from accumulated pension assets, whereas when paid directly by the sponsor a tax deduction is

generated.
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In summary, the proposal will reduce administrative costs for all qualified pension plans and enhance the benefit

security of nondiscriminatory benefits. By reducing administrative burdens and increasing the attractiveness of

maintaining a well funded pension plan, the proposal helps to preserve and promote the private pension systen,

DETAILED EXPLANATION

1. REPEAL IRC SECTION 415(e)

Dtscriptlon

IRC section 415(e) would be repealed. Section 415(e) was adopted in 1974 as a part of ERISA. In theory, it ensures

that the tax advantages of tax qualified pension plans are not overused by any individual by imposing Umit5 on the

combination of pension and defined contribution plan benefits that a company can provide to any individual.

However, in practice, 415(e) is a clumsy and administratively burdensome approach that requires extensive

recordkeeping by plan sponsors. For instance, to calculate whether a benefit reduction under 415(e) would apply, a

plan sponsor must keep and maintain the integrity of data showing, for each employee, pay for each year of

employment, as well as contributions by both employers and employees to a variety of savings plans, ESOPs, etc. The

situation can be further complicated when companies merge or transfer emptoyees between operations that are

subsequently sold. In recognition of the administrative burden, the legislation leading up to the Tax Reform Act of

1986 initially proposed a 15% excise tax on excessive distributions from tax qualified plans to replace 415(e). The 15%

excise tax was adopted, however, without repeal of 415(e).

Revenue Impact

The proposal is likely to be scored as a revenue loser. However, IRC section 401(a)(17) limitations on compensation
that can be taken into account for benefits and contributions to qualified plans, the extensive nondiscrimination rules

in the IRC, and the IRC section 415 limits on contributions paid to and benefits paid from qualified plans, taken in

combination, already constrain benefits sufficiently so that benefits generally are Umited before 415(e) applies. Hence,

any lost revenue should be small.

Supporting Argumenta

Simplification
- reduces adnunistrative problems in tracking annual additions for the total career of an

employee. Under the proposal, data requirements will be reduced to data the employer can control

(electronically) with reasonable accuracy.

Other IRC limits on benefit payments mean that 415(e) is less likely to apply. Thus, the proposal would

remove the administrative burden of maintaining data to calculate what is becoming an increasingly rare

reduction in benefits.

Improves equity by eliminating a current law bias against employees whose beneGts are derived from a single

employer.
Enhances beneCt security for employees whose benefits become payable from the trust.

2. AMEND IRC SECTION 401(a)(16) TO ALLOW PLANS IN FULL FUNDING TO PAY EXCESS 415

BENEFITS FOR CURRENT RETIREES

Description

A company would have the option to pay benefits above the IRC section 415 limits from the pension plan trust to

retirees if the plan: 1) is fully funded (including liabilities assumed for excess benefits) for the year that the sponsor

sweeps in the excess benefits, and 2) the benefits are based on a nondiscriminatory formula. For this purpose it is

anticipated that the benefit formula would pass either a safe harbor or the general amount test under 401(a)(4).

Once benefits are payable from the trust, they would become a permanent liability of the plan. For funding purposes,

however, the possibility of future "sweep-ins" could not be taken into consideration. As of the first plan year for which

a plan adopts the provision, existing retirees would be allowed to elect whether benefits would be paid from the

pension plan, or continue to be paid by the corporation. In subsequent years, new retirees would be given the

opportunity to make a similar election. Tliis means that less highly paid retirees that are affected by 415 (e.g., disabled

employees or retirees under early retirement incentive programs) would be most likely to be afforded the increased

benefit security of receiving benefits from the qualified pension plan. Very highly compensated individuals would only

be able to get the increased benefit security by paying any excise tax on excess distributions from qualified pension

plans.
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Revenue Impact

Raises revenue for U.S. Treasury in the near term because benefits currently being paid from the company are tax

deductible; benefits paid from the pension trust are not.

The proposal will reduce the amount of current pension fund accumulations, and this amount will likely need to be

made up in the future. Thus, over the long term, current Treasury revenues are increased at the expense of future

revenues for ongoing plans.

Finally, the PBGC is not likely to be put at risk, since the plan must be in full funding to use the provision, and the

general impact of the proposal will be to encourage full funding of plans.

Supporting Arguments

Already a precedent in the IRC 420 transfer provisions.

Provides benefit security to retirees.

^ By increasing executive and other decision makers' interest in making sure that the plan is well funded, it

should help to increase benefit security for active employees and decrease the long term risks of the PBGC.

3. MAKE SIGNIFICANT BVIPROVEMENTS TO ERG SECTION 420

Description

Under current law, sponsors have the ability to use excess pension fund assets to pay retiree health benefits. To do

so, the sponsor's pension and retiree health plans must meet certain requirements, including: pension assets must

exceed 125% of current liability; all pension plan participants must be vested in their accrued benefits; the employer
must agree to maintain the current level of health plan contributions for at least 5 years; and the amount transferred

cannot exceed one year's claim payment. The law currently has a sunset provision, so that transfers will not be

available for plan years after 1995. Few plan sponsors have used the section 420 transfer rule because of the

administrative costs and an unwillingness to make such a large commitment in exchange for a short-term cash flow

advantage.

The proposal would:

^ Extend the sunset date of the provision through the year 2000;

4 Remove the 5 year maintenance of health care claims cost rule; and

4 Remove the requirement to vest all pension plan participants.

Alternatively, if health care reform legislation is enacted, excess assets could be used:

4 To pay any employer toll that is levied on empk>yers in lieu of or in addition to any einpk>yer obligations for

retiree health benefits.

Revenue Impact : Should raise significant amounts of revenue.

Supporting Arguments

Many more employers will take advantage of the program than currently. This should significantly raise tax

revenues.

Faced with the inability to use pension money to pay retiree benefits, several employers have canceled their

retiree medical plans, including plans affecting either future or present retirees. If companies could use excess

pension money, more retirees would continue to receive a benefit.

^ Past experience under the program indicates that abuse is unlikely.
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The ERISA Industry Committee ATTACHMENT C

ERIC CROSS-TESTING PROPOSAL

SUMMAKY

Background:

In order for an employee pension or profit-sharing plan to be taj-qualified,the Treasury's nondiscrimination

regulations provide that either the amount of the benefits provided by the plan or the amount of the contributions

made to the plan must not discriminate in favor of highly compensated employees. "Cross-testing" is the term used

when a defined contribution plan is tested for nondiscrimination on the basis of the benefits provided, rather than on

the basis of contributions made. Cross-testing frequently is used when the contributions to a defined contribution plan

inaease as either the age or the length of service of the employee increases. Cross-testing also is used when a defined

benefit plan and a defined contribution plan are aggregated and tested jointly on a benents basis for nondiscrimination

purposes.

The Administration's Bill:

The Administration'spension funding and PBGC reform bill (H.R.3396/S. 1780) prohibits defined contribution

plans other than target benefit plans from testing for nondiscrimination on the basis of benefits rather than on the basis

of contributions (i.e., prohibits defined contribution plans from cross-testing). The Administration proposed the

amendment because the Treasury Department believes the cross-testing provisions of the Treasury's regulations allow

defined contribution plans to make allocations that unduly favor higbfy compensated employees.

ERIC'S Proposal:

If legislation curbing the use of cross-testing is enacted, ERIC proposes to modify the Administration's ban

in order to allow nondiscriminatory defined contribution plans to continue to use cross-testing. ERICs amendment

would allow a plan to be cross-tested if the plan first passes either of two "gateway" tests. The gateways ensure either

(1) that each of the allocation rates under the plan does not unduly favor the emptoyer's highly compensated

employees or (2) that the disparity between allocation rates for highly compensated and non-highly compensated

employees under the plan is reasonable.

A plan that passes either of these gateways differs significantly from the plans the Treasury has regarded as

abusive.

Detailed Explanation

Background:

In order for an employee pension or profit-sharing plan be tax-qualified, the Treasury's nondiscrimination

regulations provide that either the amount of the benefits provided by a plan or the amount of the contributions made

to the plan not discriminate in favor of highly compensated employees. In practice, most defined benefit plans are

tested according to the benefits provided by the plan, and defined contribution plans are tested according to the

contributions made to the plan.

In some cases, however, a defined contribution plan is tested on the basis of the benefits provided. The

process of showing that the benefits provided under a defined contribution plan are nondiscriminatory is referred to

as "cross-testing".

Cross-testing frequently is used when the contributions to a defined contribution plan increase as either the

age or the length of service of the employee increases. Cross-testing also is used when a defined benefit plan and a

defined contribution plan are aggregated and tested joinl,ly on a benefits basis for nondiscrimination purposes.

Employee stock ownership plans (ESOPs), cash or deferred (§401 (k)) arrangements. and employer matching (§40 l(m))

plans may not be cross-tested under the nondiscrimination rules on an individual plan basis, but may be cross-tested

where the plan is aggregated with a defined benefit plan in order to test the plans on an aggregated basis.

77k Administration's Bill:

The Administration's pension funding and PBGC reform bill (H.R.3396/S. 1780) prohibits defined contribution

plans other than target benefit plans from testing for nondiscrimination on the basisof benefits rather than on the basis
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of contributions (i.e., prohibits defined contribution plans from cross-testing).

The Administration proposed the amendment because the Treasury Department believes the cross-testing

provisions of the Treasury's regulations allow defined contribution plans to make allocations that unduly favor highly

compensated employees. However, the Treasury has stated that many plans that use cross-testing are

nondiscriminatory, and has invited the public to suggest proposals that would allow "nonabusive" plans to continue to

use cross-testing.

ERIC'S Proposal:

ERICs proposal would modify the Administration's proposal in order to allow nondiscriminatory plans to

continue to use cross-testing. ERICs proposed amendment would allow a defined contribution plan to be cross-tested

(that is, tested on a benefits basis) if the plan first passes either of two "gateway" tests. The gateways ensure either

(1) that each of the allocation rates under the plan does not unduly favor the employer's highly compensated

employees or (2) that the disparity between allocation rates for highly compensated and non-highly compensated

employees is reasonable. (See Gateway itl and Gateway #2, below).

ERICs proposal also modifies a statement in the Administration's explanation of its bill that would restrict

the ability to use benefit amounts calculated through cross-testing in meeting the average benefit percentage test of

the nondiscrimination regulations (see Special Rule, below).

Under ERICs projwsal, the legislative history should state that no inference shall be drawn regarding the

validity of the Treasury's nondiscrimination and coverage regulations.

Gateway #1: Under ERICs amendment, a plan will pass the first gateway if each of the allocation rates

under the plan does not unduly favor the employer's highly comp>ensated employees. Under the amendment,

the plan will meet the first gateway if the percentage of non-highly compensated employees who benefit from

each of the plan's allocation rates is greater than or equal to the unsafe harbor percentage in the Treasury's

coverage requirements (see Treas. Reg. §1.410(b)-4(c)).

For example, suppose that an employer has 500 nonexcludable employees, 100 of whom are highly

compensated. If all 500 employees participate in the employer's profit-sharing plan, and 25 of the highly

compensated employees receive an employer contribution equal to 10 percent of pay, the plan will not pass

this gateway unless at least 25 of the non-highly compensated employees receive an employer contribution of

10 percent of pay or more. A plan's failure to meet this gateway by de minimis amounts will be disregarded,

as long as the failures are infrequent.

Gateway #2: A plan will pass the second gateway if it meets two requirements. The first requirement is that

the average allocation rate for the non-highly compensated employees who participate in the plan be at least

70 percent of the average allocation rate for the highly compensated employees who participate in the plan.

The second requirement is that the highest allocation rate for any highly compensated employee under the

plan not exceed by more than 5 percentage points the average allocation rate for all of the plan's non-highly

compensated employees.

For example, if the average allocation rate for the highly compensated employees who participate in the plan

is 10 percent of pay, the first requirement is met only if the average allocation rate for the non-highly

compensated employees who participate in the plan is at least 7 percent of pay. If the average allocation rate

for the non-highly compensated employees is 7 percent of pay, the second requirement is met only if no highly

compensated employee receives an allocation of more than 12 percent of pay.

For purposes of applying the second gateway, the only employees taken into account are those employeeswho

participate in the plan. In addition, in applying both gateways, the plan may impute disparity in contributions to the

extent permitted by the current nondiscrimination regulations.

Special Rule: Under the Treasury's current rules, a plan must pass one of two coverage tests: a ratio

percentage test or an average benefit percentage test.' TTie Administration's explanation of its bill refers to

a statutory change that would affect plans that use the average benefit percentage test. The change would

prohibit an employer that applies the average benefit percentage test from determining employee benefit

percentages on a benefits basis unless a substantial portion of the employer-provided benefits is provided
under one or more defined benefit plans. The Administration's proposed bill, however, does not appear to

include this provision.
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ERIC proposes that, if this provision is included in any legislation that is enacted, it be revised to permit an

employer to take the contributions under a defined contribution plan into account in meeting the average
benefit percentage test on a benefits basis if the contributions (i) are noadiscriminatory in amount (i.e., on

a contributions basis), (ii) satisfy either of the gateways thai ERIC has proposed, (iii) are made to a target

benefit plan, (iv) are made under S401(k) and meet the special nondiscrimination requirements that apply to

§401(k) plans, or (v) are employer-matching contributions and meet the special nondiscrimination

requirements that apply under §401(m) to employer-matching contributions.

No Inference: Cross-testing is a procedure provided for in Treasury regulations. If an amendment is enacted

limiting the use of cross-testing, the legislative history should state that no inference shall be drawn from the

amendment regarding the validity of the Treasury's nondiscrimination and coverage regulations.

Conclusion:

A plan that passes either of ERICs proposed gateways differs significantly from the plans that Treasury has

regarded as abusive. I^ meeting one of the gateway tests, a plan demonstrates that it provides nondiscriminatory
contributions to the employer's non-highly compensated employees, and it is therefore appropriate to permit the plan
to demonstrate that it provides benefits that are nondiscriminatory in amount.

Similarly, a plan that meets any one of the requirements of the proposed special rule has already met other

tests that demonstrate that the plan is nondiscriminatory, and it is therefore appropriate to permit the employer to

aggregate that plan with others to demonstrate that the employer's plans provide benefits that are nondiscriminatory
in amount.

' Under the coverage requirements set out in Internal Revenue Code §410(b), a plan must meet either of two tests:

a "ratio percentage test" or an "average benefit percentage test". A plan meets the ratio percentage test if (1) 70% of

the employer's non-highly compensated employees participate in the plan or (2) if the f>ercentage of non-highly

compensated employees participating in the plan is at least 70% of the percentage of highly compensated empk>yees

participating in the plan. A plan meets the average benefit percentage test if (1) the plan benefits a nondiscriminatory
classification of employees (as determined by regulation) and (2) the average benefit as a percentage of pay for the

non-highly compensated employees is at least 70% of the average benefit as a percentage of pay for the highly

compensated employees.
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Prepared Statement of Senator David Pryor

Mr. Chairman, I would like to thank you for holding this hearing to examine the

problem of underfunded private pension plans and possible reforms to correct the

problem.
I would also like to thank Secretary Reich for his leadership in appointing the

interagency task force which has studied this complex problem and come up with
some very specific recommendations to battle this problem.
At the hearing before the Finance Subcommittee on Private Pension Plan on this

matter in September of 1992, the former Executive Director of the PBGC was quite

outspoken and insistent that we were facing the next "S&S Crisis." Much of the dis-

cussion that day addressed the truthfulness of that assertion.

Today, I am gratified that the new PBGC Executive Director, Marty Slate, has
toned down the sensationalism offered by his predecessor, and instead, come to us
with a dose of realism as to the problem we face and with specific proposals to ad-
dress the problem.
The mission of the PBGC is to furnish security and confidence to workers with

pension plans. If the PBGC questions the adequacy of those plans in a overly sensa-
tional manner, then workers understandably get scared, and instead of providing se-

curity and confidence, the government causes fear and confusion.
I believe the current approach creates the best environment for constructive

change, and I commend Director Slate for his effort.

As I understand it, the problem of underfunding is concentrated in a small num-
ber of financially troubled industries most of which are represented here today. As
many of these companies are struggling to come out of difficult times by reinvesting
in their businesses, the Administration's proposal asks them to pay more into their

pension plans. I am interested in both the companies' and the Administration's as-
sessment of how much more we are asking the companies to pay, and the impact
these additional costs will have on their future viability. In general, the Administra-
tion's proposals asks these companies to pay more by (1) requiring these under-
funded plans to pay more in PBGC premiums and (2) paying more into their under-
funded plan. I might add that these two basic methods of addressing the problem
are not mutually exclusive. Under the proposal, by limiting the flexibility of actuar-
ial assumptions in determining the underfunded amount, the calculation of the
PBGC premium amount will experience a corresponding increase.

I am interested in this dynamic of the proposals because, once we determine how
much more these companies can and should pay, we must ask "where will these
fund go?—to the PBGC or into the underfunded plan?" I am sure there is a proper
balance, and I hope we can discuss this aspect of the proposals today.
Most every person, organization, or business I talk with about this problem do not

question whether to act, but rather they question how to act. This is illustrated by
proposals offered by the private sector which address the problem. I would like to

recognize and commend the ERISA Industry Committee for coming forward with
their proposal to address this problem, and I look forward to hearing their views
today.
With consensus that we do have a problem, and with some very sound and rea-

sonable proposals on the table to fix it, I hope we can move forward quickly to ad-
dress the retirement security needs of millions of American workers.
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Testimony of Robert Reich

Secretary of Labor

Before the

Committee on Finance

United States Senate

June 15, 1994

Executive Summary

The Administration is determined to take all necessary steps to keep the pensions

of workers and retirees safe and secure. The Retirement Protection Act is a

comprehensiTe, balanced, and reasonable approach to the serious problem of pension

underfunding that could threaten retirement security.

Most pension plans are well funded, but there is serious underfunding in certain

industries. Underi'unding doubled in the last six years, climbing to $53 billion in 1992.

This presents an unacceptable risk for workers and retirees, particularly the 1.2 million

people in plans of financially troubled companies. If their plans should terminate, they

may lose benefits not covered by the PBGC guarantee. These underfunded plans also

pose a risk to the PBGC, where the deficit now approaches $2.9 biUion. Current law is

not working.

Recent additional contributions by companies are not a cure. Pension

underfunding is a chronic problem that will not go away without strong legal reform.

This legislation will strengthen our defined benefit pension system and improve
PBGC's ability to protect it. At the same time, these reforms have been carefully

crafted to be affordable. The Act will protect the pension benefits of American workers

and retirees, while at the same time allow companies to continue in business, provide

jobs, and contribute to the economy.

Now is the time to enact the pension reforms of the Retirement Protection Act.

The growing trends in underfunding and the PBGC deficit are clear and irrefutable -

and must be reversed. It is simple common sense to deal with these problems while they

are still manageable. The forward movement in the economy presents us with a special

opportunity to put our pension system on a sound footing.
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Testimony of Robert Reich

Secretary of Labor

Before the

Committee on Finance

United States Senate

June 15, 1994

Mr. Chairman and Members of the Committee:

I am pleased to appear before you today to discuss the Administration's pension
reforms to assure retirement security for America's workers and retirees. This is

indeed the time for reform.

When this Administration came to office, we heard the concerns that had been

raised about the health of the pension system. I immediately appointed a high-level

interagency Task Force to take a hard, careful look at the issue of benefit protection.

The group worked intensively through 1993, defining the dimensions of the problem and
the most effective way to address it.

We in the Administration are determined to take all necessary steps to keep the

pensions of workers and retirees safe and secure. The Administration's legislative

package, the Retirement Protection Act, is a comprehensive, balanced, and reasonable

approach to the serious problem of pension underfunding that could threaten retirement

security.

My message is simple. We should reform the system now. Our solutions, if

pursued now, are reasonable and affordable. If we wait, the medicine that will be

necessary will only be harder to swallow. The forward movement in the economy
presents us with a special opportunity to put our pension system on a sound footing.

Mr. Chairman, this Committee has consistentiy led the way in assuring a sound
retirement system for our nation's workers. Your leadership on this most important
legislation is invaluable.

I. INTRODUCTION

We are approaching the 20th anniversary of the Employee Retirement Income

Security Act of 1974 (ERISA), the anchor of our private pension system. In those 20

years, the private pension system has become a true American success story. Thanks to

ERISA, millions of hard-working Americans have gained pension coverage, and those

who were already covered have found that the promise of a benefit upon retirement has
become a reality.
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The PBGC plays an important role in safeguarding the nation's retirement

system. The mainstay of our private retirement system is the defined benefit pension

plan, the kind that offers set benefits to workers. The agency stands behind the

promises of defined benefit plans and assures that most benefits will be paid to the

workers who depend on them. It guarantees the benefits of 41 million workers and
retirees in more than 65,000 pension plans. Today more than 346,000 people rely upon
PBGC for their pensions. Those who are in our trust will continue to receive their

benefits. For them as well as for others, we must keep the PBGC on a sound footing.

n. THE PROBLEM

Most of the pension plans insured by the PBGC are well funded. The retirement

system is a strong one, but there are growing chinks in the armor. Underfimding of

pensions is persistent. In the last few years, underfimding has nearly doubled - from

$27 billion in 1987 to $53 billion in 1992. This chronic underfunding can undermine
our retirement system.

It is important to note that underfunding is concentrated in a few industries such

as steel, automobile, tire manufacturing, and airlines.

Underfunding poses an unnecessary and unacceptable risk for workers and
retirees. If their plans should terminate, they may lose benefits not covered by the

PBGC guarantee.

These underfunded plans also pose a risk to the PBGC. PBGC's deficit now
approaches $2.9 billion, and it is moving us in a direction that could have significant

consequences. Indeed, the deficit has doubled in the last five years. At the same time,
the insurance program - with more than $8 billion in assets - is not in immediate

danger. Because PBGC's payments are spread out over many years, it can continue

paying benefits for a long time. So long as chronic underfunding persists, however, the

long-term health of the nation's pension system - and the insurance program that

protects it - is uncertain.

ra. REFORM NOW

Underfunding will not disappear of its own accord. Much of the build-up in

underfunding is due to too much flexibility in our funding rules for those who wish to

minimize contributions. Some employers, in fact, operating within the framework of

current law, have been able to take contribution holidays even though their plans are

severely underfunded. Underfunding will continue unless we close the avenues for

companies to legally avoid their funding responsibilities.

-2
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In recent weeks, there has been poshiTe news on pension funding. With

encouragement from the PBGC, some companies have announced their intention to

make additional pension contributions. This is to be applauded. Additional

intermittent contributions will help, but they do not assure a cure. Underfunding is

chronic and persistent, and it will continue unless there is systematic legal reform.

Now is the time to enact the pension reforms of the Retirement Protection Act.

The growing trends in underfunding and the PBGC deficit are clear and irrefutable -

and must be reversed. It is simple common sense to deal with these problems while they

are still manageable. We cannot stand by and watch while the situation worsens.

IV. RETIREMENT PROTECTION ACT

The Retirement Protection Act is the product of a task force I established last

year to address the concerns about benefit security and the PBGC. The comprehensive
reforms wc propose would mandate faster and more certain funding and would

guarantee increased contributions to underfunded pension plans. If enacted, this

legislation will eliminate the problem of chronic underfunding.

The legislation is designed to fix only what is broken. Fully funded plans would
not be affected by our major reforms.

These reforms are carefully crafted to be affordable. The Act will protect the

pension benefits of American workers and retirees, while at the same time allowing

companies to continue in business, provide jobs, and contribute to the economy.

Funding

Strengthening the funding rules is the heart of our reform package. Current law

permits as long as 30 years in some instances for companies to fund promised benefits.

Given business realities, that is simply too long. We accelerate contributions to

underfunded plans and eliminate the wiggle room that employers now have to avoid

funding their plans. This should result in most new benefits being funded over five to

seven years.

It is especially important that we require companies with underfunded plans to

use realistic actuarial assumptions in determining funding. Companies with large
amounts of underfunding have taken liberties with the flexibility now in the law to take

contribution holidays.

At the same time, we want companies to move forward with their business.

Thus, we have included in the legislation a special transition rule to protect employers
from extraordinary increases in their annual contributions for up to seven years.
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PBGC Compliance Authority

Stronger funding rules will not solve the whole problem. All too often we have

seen companies undertake business transactions that endanger pension promises. For

instance, a healthy corporation might sell off a subsidiary in poor health with an

underfunded pension plan. Breaking the corporate tie can cut off the plan's only source

of funding.

The reforms would give the PBGC the tools to enforce the law effectively and to

assure that large employers remain responsible for their pension promises. Our

proposals would require companies with large underfunded plans to provide PBGC with

advance notice of certain transactions. When these transactions threaten the long-term

health of pensions, PBGC would be allowed to apply to the federal courts for

meaningful remedies. The proposals are carefully tailored to assure the continued pace

of corporate transactions.

Premiums

To further encourage better funding, we propose to phase out the cap on the

variable rate premium paid by sponsors of underfunded plans. Plans that pose the

greatest risk should pay their fair share. Companies with 80 percent of the

undcrfunding now pay only a quarter of PBGC's total premium income. Under this

proposal, they would pay half.

Participant Assistance

Finally, we will require employers with underfunded plans to provide their

workers - in plain language - an explanation of their underfunded pension plan and the

limits of PBGC's guarantee. Workers have every right to know whether their pensions

are at risk. Only then can they make informed choices about their retirement and their

future.

V. CONCLUSION

This is a strong, integrated package, carefully crafted to solve an identifiable

problem. We need these reforms because current law simply is not working. Pension

undcrfunding has swollen substantially since IS^, and the legal loopholes are putting

retirees and the American taxpayer at risk. The Retirement Protection Act takes a

firm, balanced approach that will strengthen pur defined benefit pension system and

improve PBGC's ability to protect it. The reforms will help assure funding of all vested

benefits within 15 years and, based on prior PBGC experience, are forecast to eliminate

PBGC's deficit within 10 years.
The time to fix the retirement system is now. This can only be done with this

Committee's leadership. The Administration stands ready to work with Congress to

expedite passage of this important legislation.

88-738 0-95-4
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Prepared Statement of Leslie B. Samuels

Mr. Chairman and Members of the Committee: I am pleased to present the views

of the Treasury Department on the Retirement Protection Act of 1993 (H.R. 3396).

The Treasury Department actively participated in the Administration's PBGC Task
Force and the Department strongly supports this package. We believe that this leg-

islation addresses the primary causes of the recent trend of losses for the Pension

Benefit Guaranty Corporation (PBGC) and that enactment of the legislation would

reverse the trend of increasing PBGC deficits in a responsible manner, before the

situation becomes a crisis. This morning I will discuss the portions of the bill that

amend the Internal Revenue Code.

MINIMUM FUNDING REQUIREMENTS

The bulk of the amendments to the Internal Revenue Code in this legislation re-

late to the minimum funding rules that are found in section 412. These minimum
funding rules are designed to ensure that employers sponsoring defined benefit

plans set aside assets to secure the benefit promise made to their employees. In rec-

ognition of the long-term nature of the liabilities, the minimum funding rules permit
employers to fund their commitment over a number of years.
The minimum funding rules enacted as part of the Employee Retirement Income

Security Act of 1974 (ERISA) were amended in 1987. These amendments require an

employer with over 100 employees that sponsors an underfunded plan to make an
additional deficit reduction contribution designed to eliminate the underfunding
more rapidly. In reviewing the effectiveness of these rules, the Administration's task
force determined that some employers with significantly underfunded plans had
used loopholes in the statute that allowed them to avoid making these additional

deficit reduction contributions.

The bill modifies the deficit reduction contribution requirements in a number of

ways in order to close the statutory loopholes that employers have exploited. First,
the bill improves the coordination of the deficit reduction contribution and the regu-
lar minimum funding determinations. Under current law, the impact of actuarial

gains and reductions in liability due to changes in actuarial assumptions (or in the
other direction, the impact or actuarial losses and increases in liability due to

changes in actuarial assumptions) is recognized twice in determining the deficit re-

duction contribution. The bill would end this double counting and effectively require
the employer to make contributions based on the greater of the regular minimum
funding requirement and a free-standing deficit reduction contribution.

Secondly, the bill mandates the use of certain standard assumptions for purposes
of determining the amount of a pension plan's underfunding and the amount of the

resulting deficit reduction contribution. The 1987 rules required the use of an inter-
est rate within the corridor of 90-110% of the interest rate on 30-year Treasury
bonds (averaged over the past four years) for this purpose. However, the 1987 rules
did not require the use of any particular mortality table for this purpose. As a re-

sult, employers with poorly funded pension plans have had an incentive to use inter-
est rates at the high end of the permitted corridor and to assume that their employ-
ees have higher than standard mortality (i.e., lower life expectancy). The use of high
interest rates and mortality assumptions minimizes the amount of the apparent
pension liability, reducing the required contributions.
The Retirement Protection Act would mandate that the interest rate used for pur-

poses of determining the deficit reduction contribution be no greater than 100% of
the 30-year Treasury rates (7.27% for plan years beginning in May 1994) and would
require the use of the group annuity mortality table currently adopted by the insur-
ance commissioners of at least 26 States. As the Members of this Committee know,
this is the same mortality table specified in Internal Revenue Code Section

807(d)(5), relating to the determination of reserves for life insurance companies.
The bill would also tighten the deficit reduction contribution formula that deter-

mines the speed of funding new plan liabilities under the 1987 amendments. The
new formula would require plans to fund substantially all of the increases in liabil-

ity in the first 5-7 years after the amendment. Under current law, the liability can
be funded at a rate that corresponds to 12 year amortization. This change will en-
sure that increases in liability from benefit changes will be funded over a period
that more closely tracks the five-year phase-in of PBGC's guaranty.

Finally, in developing the proposal we attempted to anticipate how employers
might try to avoid making deficit reduction contributions in the future, and then
we closed these potential loopholes in advance. For example, the bill provides that

employers sponsoring significantly underfunded pension plans (i.e., over $50 million
of underfunding in the controlled group) would be required to obtain advance Inter-
nal Revenue Service approval of changes in actuarial assumptions that significantly
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decrease their current liability. Thus, while these employers will be permitted to re-

flect their individual situations in establishing retirement age assumptions, for ex-

ample, they would need to justify to the I.R.S. any changes in those assumptions
from prior assumptions. This requirement, in conjunction with the use of a specified

mortality table and a lower cap on the interest rate, will help ensure that employers
cannot manipulate the plan's actuarial assumptions to avoid their responsibility to

fund their benefit promises.
The Administration recognized that an abrupt increase in the minimum funding

requirements may be overly burdensome for employers in the short term. Con-

sequently, the bill includes transition rules that give short-term relief to employers,
while still providing for steady, gradual improvement in plan funding.

QUARTERLY CONTRIBUTIONS AND NONDEDUCTIBLE CONTRIBUTIONS

As part of the process of reviewing the funding rules, the task force identified two
other related provisions that we believed could be improved by narrowing the scope
of their application:

the quarterly contribution requirements and the excise tax on

nondeductiBle contributions. I will discuss each of these provisions in turn.

The requirement that an employer make quarterly contributions to its pension

plan (modeled on the payment of estimated income tax) was added in 1987 and pro-
vides an early warning signal for the PBGC that an employer may be unable to

meet the minimum funding requirements for a year. In the absence of the quarterly
contribution requirement, such an employer could wait until 201/2 months after the

beginning of the plan year before coming to grips with its financial responsibility
to the plan. By requiring quarterly contributions, and notice to the PBGC and plan

participants of an employer's failure to pay these installments, the funding rules

force the employer to face up to its problems earlier in the year.
The quarterly contribution rules also are beneficial in the situation where the em-

ployer's financial problems first appear later in the plan year. In this case, if the

employer has been making the required quarterly installments a plan will have
been at least partially funded during the portion of the year prior to the develop-
ment of the financial problems.
On the other hand, the requirement that an employer contribute four times a

year, together with the need to have an actuary determine the minimum install-

ments, adds an administrative burden for an employer. If a plan currently has as-

sets in excess of its current liability, the Task Force concluded that the administra-
tive burden on employers outweighs the benefit of quarterly installments to the em-
ployees and the Government. This is particularly true for plans near the full fund-

ing limit, where an employer that must make a quarterly contribution before the
actuarial valuation is complete may ultimately discover that the contribution is non-
deductible. For these reasons, the bill would eliminate the quarterly contribution re-

quirement for plans that had assets in excess of current liability in the previous
year.
The purpose of the excise tax on nondeductible contributions is to discourage em-

ployers from making these contributions in order to transfer assets into the plan's

tax-exempt trust. In the two situations described in the bill, we believe that the em-
ployer's nondeductible contributions are not motivated by a desire to dbtain exces-
sive tax shelter, but are primarily a result of non-tax considerations, and should not

generate an excise tax. 'These situations arise where: (1) an employer with 100 or

fewer employees contributes an amount to its pension plan to fund the current li-

ability and then terminates the plan, or (2) an employer sponsoring a defined bene-
fit plan also sponsors a section 401(k) plan with overlapping coverage that is receiv-

ing employee salary deferrals or employer rriatching contributions totaling less than
6% of compensation. In the former case, a small employer may be required to make
the nondeductible contributions as a condition of plan termination. The latter case

deals with the anomalous situation where an employer wishes to make additional

contributions in order to decrease plan underfunding, but is now discouraged from

doing so because employees are electing to make salary deferrals in a 401(kj plan
that count against the employer's aggregate qualified plan deduction limits.

ACTUARIAL EQUIVALENCE

The bill makes minor changes to the actuarial equivalence rules used for purposes
of converting annuities to nonannuity distributions, primarily lump sums, under
sections 417(e) (restrictions on cash-outs) and 415(b) (maximum permitted benefits).

Under current law, the actuarial equivalence that can be used for these purposes
is based on two different interest rates (one of which is tied to the PBGC interest

rates used to value terminated plans, the other of which can be as low as 5%) and
no specified mortality table. The bill would specify a single interest rate and mortal-
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ity table for both purposes. Eliminating the current cross-reference to the PBGC in-

terest rates will also enable the PBGC to adjust the interest rate it uses for other

purposes in the future without also affecting the benefits of participants in all plans.

NONDISCRIMINATION AND CROSS-TESTING

As a condition of tax-favored treatment, section 401(a)(4) requires that retirement

plans demonstrate that the contributions or benefits provided under the plan do not

discriminate in favor of highly compensated employees. Under current law, this

demonstration can be on the basis of either contributions or benefits, without regard
to whether the plan is a defined contribution plan or a defined benefit plan.

Section 408 of the bill would generally prohibit the practice known as "cross-test-

ing" a qualified defined contribution plan. The bill would generally require defined

contribution plans, and aggregations of defined contribution and defined benefit

plans, to demonstrate nondiscrimination on the basis of actual plan contributions,
as opposed to projected benefits at retirement.

Cross-testing a defined contribution plan is needed when plans provide different

allocations, as a percentage of compensation, to different employees. If the employ-
ees receiving larger allocations are older than the other employees, the difference

may be justified by looking at the equivalent benefits those allocations are projected
to generate. While some argue that cross-tested defined contribution plans merely
make explicit the age-bias that is implicitly found in traditional defined benefit

plans, there are significant differences between these types of plans. For example,
the amount of benefit an employee receives from a defined benefit plan does not de-

pend on the investment return in the fund; and the delivery of that benefit is fur-

ther guaranteed by the PBGC. However, employees in a cross-tested defined con-

tribution plan bear investment risk. An employee will receive the hypothetical bene-
fit that is used to satisfy the nondiscrimination rules only if the plan's investment
return and the conversion of the employee's account balance into retirement income
actually match the assumptions used in the projection.

Creative practitioners have recently gone further than merely mimicking the dis-

tributional aspects of defined benefit plans by relating allocations to age. They have
developed aggressive plan designs that provide significantly higher contributions for

one class of employees (such as the owners of a business) than for the rest of the

employees. If most of the favored class is older than the other employees, as is often
the case in these situations, cross-testing may be used to satisfy the nondiscrimina-
tion rules in an inappropriate way.
The potential for highly-compensated employees receiving substantial benefits in

cross-tested plans has received considerable press attention. For example, discus-
sions of cross-testing have made their way into the Wall Street Journal, Pension
World and Financial Planning magazine. These articles emphasize the potential for

highly-compensated employees to maximize benefits for themselves while minimiz-
ing contributions for rank-and-file workers. For example, a June 1993 Financial
Planning article is headlined "Skewed retirement plans help owners at workers' ex-

pense." The Wall Street Journal article leads with the question "Is it a retirement
plan, or a tax shelter?" An article in the March 1994 Journal of the American Soci-

ety of CLU and ChFC contains an illustration of an employer using cross-testing
to reduce the allocations for rank-and-file workers from 15% of pay to 3% of pay,
while the owner continues to receive an allocation of $30,000. I have attached copies
of a small collection of these articles for the record.
The Administration is concerned that such practices and the increasing attention

that they have been receiving, can
• reduce the share of tax-subsidized retirement funds that benefit rank-and-file
workers

• encourage employers to abandon the defined benefit system, thus eroding the
PBGC premium base

• discourage the hiring of older rank-and-file workers (to the extent that the Age
Discrimination in Employment Act doesn't protect these workers), and

• generally have a detrimental impact on the public's perception of the integrity
of our tax-favored retirement system.

For these reasons, the Administration continues to support restricting cross-test-

ing.
Let me emphasize that this proposal was developed because some employers are

manipulating the cross-testing rules in order to obtain a tax subsidy for retirement
plans that provide excessive contributions to highly compensated employees, at the
expense of rank-and-file workers. Since the Administration proposed limiting cross-

testing, we have heard from and met with a number of interested groups. The pur-
pose of our meetings with these representatives has been to identify the types of
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plans that provide meaningful benefits to rank-and-file workers, in contrast to the
abusive cases. We have received some useful suggestions in this regard.
We hope that we can work with the Committee in tailoring the proposal to target

the troublesome cases. In this process, however, our guiding principle remains—the
abusive practices must stop.

ROUNDING RULES FOR INDEXED VALUES

Many of the statutory dollar thresholds and limits used in the qualified plan area
are indexed to changes in the cost of living. For example, the annual limit on con-
tributions under section 401(k) is $9,240 in 1994 (increased from $8,994 in 1993).
The bill would change the indexing rules so that the indexed values for a year are
available before the start of the year and would provide for rounding of these in-

dexed values to the next lowest multiple of $500 or $5,000. The earlier determina-
tion of the indexed values and the use of rounded values would simplify administra-
tion by employers and communication with employees, because the indexed values
would not necessarily change each year. The proposal also has the effect of raising
revenue to offset some costs of the bill. As the Members of the Committee know,
a similar rounding rule was adopted in last year's reconciliation bill for the com-

pensation limit of section 401(a)(17).

CONCLUSION

In conclusion, I would like to emphasize that now is the time to act, while the
PBGC's problems are still manageable. Although the PBGC has assumed significant
liabilities over the past ten years from the termination of underfunded plans,
PBGC's responsibility for benefit payments under those plans is spread out over a
number of years. Enactment of the Retirement Protection Act of 1993 will require
employers sponsoring defined benefit plans to do a better job of living up to their
commitments by adequately funding their plans, thereby reducing PBGC's potential
liability.
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"New Comparability":

Increased Flexibility for

Profit Sharing Plans?

EDWARD F. LONDERGAN
PAUL VICKERS. ChFC, FLMI

Abstract: The abHin of employers to

develop increasinglyflexible qualified
reiirement plans has evolvedfrom in-

legroied allocation plans to age-

weighied plans, and no*', to "new

comparability
"

plans. In the authors
'

vie» . new comparabiliry gives employ-
ers an opponuniry to make the bulk of
their retirement plan contributions to

key employees
— and still pass nondis-

crimination tests. The authors show
that they believe new comparabiliry is

even moreflexible than age-weighting.
Thr\ also note that pending legislation

could affect the use of new compara-
bilir\. but that thefate ofthe legislation

is unknown at this time.

wIhile recognizing the ad-

vantages of profit sharing

plans, many employers
would prefer to have

more control over the

benefits they provide. Many plan

sponsors, for example, would like to

be able to design a plan that is flexi-

ble enough to reward key employees— those who contribute most to prof-

its. Businesses that offer their em-

ployees a 401 (k) plan often are

looking for a supplemental plan that

allows them to maximize their own
annual contributions without giving

up tax advantages.
A profit shanng plan design called

"new comparability" gives many cm-

ployen. the flexibility to structure their

profit shanng plans to meet these and

other needs. New comparability al-

lows many employers to contribute

the maximum S30.000 a year for

themselves and the minimum three

percent of pay for other employees
—

and still pass nondiscnnunation tests.

In other words, new comparability

plans are nearly as flexible as non-

qualified plans, but offer the tax ben-

efits of qualified plans.

Unless an employer receives a

greater financial benefit from a profit

sharing plan than he or she would re-

ceive by simply including the money
as taxable earnings, the employer is

unlikely to go to the trouble of estab-

lishing a plan. That's why. for as long
as profit sharing plans have existed,

planning experts have searched for

designs that maximize the percentage
of contributions allowed for preferred

employees, while still meeting the cn-

tena necessan' for a plan to qualify for

federal tax benefits. To be qualified,

the plan has to pass tests that deter-

mine whether it discriminates against

non-highly-compensated employees.
So the challenge to plan designers

is to develop plans with seemingly

contradictor)' goals
— the plan has to

pass nondiscrimination tests while at

the same time providing the bulk of

the plan benefits to highly-compen-
sated employees.

The first design to address this

challenge was the iniegraied alloca-

tion plan, which takes social security

coninbutions into account in calcu-

lating contributions on after-tax in-

come. Integrated plans proved effec-

tive until the Tax Reform Act of 1986

became law. Before the Tax Reform
Act. a spread of 30 percent was al-

lowed between contribution rates for

highly-compensated and non-highly-

compensated employees. The Act re-

duced the allowable spread to 5.7

percent.

Age-Weighted Plans

The next major advance toward

achieving employer goals came when

regulations for Section 401(a)(4) of

the Internal Revenue Code wfre is-

sued in 1991. These regulations,
which are more than 6(X) pages long,
allow defined contribution plans, in-

cluding profit sharing plans, to base

nondiscnminaiion testing on benefits

provided at retirement instead of on

annual contributions.

As a result of the new regulations,

many employers are allowed to "age

weight" their plans
— an advantage

previously allowed only with defined

benefit plans. Defined benefit plans
have decreased in populanty, espe-

cially among small employers, be-

cause of their lack of fiexibility. and

because the proliferation of regula-
tions in recent years has made them

adminisiramelv burdensome.

Thii i.\iue ol the Joiininl h ent to presi iii

J<mutir\ mV4
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New comparability gets its name because
it gives employers a new way to compare groups of

employeesfor nondiscrimination testing.

Age-weighdng gives employers the

ability to make contributions based on
the concept that older employees
should receive larger contributions

each year, because they are closer to

retirement and therefore have a shorter

funding period. Because the business

owner and key executives often are

older than other employees, age-

weighting allows the plan to be de-

signed to favor them. Understanding
new comparability requires an under-

standmg of age-weighting because it

IS based on the same concept and is

even referred to by some experts as

"advanced age-weighting."

Age-weighted plans test for

nondiscnmination based on benefits

provided, instead of contributions al-

located. First, the allocation for each

panicipani is projected to retirement

age at a reasonable rate of interest

(8.5 percent is typically used). The re-

sulting lump sum is convened to an

annuity, based on reasonable as-

sumptions (i.e.. 8.5 percent interest

and UP-84 mortality). The annuity is

expressed as a percentage of com-

pensauon. which is called the "equiv-
aleni benefit accrual rate." or EBAR.
The EBAR is then used for all dis-

cnminaiion testing.

Consider, for example, a 55-year-
old with a S1(X).000 salary and a

S20.(XX) annual account addition this

year. Projecting S20.000 at 8.5 per-
cent interest for 10 years, assuming a

retirement age of 65, yields $45,220.

It takes S 1 48 at 8.5 percent interest

to create annual income of S I , so the

employee's annual income from the

plan IS 545,220/510.48. or $4,314.85.

Since his salary is 5100,000. his

EBAR is $4.314.85/$I00.000. or

4.31 percent

When EBARs are used for dis-

cnmination testing, older employees
receive larger annual comnbutions as

a percentage of paj. since their

EBAR IS based on fewer years of

earnings growth Before age-weighi-
inc v\as allowed, an employer ap-

proaching retirement conceivably had

to contnbute more to younger em-

ployees' retirement plans over their

careers than to his or her own ac-

count, since the employer would re-

ceive benefits for fewer years. For

example, a business owner receiving
the maximum $30,000 a year with

five years to reorement hypothcucally
would receive less at retirement than

a 30-year-old employee receiving
$5,(XX) a year would receive at retire-

ment, assuming the plan continued

after the business owner's reurement.

Age-weighting allows employers to

skew benefits in favor of older em-

ployees, but it does ixx always produce
the desired results. For example, with

an age-weighted plan, a 60-year-old
clerical worker may receive a greater
benefit than the employer would like

to provide, while a 30-year-old com-

pany owner may receive a smaller

benefit than desired. Age-weighbng
also creates potential problems for

pannerships. Consider, for example, a

two-person partnership where the part-

ners are 35 and 50. Age-weighting
would give the older partner an annual

contribution more than twice as large
as that of his partner.

New

comparability addresses

these issues. Because new

comparability plans, like age-

weighted plans, are based on

aggregate projected benefits,

it is still important that groups of

highly-compensated individuals, as a

w-hole, be older than groups of non-

highly<ompensated individuals if the

plan IS to work to the employer's ad-

vantage. However, when using new-

comparability, the age of one em-

ployee IS less likely to throw off test-

ing results.

New comparability regulations can

be applied to all types of retirement

plans, but in most cases they arc

likely to be used with profit sharing

plans Employers who are lookjng for

flexibility uill find thai a new com-

parubiliiy plan is most flexible when

it is set up as a profit sharing plan,
since profit shanng plans allow em-

ployers toj-educe or even eliminate

contributions dunng years when the

company has little or no profits.

What Is New Comparability?

Regulations covenng Section

401(a)(4) allow the creation of not

only age-weighted profit shanng
plans, but also new comparability

plans. Although the regulations have
existed since September 1991, most

employee benefits experts either do
not know about new comparability or

are cautious about using it. However,
the use of new comparability should

increase significantly following a re-

cent IRS inierpreution confirming
that new comparability is allowable

under the regulations as they cur-

rently exist.

So exactly what is new compara-
bility? New comparability gets its

name because it gives employers a

new way to compare groups of em-

ployees for nondiscnrmnauon testing.

But it is based on a concept that isn't

so new. It relies on cross-testing,
which was developed in 1981.' Typ-
ically, the participants in the plan are

divided into classes, and then a sepa-
rate contribution is made for each

class. Within a class, the contribution

is allocated uniformly (either as a flat

dollar amount or as a percentage of

pay). The classes may be based on

any reasonable cntena (percentage of

ownership, status as key or highly-

compensated employees. Job de-

scnpiion, length of service, etc.).

Cross-testing is then used to demon-
strate that the resultant allocation

complies with nondiscnmination
rules." As with age-weighied plans,
the allocation for each panicipani is

projected to reurement age and con-

vened to an EBAR.
With new comparabilin. Section

410(b) nondiscnmination lesiins is

satisfied b> dividing employees into

45 JOURNAL Of THE MJISRICAN SOCIETY OF CLU I CnFC MARCH 199J
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"raie groups." Each highly-compen-
sated employee, as deHned by Code

Seaion 4 1 4( q ). deienrunes a separate

rate group. The group consists of that

employee, and all others with an

EBAR equal to or greater than his or

hers. If each rate group satisfies 410(b)

requirements, the allocation as a whole

passes the Section 401 (aM4) lest.

A new comparability plan pro-
vides the employer with more control

than any other plan. The employer

can design a new' comparability plan

that chooses precisely which em-

ployees will be rewarded and how

much they will receive, based on how

he or she sets up the rate groups. For

example, one small business owner

was able to contribute S30.000 a year

to his plan while limiting contribu-

tions for his six employees to just

three percent of pay.

Consider a company that has

highly-compensated employees with

Figure!

Reg. 410(b)-4(c)<4)(lv)
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In some cases, traditionalplans do not allow

the employer enough ofafinancial advantage to make it

worthwhile to establish a profit sharingplan.

based od the table included with
4 1 (Xb) regulahons. The first rate group
has a rano percentage of 50. Since 50
exceeds 39.75, Group I passes the test

The sectind group ba[s three of the four

DOD-hJghly-compensated employees
and tx>th of the iughly-compensaied
employees, to it has a rabo parentage
of (3/4V(2/2). or 75 percent Because
75 exceeds 39.75, it also satisfies the

requirements. Since all rate groups
pass, the nondiscruninatory classifi-

cauontest has been passed.
To pass the second prong, an aver-

age benefit rate must be calculated. It

is calculated by computing the aver-

age EBAR for highly-compensated
employees and the average EBAR for

DOivhighly-compensaied employees.
To pass the test, the average benefit

rate for non-highly-ctwnpensated em-

ployees must equal or exceed 70 per-
cent of the average benefit rate for

highly-compensated employees. In

the example, the average EBAR for

highly-compensated employees is

(12.62 + 4.83 V2. or 8.73 percent Tlie

average EBAR for non-highly-com-

pensated employees is (12.62 -f 2.06

+ 4.83 + 5.16)/4. or 6.17 percent.
Since 6.17/8.73 = 70.67 percent, the

plan passes the test

New Comparability
Comparisons

The advantage of new compara-
bility plans is best illustrated by com-

paring It with other plan designs. In

the first example above, a business

owner has five employees and wants

to maximize his own contnbuuons
while minimizing contributions for

other employees.
As Figure 2 shows, a new compa-

rability plan allows the employer to

maximize his contnbuuon ai S30.(XX).

while coninbuiing a total of Just

S2.792 for his five other employees.

Expressed as a pcrceniage.-9l.5 per-

ceni of ihe total contnbuuon remains

with the employer This allocation is

arrived at by dividing the employees
into twt) classes, ovimers and ixm-own-

ers. A conmbuuon of $30,000 for the

ovbTiers class is declared, aixl a contri-

bution of three percent of pay for the

ixm-owners' class is declared. The re-

sults air as shown in Figure 2. An age-

weighted plan provides the second

most attractive alternative, with 85J
percent of the total contribution re-

maining with the employer and 14.5

percent, or $5,092, going to other em-

ployees. With more traditional plans,

contributions to employees increase

significantly. With an integrated plan,

employees receive $10,184, or 253

percent of die total. With a salary rabo

plan, employees receive $13,96Z or

3 1 .8 percent of the total.

These figures are based on first-

year contributions only. The advan-

tages of new comparability are even

more apparent when viewed over

time. While contributions may not re-

main constant from year to year, for

the sake of this example assume that

they do, and that annual deposits earn

ax percent a year. When the employer
retires in 1 1 years, be will have accu-

mulated $506,098 for himself, com-

pared with a total of $47, 1 07 for other

employees (Figure 3). Other employ-
ees would earn $85,897 using an age-

weighted plan. $171,809 using an

integrated plan, and $235,534 usmg a

salary ratio plan. While the $188,000
difference between the new compara-
bility plan and the salary rano plan in-

cludes interest accumulated over 1 1

years, it is still clear that annual sav-

ings can be significant
In some cases, traditional plans do

not allow the employer enough of a

financial advantage to make it worth-

while to establish a profit sharing

plan. Consider, for example, a restau-

rateur with 30 employees who wants
to contribute the maximum amount
for herself and mininuze contribu-

tions to other employees (see Figure

4). She retains only 27 percent of the

total contribution under a salary ratio

plan, with $29,772 for herself and

$80,652 for other employees. Be-

cause she will not reach retirement

for 22 years, even an age-weighted

plan would not benefit her. To receive

the $30,(X)0 maximum, she would
have to contribute $51,757, or 63.3

percent of total contributions, to other

employees. Typically, employers will

not set up a profit shanng plan unless
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ai leasi 70 percent of beneflis go to

preferred employees.

Using a new comparability plan.

she IS able to contribute S30.000 for

herself and limit contributions to

$17,254 for other employees . She re-

tains 63.5 percent of the contribution,

compared with just 27 percent using
a traditional plan.

Again, a two-class approach was
used — one class of owners, which
received a S30.000 contribution, and
one class of non-owners, which re-

ceived a SI 7.254 contribution. Keep
in mind that cnteria other than own-

ership also could have been used to

define the classes.

Advantages and

Disadvantages

While these examples make the fi-

nancial advantages of new compara-
bihty plans evident, other advantages
also should be considered, including
the following:

• Unlike age-weighted plans, which

are most suited for small businesses,

new comparability plans can be used

efTecuvely by medium-sized and even

fairly large companies.
• They can be used with a 401(k)

plan.
• They can be used to anract and

retain employees with hard-to-find

skiUs.

• If it is designed as a profit shar-

ing plan, the employer retains the

choice of whether to make a contri-

bution in any given year.

As these advantages illustrate,

new comparability is the ideal profit

sharing plan for many businesses.

However, it is not ideal for every
business. Individual circumstances

must be taken into account, and the

following disadvantages should also

be considered:
• Because they are tailored to small

groups of employees within the com-

pany, they are sometimes more diffi-

cult and costly to develop than other

plans, and may require more admin-

istration than many other defined

Figure 3

Accumulations to Retirement
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may want to consider adopting a new

comparability plan while it is siill

permitted, then amending to the next

most favorable type of plan if and

when Congress takes action. J

(I/R Code No. 5900.00/6400.08)

Edward F. Londergan is a consultant of

Ux-quaiirifd plans for Allmerica Flnan-

daL A 1980 graduate of Holy Cross Col-

lege, Mr. Londergan joined Allmerica

Financiml in 1983 as an agent for the

company's Worcester insurance agency.
He Joined Allmerica Financial's borne of-

fice in 198S as administrator, employer
retirament plans, and was promoted to

consultant in 1988.

Paul Vickers, ChFC, FLMI. is a consul-

tant of tax-qualified plans for Allmerica

FinandaL A 1968 graduate of Princeton

University, Mr. Vickers earned a mas-

ter's degree in mathematics from the

Universitv of Pennsylvania in 1970. He

joined Allmerica Financial in 1974, and
has served since then in the systems de-

velopment division and individual re-

tirement planning area. He received the

Fellow, Life Management Institute des-

ignation in 1981 and recently earned the

designation of Chartered Fuiancial Con-

sultant (ChFC).

(1) Rev. Rul. 81-201 1981-2 CB 93.

(2) IRC 51.401(a)(4) -8(bK2).
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Small Firms Turn Retirement Plans Into
Owners' GaYOUR

MONEY
MATTERS

By EUXN E. SCHLLTZ
Staff Reporter of The Wall SrnecT Journal

Is u a retirement plan, or a tax shel-

ter:*

At a growing numt>er of sinall compa-
nies. II can be hard to tell the difference.

More and more small business

owners -
including doctors, dentists, ac-

countants and lawyers
- are discovenng

lush loopholes tiiat let them turn retire-

ment plans intended for all employees into

tax shelters that benefit mostly the owner
or a handful of highly paid people at the

top

The new devices, called "age-

weighted" and "cross-tested" plans, en-

able owners to keep as much as 95% of the

annual contnbutions to tiie plan, to ex-

clude lower-paid employees, and to reduce

the total annual contnbutions they make to

the plan on b«half of rank-and-file

workers.

Employers can do this by blending rules

used m reQremeni savings plans witii rules

used in pension plans. When the resulnng
formula is combined with regulations

meant to prevent retirement plans from

discriminating in favor of the highly paid,

the result is a legal way to discnminate m
favor of the top-paid. How much an

owner can actually keep depends on how
much goes into the plan, the number of

employees, their age and salanes.

"They re tax-planning devices." is how
David Wray. president of the Profit Shar-

ing Council of Amenca in Chicago, charac-

tenzes them. "Basically, they're put in

because one person want to defer as

ruch salary as possible," he adds.

Further, the new tax law will cause

these plans to spread like brush fire, pen-

sion experts predict "Before the tax law

changed, it was a good deal. Now it s a

belter dea'" for owners, says Marcy
Supoviu. vice president of retirement

plans for Pioneer Mutual Funds in Bos-

ton

The plans make it possible for em

plo>ers to escape restncDons in the new

tax law on contnbutions to top-paid em-

ployees The new law effectively limits the

annual contnbution an employer can make

for a person in a traditional profit-shanng

plan or SEP (simplified employee plani

to no more than $22,500 - 15% of the total

"elipible
"

compensation of $150,000. But

with these new types of plans, the amount

Lha! can be distributed to an individual

remains ::j'"c of pay. up to $30,000.

Already. these new mutant species of

rtft.rei.Tent fians are growing like kudzu

\Tnes. and strangling milder, existing

competitors, such as traditional profit

sna.'ine plans. 4dliki plans and SEPs O^er

Keeping a Bigger Piece of the Pie
Business owners can replace existinfl rehrwnem plans with ones that provide them wrth >

greater percemaoe of the money comnbirted. A« this Illustration for a ftve-person plan

shows, the owner gets S2% of the tot^ cortnbudofls to a tr*litonal profit shanng plan i

which aS en^loyees recewed 1 S% trf their piy. Bui arutef "age-weighted" and "compara

ty' plans, the owner can keep « much as 65% Comparat*ty jtons also let the owner

lower the amount contributed tor rank-and-file wortters; In this example, saving $8,026.

CMPLOTEES cominBUTWNS to Mom-SMMMN6m

(UKOTMr)

55
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Smaller Firms' Retirement Plans

Are Turned Into Owners' Bonanza
Continued From Page CI

with a^e-weighting fommJas. the owner
can keep most of the money. "From a
theoretical perspective, the plans are non-

discnminatory," says Mr. Conaway. "If

you convert the doUar amount (that lower-

paid people get] to age-65 doUars. the
l>enefit is the same percentage of pay."

But as helpful as the new plans may be
for smail-busmess owners, they have sen-
ous drawbacks for rank-and-file workers.
To begin with, the plans can exclude

altogether some lower-paid employees, as

long as 70% of the lower-paid employees
are eligible to participate in the plan.

Even those who participate may never
see a dime of retirement money, however,
because these plans have vesting sched-
ules lasting as long as six years. Since

younger, lower-paid employees typically
have high turnover, many aren't likely to

qualify to receive their profit-sharing

money. Forfeited contnbution are reallo-

cated to the remaining people in the plans.
on an annual basis.

'The bottom line is. a large portion of

those contributions never go to those em-

ployees at all. because of the forfeitures."

say Ms. Supovitz.
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SKEWED RETIREMENT
PLANS HELP OWNERS
AT WORKERS' EXPENSE
The new comparability plans take a me-flrst approach to retirement

By Donald Jay Korn

P^
or the put Mveiml yvaxB, timdi-

; tionaldafinad benefit plani have

baen od the waae. A ranray by
the aceoontinc firm Grant Thornton

faand that 22% of email and mid-aind

"T*"*** i"** terminatod aucfa plan*.

"Employen who ofiTer defined benefit

plana are lubject to nnmeroiu adminia-

Ualive raquireinenta and increasing

regulations impoaed by the IRS, the

Labor Dept^ and the^Penaion Benefit

Puarantae Corp.,* aayi Andrew
Znckerman, Grant Thamton'a direetor

ofemployee benefits.

For closely held businesses, the

bottom line is often increasing

expense, for overhead and employee
contributions, while contributions to

owners' personal accounts arc limit-

ed. President Clinton's tax proposal,

if adopted, would further restrict

benefits to high-income executives,

including the owners of small com-

panies. 'Many employers will aee

their personal retirement benefits

reduced and will be less willing to

provide plaiu for their employees,*
Zuckerman says.

Ironically, while a substantial

amount of squeexe-the-rich activity

has been coming out of Washington,
the IRS has just proposed regulations

under Code Section 40I(aK4) that

would permit skewing of benefits in

retirement plans. In certain circum-

stances, so-called *new comparabili-

ty' plans allow close to 90% of corpo-

rate contributions to be made of

behalf of owner-executives. "Business

owners ask us if these plans are for

real." says David McKeon. second

vice president in charge of retirement

plan marketing at The New England.
"Were seeing the return of the

defined benefit client who's been

largciv absent since 1987
"

These new comparability rules

112 nv^Miu riAWiM. '1 \' 1-.

apply to all types of plana but the

greataet imr**"* hkcly will be on profit-

sharing plans, which are gaining pop-

ularity because oftheir flexibility. In a

had year, frmr***'** c^b reduce or

aren eliminate eontributixms to profit-

sharing plans. (By contnut, defined

benefit plans lock employers into con-

tribotians, come what may.) Judging

by the piopoeed regulatians and state-

ments by IRS offidala. finanrial plan-

ners «•'' advise their business owner

clients to look into new comparability

profit-sharing plana.

A basic profit-sharing plan offers

simplicity as well as flexibility. A plan

might, for example, call for eontribu-

tions equal to 15% of eadi participat-

ing emplo3ree's compensation. An

employee earning S100,000 would get

a $15,000 contribution, one earning

S20,000 would get a $3,000 contribu-

tion, and so on.

Such plans may be flexible and

simple, but they ofun don't meet the

desires of business owners. McKeon

gives the example of a company with

two owner-executives, each earning

$150,000, and eight other employ-

ees, earning a total of $300,000 (ttt

chart about). The contributions on

behalf of the owners would be only

half the company's total contribu-

tion,* McKeon says.

Such problems can be addressed

with age-weighted profit-sharing

plans, which won IRS approval a cou-

ple of years ago and have been gaining

ground ever since. In these plans, it's

not the «"'"'«i contribution that has

to be equivalent, from one employee*

to the next; instead, the expected

fiiture benefit for each employee must

be equivalent, as a percentage of com-

pensation.

Suppose two employees, age 50

and 30. both earn S30,000. In a vanil-

la profit-shanng plan, each might get

a 15% ($4,500) contribution. But that

$4,500 will provide a much greater

benefit to the 30-year-old employee,

when he retires a: age 65. thtn it will

to the 50-year-old. when he retire* at

65 That s because the 30-year-old
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Mill tajoy 20 more y«iirc tii tux-

dufrrrrd buildup.

An H|!e-wcif;ht«d pru1it-.>hjirtiit;

plan Lak<% thocc diiTori-nMS i:ilu .

aocou/iL Tbv older the tiinpliiyi^. Ibr

tcreatuT Uif earreot eontnbuiiuii.

liCcauAr Lb«re Hrc fewer ycHiii left to

retirement. More of n uwt ly^c n:u.-;

*jf aocumulmtcd in a chuncr time |mti-

txl. iiucli plum may Ur I'avored bv

clofcly held buyincrutM Utcvufc (Ik*

u«ri>ar>- tend to be older Utao mosi ut

their emiiloyei'*. In ih* exarepic pvm
\/y MrKm.'n. '.hr <m-n«n' iharr uf tin-

contnbu'itNi>^ riic« from 50Q. ai the

liit«lluK«<^.

But (igt^weifhted profil-thannK
piac* ):avf thinr drawbadu, tou. If

tbpfw an- t»f, principal owii«rs, U)r
oMtir uolktu a iargvr shari' ofthe p»e
titan tb« youncer une. Ax you can %l\-

ia Tabic 1, ihu oldvr ownur get* a

OO.UtJi) ronlributioii 'mMximam (nr

ITofit-alianng plaaf) while INf
wwinfB i vwnrr gcu only &22.S00.

AJao, uce-wMKbtad plaxM may five

vurpniiiijti.r lariT cuntributioiu m
uther ulder emp.'i>>«i«s. In thia cxaio-

pie. 4 tit'iyvwr-old derk naroinit
S25.0O0 a yoai tiel* a i6:i50 raotiibu-

tiun. Many buKioiS'* .jwuerk doot like

the idea of directing ntctt a larfe coo-

tribution (•> a naa-esaealiiil employiv.
Ni-w oomparubilily plan* addreM

«tich eoncwrm.. Aj;aiii. theee ore qki--

>vi|:hu<d plan^. Plan partiupiuiu nrv

1

"For a lot of owners,
their real retirement

plan is their business.''

I

dindrd lotu grvupt. Within vach

frxAip. conihbulioun aru the a^me per-

rmtafr ut' OimpartaUon. However,
the pen eiitagc for the older gTwtp
I preuiinably the owotini/ can be much

lur^er thao thr pcrrenui|;« for thi*

yi.uNKcr t^mup. Their piuii« are

dei«i|,nied »<> the ujy;re^atp prrjjected

h<'n»fil» i.r» i-quivaleiit. from 'inr

/Tvup Ui uif ntxi

I.'. .McKoon'b illu.'traliun. Iliv t»u
owners euch |{vl cuntriliUtiuilS ol

S3<i.()00. Jtri ol compt-iisatioii. Eiich o!

<Ik' uIIx r >'.u''' rni|jl(>>ev>. la j iTifui

>»l.*rv the ftvtrrac'' n\n i.- .17. CLOi unl>
;r» Ol' siil.irv Tin. tKi-\ (.•tr-oM »N ""k
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f»ta a $750 euuUiUiUun. not 16.25a

Comparad with • plain tmnina

profit-«hariii( plan, total contribn-

tkma are radtiead bj mora than

$20,000, bvm $90,000 to kM than

$70,000, wfaOa tba ownoa avfa gat a

$30,000 eontribntaoa, not $22,500.

Altogather, 87% of tha eontribotiana

nam go to tba two owaKS. *Aa longm
tbe araraga ag« of tba ewxian ia at

laaat fiva yaaiB graatar than tha avBt^

age age of tba otfaar aiii|iliijaaa. naw

eemparability plans prafaably wiD do

the moat for ownarm,* M^Tr««»' saya.

"niaf bean the caae in arary Qfaia-,

tratioo weVe lookad at ao Car.*

Will tha IBS raally appivre a pntf-

it-aharisg plan in which the bnernaai

oarnora get 20% eontiibatiana and tha

other aiii|iliijaaa only S%7 Yea, if cai^

tmin taata for noc-diacrxniinatian abow
that the projected banefita for the

rank-and-file are at leaat 70% of the

projected benefita for the highly paid.

However, theee teita are complex ao

the lervices of an actuary or a pension
conaultant wiB be needed each year, to

injure compliance. *A small company
might spend a couple of thousand dol-

lars each yeAr. txi implement such s

plan.* sajn McKeon. *As you can tell

by the ezampl<'. that may be modest

compared with the p^»"*iil benefita.*

McKaon pointa to other adran-
tagas of theae plana. They're
eztremely flexible,' he aaya. Tou can
re-aet the groups each yaar, if yon
wiah. Inatoari of two groupa, you
might have three gronpa—owners,
key ezacntives, and other employ-
aas ti l ing something extra to kay
people. Although the IBS haant stat-

ad this, we think a gnmp can contain

jiut one person. We compare new
comparability plans to iian<<inali5ad

plans, bacauae ownars can salaet

amployaas to get the moat banefita,

yat conbibatians are taz-dadoetibla

bacauae they're qtialifiad plana.*
Tbars's no qoestiaD that naw can-

parahflity plana can deUrar more to

DoainaaB ownan than a stBDdanl pntf-

itahning plan,'Zockannan aaya, "and

tiiay may wall daOrar more than an

ag»waightad plan. Niiiirthsli. tfaay

may not be ri^ far erary eonpaiiy.*
Naw comparability pl«ri«^ Kfc» all

proSt-ahazing plans, hare a $30,000
wwtial c^p OQ conUributiona. frmw
hniineaa owners—older aaas with
mach yoangar employeaa—may maka
cooaidarably larger uuuLiibTztiflos to

thair own aoooonts with defined bana-

fit plana, in the right drcmnstaDoaa. If

clients are going to hare to pay far an

actuary oach yaar, to handla retira-

mant plan '•"'^•"'^'"t". and theyVa
cwifWiant tha hiisinMi will ganarata

ample cash flow, thay might be battar

offwith a (iafiaad benefit plan.
On tha othar hand, akawing a

ratirai i>ai it plan mi^it hnt am|doyaa
mofala and ladtioe \*^'

"w'*^* ^or
a lot of ownaim,* Zockaiman aaya,
thair raal latiiautant plan ia thair

bnaiaaaa. Either thayH aaD tha com-

pany or bra on diridanda. Wfayjaopai^
disa tha suecaaa of thia bnaiBaas by
antagooixing employaaa? In the and,

each hnainaas owner has to cone up
with tiie choice ha or aha prafsn.*

Similarly, fitiam-iai plannara can

only adriae their bnsineas owner

clients, not make the ultimate dad-
aiona. In order to give the beat adriea,

planners need to know all the

options. They need to familiarize

themselves with comparability plana,
the latest star in the retirement plan-

ning firmsment, because they may
shine brightest on the buiineas owner
clisot who's truly out for himself

and isn't concerned with employee
retention. HI
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Prepared Statement of Martin Si^te

I am honored to join Secretary Reich and Assistant Secretary Samuels to discuss

the Administration's Retirement Protection Act. This is comprehensive, balanced

legislation. It will squarely address underfunding in our nations pension plans and

protect the benefits of American workers and retirees. I join the Secretary and Mr.

Samuels in underscoring that this is indeed the time for reform.

I. INTRODUCTION

Our reforms may be summed up in one word: funding. We believe that the

present pace and certainty of pension plan funding are inadequate. Steps should be

taken to assure that sponsors of underfunded plans significantly accelerate their

pension contributions.

Our major reform measures will:

• strengthen the funding rules for underfunded plans;
• enhance PBGC compliance authority;
• increase premiums for those plans that pose the greatest risk; and
• broaden participant disclosure requirements.

Fully funded plans will not be affected by our major reforms.

I thought I could be of most help to the Committee this morning if I detailed the

growing long-term problem in pension underfunding and then provided further ex-

planation of our reforms . . . how they work and why they will work.

II. THE PROBLEM

Most pension plans are fully funded. Pension underfunding in certain iridustries,

however, is a chronic problem, growing and persistent. In the last six years,

underfunding has nearly doubled—from $27 billion in 1987, to $38 billion in 1991,

and to $53billion in 1992. While some of the most recent underfunding is attrib-

utable to the drop in interest rates, it is clear that the current funding rules are

not working. Even if interest rates had not fallen, underfunding would still have in-

creased. Certain companies simply are not putting enough money into their pension

plans.
About three-quarters of this underfunding is in plans sponsored by financially

healthy firms and does not present an immediate risk to participants or the PBGC.
The most severe risk lies with the remaining plans, with an estimated $14 billion

in underfunding, accounting for approximately 1.2 million workers and retirees.

These plans are maintained by companies with below investment grade bond rat-

ings.
Like Secretary Reich, I have been encouraged by promises of increased funding

by certain companies. Even with these contributions, and even with the recent rise

in interest rates, serious and substantial underfunding will persist without strong

legal reform.
For participants, this underfunding threatens the loss of benefits not covered by

the PBGC guarantee.
These underfunded plans also pose a risk to the PBGC. The PBGC is in no imme-

diate danger. This is because we pay benefits out over time, just as pension plans
do. However, until chronic underfunding is addressed, the long-term health of the

PBGC remains in jeopardy. Our deficit now approaches $2.9 billion. In the last few

weeks, the General Accounting Office (GAO) validated this deficit. GAO expressed
concern about PBGC's financial future because of the disturbing trends in the PBGC
deficit and pension underfunding.
These trends must be reversed.

III. APPROACH TO REFORM

The Retirement Protection Act is carefully drafted to reduce underfunding mark-
edly, but in a reasonable, doable way. In preparing this legislation, we set a number
of guideposts.

First, we set a goal of funding all vested benefits in 15 years. This will assure
that benefits for workers in the industries most affected by underfunding will be

paid.

Second, we sought to fix only what is broken. Our reform proposals target under-
funded plans. Fully funded plans—most plans—are not affected by our major re-

forms.
For those who are affected, we sought to make the reforms affordable. Our re-

forms are based on actual experience under current law and modelling of data from
real plans. These reforms will protect the pension benefits of American workers and
retirees, while at the same time allowing business to continue. The underfunding
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gap must be closed, but business and work must move forward. We think the por-

ridge is just about right. The reforms are reasonable.

Finally, we sought to build on current law. We were able to identify the structural

problems in the law and to address those problems in a way that will assure that

the promise of ERISA is kept for all.

rV. THE LEGISLATION—STRENGTHEN THE FUNDING RULES FOR UNDERFUNDED PI.ANS

Our primary reform is to strengthen the funding requirements for underfunded

plans.

ERISA Rules

In 1974, ERISA established the concept that a plan must be funded in advance-

money must be put aside currently for benefit payments that are due in the future.

The ERISA funding rules provided a good start for sound funding, but many plans
remain severely underfunded. In part, acute underfunding persists because compa-
nies were permitted to fund a portion of their benefit liabilities over a period of 30

to 40 years.

OBRA '87

Thirteen years after ERISA, Congress addressed funding again. OBRA '87 intro-

duced the deficit reduction contribution (DRC), an additional minimum contribution

requirement intended to accelerate funding in underfunded plans.

Despite the DRC, plan funding has not unproved since 1987. Companies can uti-

lize credits and offsets and set actuarial assumptions so that contributions are mini-

mized. Fully within the law, many employers have been able to make little or no

pension contributions, even though their plans are severely underfunded.
Between 1989 and 1992, for example, after paying for current year accruals, con-

tributions to half of the underfunded plans of companies with the largest

underfunding did not even cover the interest on their unfunded liabilities. This is

comparable to paying off only part of the interest on a credit card and none of the

principal.

Reform Proposals
To get the DRC back on track, our, reforms make three changes.
(1) Strengthen the DRC Formula.

First, to speed up pension funding, we would change the DRC formula so that in

severely underfunded plans, most new liabilities would be paid for within five to

seven years.
(2) End Double Counting.
Second, we end the double counting of gains (and changes in liabilities due to

changes in actuarial assumptions) under the DRC and the plan's funding standard
account. This double counting of credits has enabled employers to . . contributions.

A plan sponsor would be required to pay the larger of the DRC or the regular mini-
mum funding requirement.

(3) Constrain Assumptions.
Finally, our reforms require the use of specified interest rate and mortality as-

sumptions to determine contributions. We propose to narrow the DRC corridor for

interest rate assumptions to between 90% and 100% of the four-year weighted aver-

age of Treasury bonds and require use of the GAM '83 mortality table. This is the

nationally accepted mortality table used by most states to calculate insurance com-

pany reserves for annuities. These assumptions are designed to measure the amount
necessary to fully fund the plan on a termination basis. Only by requiring that em-
ployers use these assumptions will we be" able to fully fund pension plans. A bill

that does not include these requirements, particularly the mortality standards, will

lose much of its force.

To moderate the impact of this change, plans could amortize any resulting in-

crease in pre-1995 liability over 12 years.

Plan Solvency
In addition to these overall changes in the funding rules, our reforms include a

special solvency rule to insure that severely underfunded plans would be able to

meet their benefit obligations. To assure benefits are
paid,

a severely underfunded

plan would be required to maintain cash and marketable securities equal to approxi-

mately three years' worth of benefit payments.

Benefit Increases

The bill requires that benefit increases be funded on an accelerated schedule—
in most cases, over five to seven years. It also requires that employers recognize im-

mediately, for funding purposes, any benefit increases that have been bargained but
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are not yet in effect. (Under current law, an employer is not required to start fund-

ing these benefit increases until they are effective.)
,., , , . .1

It is our view that benefit increases should be paid for speedily through strength-

ened funding requirements. Explicit restrictions on benefit increases are not nec-

essary and are unfair to working people and to retirees.

Effective Dates

Our proposals will be effective for plan years beginning in 1995. These new rules

will pick up increases that were negotiated in 1992 and 1993.

Transition Rule

Accelerated funding is essential if plans are to be placed on a sound footing At

the same time companies need to be able to move forward with their business. 1 he

legislation contains a special transition rule to protect employers from extraordinary

increases in their annual contributions for up to seven years. Although the rule var-

ies according to the plan's funding ratio, it generally limits the required annual in-

crease in employer contributions to the amount necessary to achieve a three per-

centage point per year increase in the plan's funding ratio.

Exceptions
Most of our rules would not affect plans with 100 or fewer workers.

Remove Impediments to Funding
Most of our funding reforms strengthen the minimum funding requirements. We

also want to remove certain impediments that discourage employers from fully fund-

ing their plans. For example, we propose to eliminate the excise tax that inhibits

companies with both a defined benefit and a 401(k) plan from contributing when
the combined funding would exceed 25% of compensation. We also propose to elimi-

nate the quarterly contribution requirement for well-funded plans.

ENHANCE PBGC COMPLIANCE AUTHORITY

Strengthened funding rules should assure improvements in most cases. There are,

however, special circumstances where enhanced PBGC compliance authority is also

needed to provide better pension protection.
All too often we have seen companies undertaking business transactions that en-

danger pension promises. For instance, a healthy corporation might spin off a sub-

sidiary in poor health with an underfunded pension plan. This can leave the subsidi-

ary's plan without a source of funding because the corporate tie is broken.

The only remedy PBGC has in these circumstances is to terminate the plan. This

can be a harsh remedy because participants are hurt, and the resulting claim for

plan underfunding can have serious consequences for employers.
Our proposals would allow PBGC to apply to the federal court for remedies other

than plan termination. For example, PBGC could seek to impose funding respon-

sibility, for a certain period of time, on a
corporation

that sells a subsidiary.
Our reforms are tailored. They would apply only when the transaction is of a sub-

stantial nature, involving more than 10% of a controlled group's assets, revenues,
or operating income and only when a transaction poses a risk to the PBGC. Our
desire is to protect benefits, not to hobble corporate transactions.

We also propose to require companies whose plans are underfunded by more than
$50 million to provide PBGC with advance notice of transactions that might affect

underfunding. Much of this is like the Hart-Scott-Rodino notice procedure used by
the Federal Trade Commission in the antitrust area, but it will affect far fewer
transactions. Had this notice provision been in effect in 1993, 30 transactions would
have been covered.

BANKRUPTCY

We continue to support bankruptcy reforms that would: (1) make it clear that

companies are required to make their minimum funding contributions before they
come out of bankruptcy; and (2) give the PBGC the option of being a member of

creditors' committees.

INCREASE PREMIUMS FOR THOSE PLANS THAT POSE THE GREATEST RISK

We propose to increase premiums for plans that pose the greatest risk by phasing
out the current cap on PBGC's variable rate premium over three years.
PBGC's annual insurance premium for single-employer plans has two elements—

a flat-rate of $19 per participant paid by all plans, and a variable rate charge for

underfunded plans. The variable rate charge is capped at $53 per participant. This

cap weakens the funding incentive for the most seriously underfunded plans.
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While plans at the cap account for 80% of all the underfunding in single-employer

plans, their premiums represent only about 25% of PBGC's total premium revenue.

We need to put the responsibility where it belongs and change the incentives in the

premium structure. As their plans become better funded, employers will pay less in

premiums over time.

BROADEN PARTICIPANT DISCLOSURE REQUIREMENTS

Our reforms would require that timely, clear information on plan funding and
PBGC guarantees be provided to participants in underfunded plans. The more peo-

ple know about their pensions, the better.

Also, our bill seeks to facilitate payment of benefits to so-called "missing partici-

pants." The PBGC has an active program for locating participants in terminated un-

derfunded plans that we trustee. Our legislation would build on this effort by estab-

lishing the PBGC as a central clearinghouse for employers terminating fully funded

plans who have difficulty providing benefits to missing participants.

OTHER CHANGES

We propose a number of other changes. These include:

• elimination of "cross-testing" of profit-sharing plans;
• more flexible remedies for the PBGC to address noncompliance in standard ter-

mination procedures;
• revision of the interest rate and mortality assumptions that a plan may use to

calculate a lump-sum distribution; and
• the rounding down of the annual increases in the contribution and benefit limi-

tations for retirement plans.

V. CONCLUSION

These reforms will markedly increase funding in the most underfunded plans and
do so in a reasonable, affordable way. Again, all vested benefits will be funded with-

in fifteen years. We project, based on prior PBGC experience, that the PBGC deficit

will be eliminated within ten years.
The reforms are targeted in very specific ways to correct current law and make

it work. At the same time, the reforms are comprehensive and balanced. We think

we have the fix for the problem, and we think it's the right fix.

The pension system is fundamentally sound, but the problems that are developing

today can become the red flags of tomorrow. It is important to address these prob-
lems now, while they are still manageable. If we wait, the medicine will most cer-

tainly have to be stronger.
We must stay ahead of the curve and take every step possible to assure that the

hard-earned benefits of our nation's workers are protected.

Pension Benefit Guaranty Corporation,
Washington, DC, June 30, 1994.

Hon. Daniel P. Moynihan,
Chairman, Committee on Finance,
U.S. Senate,

Washington, DC

Re: Retirement Protection Act of 1993. S. 1780

Dear Mr. Chairman: On behalf of Secretary Reich and the other members of the
Pension Benefit Guaranty Corporation's Board of Directors, I would like to thank
the Finance Committee for its timely and important hearing on S. 1780. the "Retire-

ment Protection Act of 1993." At the hearing, you requested that the PBGC offer

its perspective on statements made by other witnesses. I appreciate the opportunity
to do so.

Let me underscore the need for the legislation before addressing the specific state-

ments. Underfunding is entrenched and will not simply go away on its own. The
Interagency Task Force that Secretary Reich appointed last year to review pension
funding met with 77 people with major stakes in the retirement plan system—rep-
resentatives of business, labor, retiree groups, and pension experts. Virtually all

agreed that pension underfunding presents a serious long-term problem that should
be addressed by legislation now.
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The Retirement Protection Act is carefully crafted to speed up funding of chron-

ically underfunded plans in a balanced and affordable way. The
h^art

of the Admin-

istration's proposal is to strengthen the funding reforms started by OBKA 87 now

while the problem is manageable. Our proposals are the product of detailed analyses

of experience under current law and projections of future impact using models based

on actual corporate financial and pension plan data.

At the hearing, witnesses raised issues with respect to the seriousness ot the

problem and the effect of various provisions of the bill. I offer the following facts

and clarifications in response to the questions raised.

PBGC's DEFICIT IS REAL

While certain witnesses questioned PBGC's deficit figures, the General Accounting

Office recently validated the deficit in its audit of the agency's finances. The PBGCs
deficit in the single-employer program is $2.9 billion.

The PBGC uses Generally Accepted Accounting Principles, as do the corporations

sponsoring the pension plans we regulate. These principles require the PBGC to in-

clude losses from "probable" claims in its financial statements.

Our deficit is projected to grow if reforms are not enacted. This projection is based

on our claims experience and economic assumptions generally used by the Office of

Management and Budget and the Congressional Budget Office.

PENSION PLAN UNDERFUNDING IS CHRONIC AND PERSISTENT

The seriousness of underfunding is demonstrated by the fact that underfunding
has nearly doubled in the last six years—from $27 billion in 1987, to $38 billion

in 1991, and to $53 billion in 1992. Some of the most recent underfunding is attrib-

utable to the decline in interest rates, but underfunding is nevertheless chronic and

persistent. Our analysis shows that even if interest rates were held constant,

underfunding in half of the 50 companies with the largest underfunded pension

plans, which we publish annually, would have gotten worse from 1991 to 1992.

Interest rates are cyclical. Although they may go up over time, causing liabilities

(and sometimes assets) to shrink, they just as certainly will decrease over time as

well. Plans can terminate at any point in the cycle, so we cannot count on increasing

interest rates to take care of the problem for us.

THE RETIREMENT PROTECTION ACT IS AFFORDABLE

The concerns about affordability expressed at the hearing are the same concerns

that the Task Force heard and acted upon in tailoring the bill's reforms. We have
conducted extensive analyses and tested the reforms on financial data from actual

companies and plans to assure affordability.
We focus on the problem area—those plans that are underfunded. We have in-

cluded a seven-year transition rule to mitigate the impact of large contribution in-

creases and still accomplish our basic funding goals. There may be some companies
affected by large increases when the transition period ends. These companies can
reduce any impact of such increases by putting in more than the minimum contribu-

tions during the early years.
The issue here is really not affordability. Rather, it is to assure that companies

do not have the opportunity to avoid paying for their pension promises. Under cur-

rent law, even companies with the most underfunded plans have the flexibility to

minimize or eliminate their pension contributions. Now, with the economy on the

upswing, is a perfect opportunity for companies to commit to putting money into

their pension plans.

THE FUNDING REFORMS WILL ASSURE ADEQUATE FUNDING

The bill sets a goal of funding all vested benefits in 15 years. While some wit-

nesses said that this goal is too high, the Retirement Protection Act's objective is

to get companies with underfunded plans to fund in a manner that more closely re-

flects the real-world risk to participants and actual exposure to the PBGC if the

Ian should terminate. As Senator Bradley noted during the hearing, a recent study

y the General Accounting Office on hidden liabilities, such as early retirement sub-

sidies, confirmed how quickly plan liabilities increase in a terminating plan.^

E

iln "Hidden Liabilities Increase Claims Against Government Insurance Program" (GAO/
HRD-93-7), December 30, 1992, GAO surveyed 44 plans with the largest claims against the

PBGC for calendar years 1986-1988 with unfunded liabilities of $1 million or more at termi-

nation. All but two of these plans had hidden liabilities. GAO characterized unfunded liabilities

not reported by the plans prior to termination, such as early retirement benefits, as hidden li-
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FIXING ASSUMPTIONS WILL IMPROVE FUNDING

Constraining assumptions for interest and mortality goes to the heart of the legis-

lation's goal of assuring funding of vested benefits in 15 years. Even a small change
in interest rates or mortality assumptions can significantly reduce a company's re-

quired funding.
While some argued for setting their own actuarial assumptions, experience has

shown that companies will use the latitude that they have in current law to mini-

mize contributions. If companies are permitted to continue to use their own mortal-

ity assumptions, our bill's ability to achieve real improvement in underfunding will

be significantly curtailed. Less than half of the improvement we anticipate from the

reforms would be realized.

The current flexibility that employers have to set actuarial assumptions is prob-
lematic. Take the case of the two car companies that I referred to during my testi-

mony. One company uses a mortality table that has its workers dying twice as fast

as the other company's mortality table, even though the demographics of the two
workforces are similar. The Retirement Protection Act would end such rnajor dis-

parities. The Act requires plans to use the mortality table, GAM 83, that insurance

companies are required to use by the IRS and the states. ^

The legislation also sets a range of interest rates that plans can use to calculate

contributions. Setting the interest rate corridor at 90%^100% of weighted 30-year

Treasury rates brings the funding target more in line with the value of termination

liability. The Act does not ask that companies with healthy plans use these assump-
tions; they are simply intended to begin the process of getting underfunded plans
funded more quickly so that, if they terminate, the PBGC and participants are pro-
tected.''

UNCAPPING THE VARIABLE RATE PREMIUM BRINGS EQUITY AND FUNDING INCENTIVES
TO THE PREMIUM STRUCTURE

PBGC's annual insurance premium for single-employer plans has two elements—
a flat-rate of $19 per participant paid by all plans, and a variable rate charge for

underfunded plans. The variable rate charge is $9 per $1,000 of underfunding, and
is capped at $53 per participant. Thus, the maximum premium per participant for

an underfunded plan is $72.
Underfunded plans are not now paying their fair share in premiums, despite the

increased risk they impose on the system. Nor does the cap provide any incentive

to increase funding. Plans accounting for 80 percent of the underfunding pay only
25 percent of the variable rate premium. While some witnesses said that no pre-
mium increase is warranted, removing the cap provides for fairness, puts the re-

sponsibility where it belongs, and rewards underfunded plans that do fund up.
The focus of this legislation is on funding. Increasing the variable rate premium

will encourage better funding. We are only asking companies to pay less than a dol-

lar for every $100 in underfunding. As their plans become better funded, employers
will pay less in premiums over time.

PBGC NEEDS BETTER COMPLIANCE AUTHORITY TO PROTECT PENSIONS

PBGC needs enhanced compliance tools to better protect pension benefits, not to

interfere in ordinary business affairs as some have suggested. All too often we have
seen companies undertake business transactions that endanger pension promises.
For instance, a healthy corporation might sell off a subsidiary in poor health with

abilities to the PBGC. These hidden liabilities increased the reported underfunding by nearly
607c by the time these 44 plans became PBGC claims ($1.7 billion to $2.7 billion).

2
During the hearing, reference was made to a 1987 mortality study of the Society of Actuaries

that was said to show that GAM 83 is more conservative than actual experience. It appears that

the witness had focused on only part of the study involving only some workers. A more complete
look at the study demonstrates the reasonableness of GAM 83. When the study's data on

healthy active workers, as well as retirees, are considered, and applying even a modest mortal-

ity improvement from the date of the study to the proposed effective date of the legislation, the

resulting liabilities for a typical plan, calculated using the rates in the study, are virtually the
same as those calculated using GAM 83.

^One witness objected to the bill's interest rate assumption because it is more conservative

than Financial Accounting Standards Board standards. FASB standards are designed to disclose

the funding status of ongoing plans,
not to measure the cost to close out a terminated plan.

The Actuarial Standards Board nas stated in the strongest terms that FASB standards are inap-

fropriate
in measuring plan termination liability and should not be relied on by participants,

ndced, the Board has airected that actuaries caution users of financial statements that the

FASB standard is not plan termination liability, and that other calculations are needed to judge
benefit security at plan termination. (See, "Actuarial Standard of Practice No. 2.")
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an underfunded plan. This can leave the subsidiary's plan without a source of fund-

ing because the corporate tie has been broken. Our compliance measures will guard

against companies circumventing their pension obligations.
The reforms are carefully tailored. In the case of an entity leaving the controlled

group, the alternative remedy proposal applies only in the case of transactions in-

volving 10 percent or more of the corporate assets, revenues, or operating income,

and only if they pose a risk to PBGC.
• n u

The advance notice proposal, which allows us to identify potentially harmful

transactions before they can permanently damage a plan, only affects controlled

groups with more than $50 million of underfunding (about 105 groups currently).

It would have applied to fewer than 30 transactions in the last fiscal year. Our pro-

posal is modelled on the Hart-Scott-Rodino notice procedure used by the Federal

Trade Commission in the antitrust area, but it will affect far fewer transactions.

Let me give you a few examples of actual cases in which these enhanced compli-

ance tools would have helped:
• In 1986, Carl Icahn's corporate group purchased TWA. In 1992, with the TWA
pension plans under funded by about $1 billion and TWA in bankruptcy, Mr.

Icahn negotiated a reorganization plan that severed TWA from the Icahn con-

trolled group, leaving PBGC and the plan participants at risk for the

underfunding.
PBGC's only tool was the threat that the agency would terminate the pension

plans while the Icahn entities were still a part of the controlled group and re-

sponsible for the underfunding. A plan termination likely would have closed the

airline, resulting in the loss of 30,000 jobs. In the end, a settlement was nego-
tiated with Mr. Icahn, but more sensible tools would have provided better pro-

tection.
• In 1985 White Consolidated Industries, a large conglomerate, sold off Blaw
Knox which had $65 million in underfunding. Blaw Knox was unable to meet
the funding requirements of the plans. The situation deteriorated to the point
where the plans terminated in the last few years, costing the PBGC over $100
million and certain retirees some of their benefits.

Had the PBGC had the appropriate compliance tools, benefits could have been
better protected.

In closing, Mr. Chairman, I want to emphasize once again that the Retirement
Protection Act is comprehensive and balanced. It is carefully targeted to correcting

only what is wrong in current law. This legislation is a reform package; it is not
a major overhaul of our pension laws. We thank you again for reviewing the Admin-
istration's proposal, and we look forward to working with the Committee on passage
of this much-needed legislation.

Sincerely,
Martin Slate, Executive Director.

Prepared Statement of Robert M. Spira

Mr. Chairman and Members of the Committee: My name is Robert M. Spira, I

am Director of Government Relations and Senior Corporate Counsel for Leaseway
Transportation Corp. I am pleased to submit this testimony on behalf of the Multi-

employer Pension Plan Solvency Coalition ("Coalition"). The Coalition is composed
of employers who contribute to multiemployer pension plans and of industry trade
associations that represent employers who contribute to multiemployer pension
plans. These associations include the American Trucking Associations, Inc., the As-
sociated General Contractors of America, the National Constructors Association, the
National Association of Waterfront Employers and the Food Marketing Institute.

The Coalition's principal goal is the passage of legislation that will address the seri-

ous problems caused by underfunding in multiemployer pension plans.
The Retirement Protection Act of 1993 (S. 178(3), the Administration's proposal to

improve pension plan funding, does not include provisions addressing funding levels

in multiemployer pension plans. According to Secretary of Labor Robert Reich, the
Administration believes that multiemployer pension plans do not present a problem
because underfunding has decreased since 1980. Therefore, legislation addressing
multiemployer pension plan funding levels is not required.
We disagree with Secretary Reich. His position ignores the facts. There is a prob-

lem. The problem is getting worse. It will not go away by itself The favorable fund-

ing trends reported by Secretary Reich in his testimony to the House Ways and
Means Committee on April 19, 1994 occurred in the 198(3's. They are a thing of the

past. Since, 1990, underfunding in multiemployer plans has more than doubled. It

is the recent increases in underfunding, and the dramatic declines in the number
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of active employee participants in some multiemployer plans, that are the relevant

trends that Congress needs to consider.
Our Coalition testified before the House Ways and Means Oversight Subcommit-

tee in 1991 and in 1992 and before the Senate Finance Subcommittee on Private

Retirement Plans and Oversight of the Internal Revenue Service in 1992. As a re-

sult of our testimony and the testimony of others, Congressman J.J. Pickle in the

House and Senators Jeffords, Durenberger and Kassebaum in the Senate introduced

the Pension Funding Improvements Act of 1993 (H.R. 298/S. 105). Title II of the

Pension Funding Improvements Act is intended to control underfunding in seriously
underfunded single and multiemployer pension plans through restrictions on benefit

increases. We are confident that, upon review of the following facts, the Committee
will agree that these provisions are a necessary part of any comprehensive pension
reform.

1. According to the Pension Benefit Guaranty Corporation ("PBGC"), from 1980
and until 1990, multiemployer plan underfunding decreased from $33 billion to $5
billion. However, since then underfunding has more than doubled. According to

PBGC estimates, the rate of increase in underfunding in multiemployer plans be-

tween 1990 and 1992 may actually be greater than the rate of increase in

underfunding in single employer plans over the same period of time. Although
PBGC has tried to attribute the increase in underfunding to the drop in interest

rates and investment returns, a 1992 PBGC report admits that the alarming rise

in underfunding was caused by falling interest rates and benefit increases. Exhibit

A sets forth the levels of underfunding in certain multiemployer plans.
2. The recent increases in underfunding are even more significant when viewed

in the context of the decline in the number of employees in these plans for whom
contributions are made. Deregulation in 1980 resulted in a dramatic realignment of

the trucking industry. Non-union segments have grown while traditional union car-

riers have languished. Employment levels in union trucking operations have de-

clined by 40% since 1978.
These changes in the trucking industry have had a negative impact on union-

sponsored multiemployer plans. Many of the underfunded multiemployer plans have
lost between 40% and 60% of their active employee participants since 1978. These
declines are expected to continue. Each decline in the contribution base of an under-
funded multiemployer plan has the effect of increasing the exposure of the union

employers who remain. However, some plans have experienced both increases in

underfunding and declines in the number of active employee participants. Exhibit
B illustrates the decline in the number of active employee participants in many of

the most seriously underfunded plans.
3. There are 9 million employees covered under 2,000 multiemployer plans as of

1992. Approximately 3 million of these employees are covered by plans that are cur-

rently underfunded. Many multiemployer plans are funded at less than 90%.
In 1990, PBGC reported that 89 percent of all multiemployer plans covering about

80 percent of all multiemployer plan participants were fully funded for vested bene-
fits. By 1992, however, only 80 percent of all multiemployer plans (covering about
68 percent of all multiemployer plan participants) were fully funded for vested bene-
fits. Therefore, the number of underfunded multiemployer plans is increasing.

4. PBGC has been advised of weaknesses in its multiemployer program. In Sep-
tember, 1993, the General Accounting Office reported to Congress that the PBGC
has not adequately assessed its liability for future financial assistance to financially-
troubled multiemployer pension plans. Although S. 1780 fails to address these weak-
nesses, PBGC has acknowledged that if only one large multiemployer plan becomes
insolvent the surplus in its multiemployer insurance fund could be wiped out.

We have been informed by PBGC that, it monitors the financial condition of its

multiemployer program. PBGC's "watch list" of troubled plans will only be effective

to the extent that a troubled plan experiences an orderly, visible and gradual de-

cline in its financial condition. However, current economic and competitive condi-
tions create a climate in some industries in which business failures could trigger
uncollectible withdrawal liability claims at a pace far quicker than could be mon-
itored effectively by the PBGC.

5. PBGC guarantees pension benefits well below the level retirees would expect
to receive if they were to get all the benefits they were promised. The maximum
PBGC guarantee is calculated at $ 16.25 times the employee's years of service. A
pensioner with 30 years of service would be guaranteed only $487.50 a month or

$5,850 a year as compared with the $2,500 a month or $30000 a year promised by
some of the underfunded plans.
As we have demonstrated, multiemployer plan underfunding threatens the PBGC

and the employees who are relying on plan benefits for their retirement income.

However, the Committee should not lose sight of the impact of underfunding on the
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employers contributing to multiemployer plans. Under the Multiemployer Pension

Plan Amendments Act of 1980 ("MPPAA"), employers are liable to the plan for their

pro rata share of unfunded vested benefit Uabilities ("withdrawal hability ).

The problems of employers that arise from multiemployer pension plan

underfunding are real. My employer, Leaseway Transportation Corp., is a trucking

company with operations throughout the United States. Revenues for 1993 were ap-

proximately $630 million. As a result of obligations under our union contracts,

Leaseway contributes to more than 40 multiemployer plans. Leaseway s aggregate

contingent withdrawal liabilities to these plans are estimated to be in excess of the

company's $50 million net worth. Although Leaseway does not desire to withdraw

from any of the plans in which we participate, events outside of the company s con-

trol, such as the cancellation of a major contract, could result in claims that exceed

our ability to pay. ^ i-
•

i i

Other union trucking companies who are members of our Coahtion, particularly

the smaller, family-owned companies, are also threatened by their obligations to un-

derfunded pension plans. These obligations make it difficult, if not impossible, for

these individuals to reap the benefits of years of hard work and risk. Potential pur-

chasers are not willing or able to assume contingent liabilities that far exceed the

value of the business. In addition, a company's financial results are affected because

its pension fund obligations negatively impact credit ratings and interest rates.

Supporters for the present system have often claimed that multiemployer pension

plan underfunding should be controlled through the collective bargaining process.

This suggestion loses sight of what is and is not settled through collective bargain-

ing. Wages and fringe benefit costs, including contributions to the pension fund, are

negotiated through collective bargaining. Benefit levels are established by fund

trustees.

The needed financial controls are not available to contributing employers through

management of the funds. Although multiemployer funds have boards of trustees

appointed in equal numbers by the unions and by management, once a trustee as-

sumes the position as trustee, he or she has a duty of undivided loyalty to the bene-

ficiaries of the plan's trust funds. Therefore, a trustee could not resist benefit im-

provements because of concern about the impact of those improvements on employ-
ers contributing to the fund. Many of the funds that have been chronically under-

funded continue to increase benefits.

We recognize that managers of some multiemployer plans have expressed opposi-
tion to legislation imposing limitations on benefit increases because, in their opin-
ion: (1) it is not necessary: and (2) it is intended to undermine the multiemployer
pension system. The trends in certain multiemployer plans that we described

above—increases in the level of underfunding, declines in the number of active em-

ployee participants, and increases in benefits—demonstrate that changes are needed
if underfunding is to be reduced.
The reductions in underfunding that should result from the legislation would not

undermine the multiemployer pension system as some have feared. It is not the goal
of the members of our Coalition to avoid withdrawal liability. Rather, it is our goal
to eliminate such liability to the extent a fund is reasonably able to do so. A reduc-

tion in underfunding would not motivate contributing employers to withdraw from
a multiemployer fund, but would eliminate one of the principle reasons why employ-
ers avoid commitments that require them to join a multiemployer fund. The legisla-
tion would result in a healthier pension system for employers and employees.
As we have demonstrated, there is a problem, the problem is getting worse and

it will not go away by itself The Administration's efforts to deal with underfunding
in single-employer defined benefit plans, as reflected by S. 1780, will be incomplete
unless they also deal with underfunding in multiemployer plans by including Title

II of S. 105. The attention now being given to single-employer plan underfunding
presents a perfect opportunity for Congress to correct the chronic underfunding in

multiemployer plans. Action should be taken now, while the issue of pension fund-

ing is being considered by the Congress and before plan reorganizations and insol-

vencies occur.

The solution proposed by Title II of S. 105 and supported by our Coalition is a

simple one. The financial health of pension plans should be secured through limita-

tions in unfunded benefit increases. Title II of S. 105 has also been endorsed by
other pension experts as a necessary part of the solution of the larger underfunding
problem that currently affects both single and multiemployer pension plans.

Title II to S. 105 is not a complete answer to the multiemployer pension plan

problem. It will, however, help "stop the bleeding" by requiring a balance between
a pension fund's financial standing and benefit increases.

Employees are entitled to rely on the pension promises that are made to them.

Although potential restrictions that may arise from Title II of S. 105 might, at first
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glance, appear to be unfair, these restrictions are far leas unfair to employees than
a system that authorizes empty pension promises.

EXHIBIT A

Multiemployer Fund
Recent Plan YearAJnfunded

Vested Liability of the Plan'

Central States SE & SW Areas Pension Fund

NYSA-ILA Pens ion Trust Fund & Plan Board of Trustees

Teamsters Pension Trust of Philadelphia & Vicinity

Chicago Truck Drivers, Helpers & Warehouse Workers Union

Alaska Teamsters Employer Pension Trust

Western Pennsylvania Teamsters Pension Fund

1992/$1,414,416,000

1991/$316,796,100

1991/$228,828,938

1992/$86,458,300

1991/$84,256,866

1991/$70,323,139

'The Coalition has continued to research the funding status of multiemployer pension plans In addition to the trends m the financial con-

ditions of the funds, as described above, our study also demonstrated that certain trends which we described in our 1991 testimony to the

subcommittee on Oversight reganling the availability of information regarding multiemployer plans are continuing. Form 5500's are not avail-

able When they are available, they are not complete or up to date. Thorough and comprehensive research is impossible. As indicated on Page
12 of The General Accounting Offices CGAO') September 1993 Report to the Congress, the GAo has had similar problems finding information

regarding the underfunded multiemployer plans.

EXHIBIT Bi

Multiemployer Fund
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Statement of the American Council on Education

(ON behalf of the AMERICAN ASSOCIATION OF STATE COLLEGES AND UNIVERSITIES;

college and university PERSONNEL ASSOCL\TION; NATIONAL ASSOCIATION OF COL-

LEGE AND UNIVERSITY BUSINESS OFFICERS; NATIONAL ASSOCIATION OF INDEPENDENT

COLLEGES AND UNIVERSITIES; NATIONAL ASSOCIATION OF INDEPENDENT SCHOOLS;
TEACHERS INSURANCE AND ANNUITY ASSOCIATION; AND COLLEGE RETIREMENT EQUI-

TIES FUND; AND THE VARL\BLE ANNUITY LIFE INSURANCE COMPANY)

The American Council on Education (ACE) and the other educational associations

listed on the cover sheet recognize the important efforts of the Chairman^
and the

CHnton Administration to strengthen the nation's pension system through "The Re-

tirement Protection Act of 1993" (S. 1780). ACE and the other organizations that

support this statement represent the majority of the nation's colleges, universities

and independent schools. These educational employers have provided secure retire-

ment income to their employees for decades. In fact in 1972, before he introduced

the "Employment Retirement Income Security Act of 1974," (ERISA) Senator Jacob

Javits cited our pension plans as role models:

We need to learn something from the success of the college teachers' retire-

ment system, TIAA-CREF, which would be a real model for private indus-

try.
^

BACKGROUND

The vast majority of private and most public colleges and universities provide em-

ployees fully-funded, immediately-vested defined contribution retirement plans. The

prevalent use of defined contribution plans, rather than defined benefit plans, as

primary retirement plans for some or all of the employees of such institutions is

longstanding, refiecting such considerations as portability and ease and cost of ad-

ministration. Nonetheless, the principal purpose of these defined contribution plans
is the same as that of defined benefit plans—to provide retirement benefits.

America has a system of higher education that is highly regarded world-wide and
that gives our country a strong competitive advantage. The nation-wide pool of high-
ly trained and mobile educators is a key factor in creating and maintaining that

quality. It is that mobility that allows the free interchange of ideas and people and
enables American colleges to adapt to an ever-changing environment. Aiid it is in

no small part, the nation-wide system of fully-funded, immediately vested, and fully-

portable defined contribution plans that has allowed this mobile work force to exist.

The reality of colleges and universities competing for the best minds in America to

join their faculties forces them to recruit on a national basis. At the same time, as

significant employers in their communities, colleges must offer a salary and benefits

that enables them to recruit support staff in the local work force.

While initially created to meet the needs of faculty at colleges and universities,

many defined contribution retirement plans have expanded over the years to include

support staff. Other institutions cover academic employees in defined contribution

plans and cover non-academic employees in defined benefit retirement plans. This
dual approach to retirement plan design is especially prevalent in the public sector,

where state legislatures have enacted Optional Retirement Plans which are defined

contribution plans to enable their state universities and colleges to recruit high cali-

ber, nationally-known faculty members while states seek to maintain coverage
under the public retirement plan for all other employees.

1 U.S. Congress, House, Committee on Ways and Means, Tax Proposals Affecting Private Pen-
sion Plans: Hearings, 92nd Congress, 2nd sess., part 1 of 3, May 1972, 12L

(118)
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COPING WITH NONDISCRIMINATION RULES

Most of these defined contribution retirement plans operate under Internal Reve-
nue Code (IRC) Section 403(b). Since the nondiscrimination requirements were first

imposed on 403(b) plans by the Tax Reform Act of 1986, the Internal Revenue Serv-

ice (IRS) has delayed the effective date of the full nondiscrimination regulations on

tax-exempt employers until January 1, 1996. This extended period has provided the

opportunity for colleges and universities to fully analyze their plans and to adjust

them, if needed, to comply with the nondiscrimination requirements. During the in-

terim, colleges and universities have to demonstrate a good faith compliance with

the general nondiscrimination regulation package under IRC Section 401(a)(4). They
anticipate that these regulations offer a preview of the ultimate regulations the IRS
will issue for plans that operate under Section 403(b).

For some colleges and universities which have historically offered age-graded or

service-graded plans or provide retirement benefits to employees under a combina-
tion of defined benefit and defined contribution pensions, the ability to use cross-

testing provides appropriate fiexibility to satisfy the complex and mathematically

exacting rules under IRC Section 401(a)(4). If the nondiscriminatory status of such

plans hinged on the dispersion of allocation rates for each testing year, the results

could be both unfair and misleading. A shift in participant demographics could find

retirement plans falling into noncompliance and disrupting long-standing benefit

promises.
The principle underlying benefits cross-testing is fundamentally sound. A con-

tribution at a given rate for a 55-year old employee will provide a much lower retire-

ment benefit than the same contribution made for a 30-year old employee, who has

twenty-five additional years to accumulate with compound interest. In varying ways
and with varying degrees of precision, many educational and charitable institutions

have designed their retirement plans in a manner that compensates for that dif-

ference. These plans are not aggressive innovations designed to give maximum ad-

vantage to highly-compensated employees. In fact, many of the highly-compensated

employees who today benefit from the higher allocation rates under age-graded or

service-graded plans have worked for many years before qualifying for such alloca-

tions or reaching the income threshold that defines them as highly compensated.
Such plans were often designed to recognize salary compression at the upper faculty
ranks and help attract other faculty to institutions.

Our basic concern is not cross-testing itself, but the pitfalls of nondiscrimination
rules as complex and mathematically exacting as those in the regulations under IRC
Section 401(a)(4). Fully understanding the several hundred pages of nondiscrimina-
tion rules that the IRS will apply to exempt sector plans in 1996 presents a formida-

ble compliance burden for business and benefits officers of educational and chari-

table employers. Under a totally new regime that involves triennial or even annual

testing—involving such nuances as rate groups, permissible measures of compensa-
tion, and benefits, rights and features—plan provisions or plan combinations that

are structurally fair and nondiscriminatory will inevitably pose compliance prob-
lems. In this context, cross-testing functions as a partial antidote to the risks of a

mathematical system that does not look beyond the testing results for a single plan
year.

iJiiNGUAGE OF S. 1780 IS TOO BROADLY WORDED

The higher education community appreciates the concern of the Department of

the Treasury about the potential for abuse of cross-testing in "new comparability

plans" and age-weighted profit sharing plans that disproportionately concentrate re-

tirement plan benefits in the accounts of a few highly-compensated employees. How-
ever, we believe that the broad language of S. 1780 covers all defined contribution

plans, not just profit sharing plans, and will disrupt the pension plan configurations
that have been common in the educational and charitable sector for many years
without evidence of abuse.
The risk that high contribution rates will be effectively limited to highly-com-

Eensated
employees is plainly greatest for plans that cover a relatively small num-

er of employees, especially where the contribution rates are controlled by the older

and most highly-compensated employees. Such plans are almost invariably top-

heavy within the meaning of IRC Section 416(g). Congress in this section of the IRC
has drawn a line between plans that operate for the primary benefit of the most

highly-compensated employees and other
plans.

The purpose of the top-heavy sec-

tion is similar to that of the proposed legislation
—to assure that lower-paid employ-

ees are not shortchanged by application of the normal nondiscrimination and mini-

mum vesting requirements. Congress' conclusion that the Section 416 safeguards
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are not required for non-top-heavy plans seenns an appropriate policy distinction for

cross-testing, as well.

ALLOW CROSS-TESTING OF NON-TOP-HEAVY PLANS

Accordingly, we recommend that non-top-heavy plans be excepted from any cross-

testing prohibition. The overwhelming majority of plans are predictably either top-

heavy or non-top-heavy. Thus, a non-top-heavy exception would give many employ-
ers practical assurance that they could rely upon cross-testing principles on an ongo-

ing basis. In turn, those employers would maintain stable contribution rates and

preserve employee expectations. The possibility of abuse seems remote since

nonhighly-compensated employees generally comprise a significant percentage of the

participants in a non-top-heavy plan, and confining the nigh contribution rates to

highly-compensated employees would be difficult.

In recommending a non-top-heavy exception, we recognize that Section 403(b)

plans are not subject to the top-heavy rules. (The participants in a Section 403(b)

plan never have an ownership interest in the employer and that the plan terms are

typically controlled by independent boards.) However, the non-top-heavy exception
could be limited to plans that are not top-heavy within the meaning of Section

416(g), without regard to whether Section 416 is directly applicable.

OTHER APPROPRIATE EXCEPTIONS

We have addressed our concerns with this proposal in S. 1780 to the Department
of the Treasury and proposed the non-top-heavy exception with three other rec-

ommended exceptions to the prohibition against cross-testing. Where any of those

exceptions applied the risk of abuse would be minimal. The proposed exceptions are

not conditioned on a minimum percentage of nonhighly-compensated employees
qualifying for each rate of allocations each year. Any such test would be more dif-

ficult to apply and, in our view, too rigid. The three additional exceptions are:

1. Defined contribution plans combined with substantial defined benefit plans: A
defined contribution plan would be permitted to satisfy Section 401(a)(4) (as well as

the average benefit test of Section 410(b)) on the basis of benefits if it is combined
with a defined benefit plan for any purpose under Section 410(b) (including the av-

erage benefits test), and the defined benefit plan serves as the primary retirement

plan for at least 30 percent of the employer's employees.
2. A maximum four to one ratio of allocation rates and all allocation rates avail-

able to a nondiscriminatory classification of employees: A defined contribution plan
would be permitted to satisfy Section 401(a)(4) (as well as the average benefit test

of Section 410(b)) on the basis of benefits if (i) the lowest allocation rate for any
nonhighly-compensated employee was at least 25 percent of the highest allocation
for any highly-compensated employee, and (ii) under the terms of the plan, each rate
of allocations was currently and effectively available to a group of employees that
constituted a nondiscriminatory classification within the meaning of Section
410(b)(2)(A)(i). For purposes of determining whether a rate of allocations was cur-

rently available to an employee, age and service conditions would be disregarded.
For purposes of determining allocation rates, the plan's definition of compensation
would be acceptable, and imputed disparity (as well as elective and matching con-
tributions) would not be taken into account.

3. An average allocation rate for nonhighly-compensated employees equal to at
least 40 percent of the highest allocation rate for any highly-compensated employee:
A defined contribution plan would be permitted to satisfy Section 401(a)(4) (as well
as the average benefit test of Section 410(b)) on the basis of benefits if the average
allocation rate for nonhighly-compensated employees benefitting under the plan
(and any other defined contribution plan with which it is combined for purposes of
Section 410(b)) was at least 40 percent of the highest allocation rate for any highly-
compensated employee benefitting under the plan (or plans). For purposes of deter-

mining allocation rates, the plan's definition of compensation would be accepted, and
imputed disparity (as well as elective and matching contributions) would not be
taken into account.

ROUNDING THE COST-OF-LIVING

Additionally, Section 407 of S. 1780 raises some concerns for the sponsors of de-
fined contribution plans. While rounding cost-of-living factors that applies to the

$90,000 defined benefit plan limit under Section 415(b)(1)(A) in increments of $5,000
may be reasonable, applying that same $5,000 increment to the $30,000 Section
415(b)(1)(A) for defined contribution plans disturbs the four-to-one ratio established
in the Tax Reform Act of 1986. Rounding the $30,000 limit in $1,000 increments
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would keep a closer balance while still reducing the administrative complexity. It

would also avoid shifting to defined contribution plans an inequitable share of the

burden for the tax revenue lost due to enhanced plan funding requirements for de-

fined benefit retirement plans.

CONCLUSION

In conclusion, the legislative history of the Tax Reform Act of 1986 recognized the

special circumstances of higher education. Congress' intent to allow 403(b) to be
combined with 401(a) plans for coverage testing indicates a recognition that flexible

aggregation is appropriate. With regard to rules on comparability of defined benefit

and defined contribution pension plans, for example, the General Explanation of the

Tax Reform Act of 1986 states, "Congress intended that the Secretary is to prescribe
rules applicable to tax-sheltered annuities that reduce the administration burden of

applying Revenue Ruling 81-102." In a similar vein, we urge Congress to maintain
the availability of cross-testing for non-abusive plans of colleges, universities and

independent schools.

Statement of the American Institute of Certified Public Accountants

The AICPA appreciates the opportunity to comment on S. 1780, "The Retirement
Protection Act of 1993." The AICPA is the national professional organization of

CPAs, with over 314,000 members in practice, industry, government and education.
For years, the AICPA has been a strong advocate of simplification of the pension
system. We believe this proposal achieves simplification in some areas, while creat-

ing complexity in others. We also believe that while this bill addresses some of the
issues affecting plan funding, additional important steps can and should be taken
to ensure that the necessary funds are put aside by plan sponsors to pay the bene-
fits promised to American workers. In addition, specific measures need to be adopt-
ed to correct a shortfall in the information provided to employees about their pen-
sions. Workers have every right to know whether their pensions are secure. Only
then can they make informed choices about their retirement and their future.

Our comments and suggestions relate to several sections of the bill including the
elimination of cross testing, exemption from the quarterly funding requirement and
other funding criteria, exemption from the 10 percent excise tax on certain non-
deductible contributions, cost-of-living adjustment rules and increased disclosures to

plan participants.

elimination of cross-testing

Section 408 of the Retirement Protection Act, proposed in 1993, would eliminate
the cross-testing method for discrimination testing in qualified retirement plans.
The AICPA opposes the elimination of cross testing and objects to section 408 both
on tax policy and on legislative procedural grounds. First, as a matter of tax policy,
the elimination of the ability to cross-test employee benefit plans would have some
undesirable consequences. Second, as a matter of legislative procedure, Congress
should not repeal a single element of a comprehensive set of IRS regulations that
were carefully designed to implement existing law.

Tax Policy

Some in Congress may be concerned that the application of cross testing prin-

ciples could result in lower contributions being allocated to younger workers. For the

following reasons, however, we believe these concerns are misplaced:
• Over an individual's working life, funding for a specific retirement benefit would

be the same. In the course of a worker's total years of employment, he or she
would enjoy a nondiscriminatory retirement benefit.

• These concepts are fundamental to defined benefit plans designed by employers
to maximize retirement benefits for the employees most in need of retirement

savings, the older workers. Yet, the proposed elimination is only directed at de-

fined contribution plans.
There has been a long-standing statutory premise that, in testing to determine

whether a plan is discriminatory, the employer can prove that either contributions
or benefits do not discriminate in favor of highly compensated employees. The em-

ployer does not have to prove that both contributions and benefits are nondiscrim-

inatory. The statute does not require that defined benefit plans be tested on the
basis of benefits or that defined contribution plans be tested on the basis of con-

tributions.
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The inevitable result of eliminating cross testing will, in our view, be termination

of a significant number of qualified retirement plans—a substantially worse result

than exists at present. The tax system includes significant and important incentives

for employers and business owners to provide retirement security for employees, and

we believe it critical that those incentives continue.

Legislative Procedure

After the enactment of the Tax Reform Act of 1986, the Internal Revenue Service

undertook a comprehensive review of qualified plan discrimination rules. It was de-

cided that very specific rules should detail appropriate discrimination tests. These

rules resulted in over 600 pages of regulations, which were reviewed, subjected to

public comment, and revised over a four-year period. These regulations outline in

precise detail how a plan sponsor can test benefits to determine whether the con-

tributions are discriminatory. These discrimination testing concepts have been in

place since the issuance of Rev. Rul. 81-202.

The AICPA particularly objects to legislative repeal of one segment of an ex-

tremely comprehensive regulation project. Legislative changes such as this should

be considered only as part of a deliberate review of the country's overall retirement

income policy, which to date has not been considered.

PLAN FUNDING

The Act proposes reforms to improve plan funding levels, including rules that

would encourage more rapid funding. In general, we applaud these suggestions and

recommend that they be given serious consideration. At the same time, however,
there are several current statutory provisions that discourage employers from fully

funding defined benefit plans. Two such provisions are:

• The 150% full funding limitation, which disallows deductions for employer con-

tributions that exceed 150% of "current liabilities." The term "full funding" in

this context does not mean that the plan has enough funds to pay all benefits

when they become due, because full funding is based on an artificial assumption
of the plan terminating today and an arbitrary 150% cap.

• The 50% reversion penalty is a disincentive to fully funding defined benefit

plans under certain circumstances. Under current law, these excise taxes are

still applicable even if the employer uses any related reversion amounts to en-

hance the security of other employee benefit programs (for example, retiree

health care).

Given the above, businesses desiring to improve the financial strength of their

pension plans in good times are precluded or dissuaded from doing so, only to find

they are not able to continue to provide the necessary funds for workers' retirements

when the economy turns down.
We recognize that the Congress must consider competing interests, including tax

revenue and related budget implications, adequacy of the Pension Benefit Guaranty
Corporation's insurance fund, the cost to plan sponsors of providing retirement ben-

efits and relevant labor and social policy considerations. We believe that the need
for adequate funding of pension plans should be the focus of increased Congressional
emphasis to ensure that participants receive promised benefits.

We understand that removing certain disincentives may result in decreased tax

revenues. However, we believe that the situation is such that we must "pay now
or pay later," and there is serious potential for a far greater cost to the American

taxpayers if plan funding is not improved in the near term.
We believe that a comprehensive assessment should consider both the need to

strengthen the minimum funding standards and the need to remove disincentives

to full funding. This includes consideration of the maximum deduction limits and

carryforward provisions for any excess contributions.

In the context of removing disincentives, we are pleased that section 105 of the

Act eliminates the current 10% excise tax on certain nondeductible contributions to

both a company's defined benefit and defined contribution plan exceeding 25% of

payroll, and eliminates the same excise tax on nondeductible contributions for plans
with fewer than 100 participants that fully fund all benefit liabilities upon plan ter-

mination. The AICPA strongly supports both proposals, since they will rernove im-

pediments to a full funding by employers who may have previously hesitated to

maximize their contributions to a defined benefit plan because elective deferrals or

matching contributions might not be deductible and could be subject to the 10 per-
cent excise tax. Moreover, simplification is achieved as well.

The AJCPA supports amendments that will encourage plan sponsors to bring all

plans up to a true full funding status. The AICPA believes such changes should be

a high priority for the Congress and is willing to assist the Congress in identifying
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and analyzing potential legislative proposals designed to achieve the full funding ob-

jective.

EXEMPTION FROM QUARTERLY FUNDING

Section 104 of the Act repeals the requirement for quarterly contributions to fully
funded plans. The AICPA supports this proposal since it would achieve simplifica-
tion for many employers. Currently, employers who contribute too much on a quar-
terly basis need to file a ruling request with the IRS to receive a refund of the non-
deductible contribution to the plan.

AMENDMENTS TO ROUNDING RULES

Section 407 of the Act changes the rounding rules for annual cost-of-living adjust-
ments to the section 415 limits on contributions ad benefits and to the elective de-
ferral limits. The $90,000 defined benefit and $30,000 defined contribution dollar
limitations under section 415 would be indexed in $5,000 increments; the $7,000
limit on elective deferrals would be indexed in $500 increments. In principle, the
indexed amount would be adjusted by rounding to the next lowest multiple (but
never up). For example, if this provision were to be effective in 1994, the limit on
elective deferrals, which is $9,240, would be held at $9,000 until the indexed
amount would otherwise exceed $9,500. We recommend rounding to $100 incre-
ments.

Although this
provision appears to simplify pension administration, we are con-

cerned that it is Deing used as a back-door attempt to generate additional revenue.
Worse, it is becoming clearer that this is deliberate governmental policy. The 1993
Budget Reconciliation Act, in applying the new $150,000 compensation cap for quali-
fied plan purposes, also required indexing in increments, rather than annually.
Since indexing provisions affect the amount ultimately received by retired workers,
and since indexation has traditionally been an annual event (for social security
COLAs, bracket creep, and even (before 1994) for compensation taken into account
for qualified plan purposes), we believe a shift to a more restrictive approach—with-
out a good deal of education of the taxpaying public

—is inappropriate.

DISCLOSURES TO PLAN PARTICIPANTS

We support section 301 of the Act, which calls for increased disclosures to defined
benefit pension plan participants about their plan's funding status and the limits
on the Pension Benefit Guaranty Corporation's (PBGC) guarantee should the plan
terminate while underfunded. However, we believe that all plan participants should
receive additional information about their plans. We emphasize the word "all" be-
cause we believe such disclosures should be made to plan participants whether the

plan is underfunded or fully funded. Accordingly, we recommend revisions to exist-

ing sections of ERISA which are discussed in the following paragraphs.
Most employees do not receive their benefit plan's detailed annual financial state-

ments, which are filed with the U.S. Department of Labor. Instead, they look to the
Summary Annual Report (SAR) to obtain financial information about their

plan.ERISA section 104(b)(3) requires plans to furnish participants with a SAR, and sec-
tion 2520.104b-10 of the DOL's Rules and Regulations sets forth the required form
arid content of the SAR. However, the SAR does not currently include information
critical to evaluating the plan's financial health and ability to meet its obligations
to participants. The information that is provided, moreover, is often in a format that
is difficult to understand. The AICPA believes that the requirements for the form
and content of the SAR should be expanded and should be included in ERISA sec-
tion l()4(b)(3). We have a number of recommendations to make the SAR more in-

formative and easily understood by employees.
Specifically, the SAR should:
• Disclose the total amount promised to plan participants in the form of benefits,

the accumulated benefit obligation, as well as key actuarial assumptions used
to calculate that—obligation. Right now, the SAR discloses the plan's assets but
not its obligations. Seeing only the amount of assets the plan has, but not how
much it owes, the employee cannot possibly assess the plan's financial condi-
tion.

• Explicitly disclose the funding status of the pension plan. For example, if the
obligations of the plan exceed its assets, the SAR should say that the plan is

underfunded and by how much.
• Disclose the maximum monthly benefit guaranteed by the PBGC. If for any rea-

son a pension plan can't make good on its obligations—for example, because the

company goes bankrupt or out of business—the worker's last recourse is the
PBGC, the government's insurance policy for pension plans. However, this in-



124

surance doesn't always cover all the benefits owed to the employee. The SAR
for a defined benefit pension plan should provide a description of the PBGC's

coverage, specifying any limitations or benefits excluded.
• Disclose if the employer is having financial trouble that could impair its ability

to contribute to the pension plan and if the pension plan's assets are con-

centrated in certain high-risk or illiquid investments.
• Include information on the right of every plan participant to request informa-

tion on his or her individual benefits once per year.
• Notify the participant of a report by the independent auditor on the plan's fi-

nancial statements that is other than an unqualified opinion or a disclaimer of

opinion in a limited-scope audit under section 103(a)(3)(c) of ERISA.
Information provided in the SAR about the plan itself is not the only information

that is relevant to pension plan participants. The information of greatest interest

to a defined benefit pension plan participant is how much the plan will pay him
or her in retirement. However, current ERISA section 105(a) requiring pension

plans to provide participants with individual benefit information doesn't apply to all

defined-benefit pension plans. ERISA section 105(d) calls for the Department of

Labor to issue regulations to make this requirement applicable to multi-employer
pension plans. The Department has issued proposed regulations in 1979 ad again
in 1980, but it never finalized them. Accordingly, members of multi-employer plans

may not have the right to individual benefit information. We recommend that

ERISA section 105(d) be deleted to make section 105(a) apply to all defined-benefit

pension plans.
In addition, the current rules allow an excessively long delay between the time

a major change to a pension plan is adopted and the time the employees learn about
it. ERISA section 104(b)(1)(B) requires pension plans to furnish employees a "sum-

mary description of plan amendment" not later than seven months alter the end of

the plan's fiscal year in which the change is adopted. In the extreme case, if a

change is adopted on the first day of the plan year, the plan participants would not

have to be notified for 19 months.
A pension plan amendment might change the amount of benefits promised by the

plan's sponsor; or it might change the plan's sponsor—the company responsible for

making contributions to the fund; or the plan administrator—the party the em-
ployee sees to exercise his or her rights under the plan. Workers shouldn't have to

wait as much as a year and a half to learn of those changes.
Because plan amendments may significantly affect participants' benefits or the

stewardship of the pension plan, ERISA section 104(b)(1)(B) should be amended to

require notification of plan amendments no more than 90 days alter the change is

adopted. Further, the rules should clarify what changes are significant enough to

warrant such notification.

Statement of the Associated General Contractors of America

The Associated General Contractors of America (AGO is a national trade associa-
tion of almost 33,000 firms, including 8,000 of America's leading general contracting
companies. AGC member firms are engaged in the construction of the nation's com-
mercial buildings, shopping centers, factories, warehouses, highways, bridges, tun-

nels, airports, water works facilities, waste treatment facilities, dams, water con-
servation projects, defense facilities, multi-family housing projects and site prepara-
tion/utilities installation for housing development. Many AGC member firms com-
pete for work in many difi'erent states and localities.

AGC welcomes the opportunity to provide this statement to the Senate Finance
Committee on S. 1780 and H.R. 3396, pension reform legislation. AGC member
firms that provide pension benefits do so through a range of options, including de-
fined benefit and defined contribution plans, as well as single employer and collec-

tively bargained multiemployer plans.
AGC supports the efforts of the Chairman, and those of Congressman Pickle (D-

TX), Chairman of the Oversight Subcommittee of the House Ways and Means Com-
mittee as well as Congressman Pat Williams (D-MT), Chairman of the Labor-Man-
agement Relations Subcommittee of the House Education and Labor Committee to

strengthen the nation's defined benefit pension system. Moreover, AGC supports
Congressional efforts to address the growing financial problems posed by both un-
derfunded single employer plans and a significant number of underfunded multiem-

ployer plans—without jeopardizing the continuing participation of employers in

well-funded multiemployer plans.
Prudent Federal fiscal management dictates that Congress act responsibly in ad-

dressing PBGC's approximately $2.9 billion deficit, which is growing according to
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the latest Congressional Budget Office (CBO) report "Controlling Losses of the Pen-
sion Benefit Guaranty Corporation, January 1993." AGC believes that the PBGC
program shortfall should be addressed without resort to taxpayer financing. The
CBO study emphasizes that PBGC's deficit is confined to single employer plans. Ac-

cording to CBO, collectively bargained multiemployer plans account for less than 1%
of PBGC claims. This finding is reinforced by PBGC's 1993 Annual Report, as fol-

lows:

"The multiemployer program, which covers about 9 million participants
in about 2,000 insured plans, is funded and administered separately from
the single-employer program and differs from the single-employer program
in several significant ways. The multi-employer program covers only collec-

tively bargained plans involving more than one unrelated employer. In ad-

dition, the event triggering PBGC's guarantee and payment of benefits

under the multiemployer program is the inability of a covered plan to pay
benefits when due, rather than plan termination as required under the sin-

gle-employer program. PBGC provides financial assistance through loans to

insolvent plans to enable them to pay guaranteed benefits.

". . . These safeguards have permitted PBGC to maintain multiemployer

premiums at a constant, reasonably low level. The program continues to

nave growing assets, low liabilities, and a healthy surplus."

While we would agree with this assessment overall, we would also contend that
there is an alarming trend toward increasingly problematic underfunding in many
of the multiemployer funds. Many multiemployer funds are and remain less than
85 percent funded. And in fact, according to the PBGC's own estimates, the rate of

increase in underfunding in multiemployer plans between 1990 and 1992 may actu-

ally be greater than the rate of increase in underfunding in single-employer plans
over the same period of time.
AGC's most recent inventory of construction industry multiemployer plans con-

firms the CBO and PBGC findings, showing that fully 86.7 percent of all construc-
tion industry multiemployer plans in Plan Year 1990 were fully funded at a ratio

of 1.00 or greater (plan assets to vested benefits). (Draft Data, AGC-CLRC Inventory
of Construction Industry Multiemployer Pension Plans, Plan Years 1987-1990.) How-
ever, the draft data also shows that the percentage of construction industry plans
that are over-funded (a ratio of 1.50 or greater) declined in Plan Year 1990 to 18.8

percent, down from 22.2 percent of construction industry plans that were funded at
1.50 or greater in Plan Year 1987. This decline may be attributable, at least in part,
to declining interest rates and the impact of the 1987 Omnibus Budget Reconcili-
ation Act, which denies tax deductions and places an excise tax of 10 percent on
contributions to plans funded at a ratio of 1.5(3 or above:
Even with improvements in the funding status of construction industry multiem-

ployer plans generally, there remain a significant number of large underfunded
plans in this industry that PBGC should recognize. Since 1990, factors including the

recession, a continuing decline in the contribution base, falling interest rates and
weaker investment return indicate underfunding in multiemployer plans has grown.
Data from AGC's 1990 inventory generally support the assumption that

underfunding in multiemployer plans is worse today than it was in 1990. This trend

may increase without Congressional action.

Following is a list of construction industry multiemployer funds with the greatest
underfunding for Plan Year 1990, taken from draft data compiled from Department
of Labor computer tapes of IRS pension plan reporting forms (Form 5500).

CONSTRUCTION INDUSTRY MULTIEMPLOYER PENSION FUNDS WITH GREATEST UNDERFUNDING

Unfunded vested liabil
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While the amounts of unfunded vested benefits listed above remain high in abso-

lute terms, they nevertheless represent a marked improvement compared with

underfunding overall in previous years. To a certain extent, underfunding in con-

struction industry multiemployer plans has been eliminated through disciplined

labor/management administration. Where underfunding persists, AGC policy sup-

ports legislation that would prevent increases in benefits by underfunded plans.

AGC supports the recommendations of the Advisory Committee of the Pension

Benefit Guarantee Corporation on advance funding of pension benefits, urging that

"minimum funding requirements should be strengthened, impediments to advance

funding should be eliminated, and plans should be given the ability to fund aggres-

sively when financially able to do so." Similarly, AGC supports consideration of op-

tions put forward in the CBO study, including tighter [minimum] funding rules, in-

creased co-insurance, and risk-based premium assessments.

AGC urges Congress to avoid the mistake of raising premiums on well funded sin-

gle and multiemployer plans. In fact, the multiemployer program has shown steady

gains and will remain "financially strong," according to the PBGC, with a surplus
of $280 million at the end of FY 1993. Since the 1980 changes in multiemployer reg-

ulations, PBGC has not paid a single claim related to a construction industry multi-

employer plan. The current premium of $2.60 per plan participant for multiem-

ployer plans is fully five times the $.50 per participant rate originally required by
PBGC. Congress must recognize that continual increases in the incremental costs

of employment have immediate impact on employment and earnings levels.

Moreover, both CBO and the PBGC Advisory Committee advise against raising
the premiums of well-funded plans to cover the risks imposed by underfunded plans.
CBO notes that such "cross subsidies" will drive well-funded plans from the pro-

gram. Likewise, the PBGC Advisory Committee counsels that "premium increases

should be viewed with caution due to the potential that they could induce over-fund-

ed defined benefit plans to terminate."

In order to protect the expected future benefits of today's workers. Congress
should enact pension reform legislation that does not deter employers from willingly

participating in multiemployer plans. The Administration's proposal, H.R. 3396, will

incompletely reform the whole system as it only focuses on underfunding in the sin-

gle-employer system. AGC supports pension reform legislation that protects employ-
ees and employers who participate in multiemployer pension plans.

Specifically, the solution proposed by Congressman Pickle's House Ways and
Means Committee Subcommittee on Oversight requiring either "cash or collateral"

is a simple one. The financial stability of the multi-employer system would be en-
hanced and secured through limitations in unfunded benefit increases. Other pro-
posed solutions, such as increasing PBGC premiums, will not necessarily reduce

pension plan underfunding, especially in multiemployer plans.
AGC appreciates the opportunity to comment on some of the elements of the

PBGC's financial reform pending in Congress. AGC will continue to monitor devel-

opments on this issue and remains willing to work with Congress in addressing
these fundamental issues and enacting sound pension law reform. We urge the
Chairman of the Finance Committee, and Congress, to continue to closely monitor
total underfunding in multiemployer plans.

Statement of Champion International Corporation

(by terrell g. womack, vice president of employee benefits and services)

Mr. Chairman and Members of the Committee, on behalf of Champion Inter-

national Corporation and our 20,000 employees, I submit the following comments
on S. 1780, The Retirement Protection Act of 1993. I am Terry Womack, Vice Presi-

dent of Employee Benefits and Services for Champion International Corporation.
Champion is a major producer of paper and wood products with facilities in 34

states. We are a strong and healthy company with total assets exceeding $9 billion

and net worth exceeding $3 billion. To help ensure our long-term viability as an
internationally competitive company. Champion has invested over $6 billion in cap-
ital improvements during the past nine years. These investments are already paying
off in terms of increased productivity and improved environmental quality for the
communities in which we operate. Our commitment to a sound, long-term future is

also evidenced by aggressive reforestation efforts where some trees we plant today
will not be harvested for another 50 years.
We are firmly committed to ensuring the welfare of our employees. This is evi-

denced by the generous level of benefits we provide, including defined benefit pen-
sions, defined contribution plans with company matches to encourage savings, and
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health, disability, and life insurance coverages. Our commitment can be further evi-

denced by our history of retaining pension liabilities for divested locations in order
to ensure the security of even former employees.
We currently have two, well funded defined benefit pension plans with assets that

together total over $1 billion. The plans cover over 60,000 participants, of which
20,000 are already retired. On an IRS basis our plans are 125% and 1 15% funded,
while on the PB&C's basis our plans are 97% and 93% funded. Champion is cur-

rently exempt from all PBGC variable premiums normally imposed on plan
underfunding because we are fully funded by IRS standards. The IRS is also limit-

ing our contributions since we are considered fully funded and have been for the

past 4 out of 5 years. We are very confident that neither of these plans poses any
risk to plan participants or to the PB&C in the foreseeable future. Champion hopes
to continue using defined benefit pension plans to provide a significant portion of

retirement benefits to our employees.

I. GENERAL OVERVIEW

The purpose of this hearing is to review the administration's proposal to reduce
the risk to plan participants and to the PB&C from poorly funded pension plans.

Champion fully supports this goal. However, we do not believe that S. 1780 will ac-

complish this objective in its current form. We believe the proposal is overly broad
and places unreasonable burdens on sponsors of responsibly funded plans. It unnec-

essarily adds further complexity to the rules and makes it more difficult for all plan
sponsors (both fully funded and underfunded) to predict future funding require-
ments. We believe the objectives of the PBGC and the Congress can be better met
by making only those changes to the current rules that narrowly focus on problem
companies and the specific risks they pose as plan sponsors.
Over the years, privately sponsored, defined benefit pension plans have relieved

the Federal Government of a significant burden. We believe that defined benefit

pensions still provide the best retirement protection available to employees. How-
ever, as more legislation is imposed, the responsibility of funding and administering
these plans is becoming overly burdensome for corporate plan sponsors. We believe
that any changes should be carefully designed to avoid pushing responsible employ-
ers further away from defined benefit arrangements.
From our vantage point, one real problem is the dichotomy of perspectives be-

tween business planning, the IRS, and the PBGC. Most businesses fund pension
plans like other investments—on a long-term rather than a short-term basis. The
IRS evaluates pension plans on a long-term, ongoing basis while the PBGC contin-
ues to focus on a short-term, terminating plan basis. Ironically, the struggle be-
tween the IRS and the PBGC perspectives can sometimes result in responsibly fund-
ed plans sponsored by healthy companies being named to the PBGC's annual list

of tne worst funded plans in the country! At the same time, many poorly funded
plans are not listed even though they pose a much higher risk of default.
The appropriate perspective for each plan should be based on its level of

underfunding and on the economic health of the company and its outlook for future

prosperity. Otherwise, companies like Champion will continue to be caught in the

struggle between long-term measures used by the IRS and short-term measures
used by the PBGC. The only provision that currently bridges this gap in perspec-
tives is the exemption from variable PBGC premiums for those plans considered

fully funded by the IRS. Any final legislation must preserve this exemption, as does
S. 1780, in oraer to encourage responsible funding policies of plan sponsors.

Since the focus of any successful corporation needs to be on long-term prosperity,
any short-term measures used by the PBGC should be adjusted for that specific use.
For example, short-term measures are necessary in plan terminations. In trying to

predict the potential exposure that any plan poses to the PBGC, these measures
should be tempered with the probability of plan sponsor default. Short-term meas-
ures have no real meaning without dual consideration of the economic health of the

sponsor. Therefore, the PBGC needs to develop solvency factors that consider both

plan and plan sponsor health and then incorporate these factors in its short-term
measurements.
Both the Top 50 list and any further PBGC legislation should sharpen the focus

on truly problem plans and more accurately reflect the relative risk posed to the
PBGC and plan participants by the particular company. More complicated and more
stringent funding requirements for all plans or increased premiums, which are ex-

cessive relative to the risk posed by the particular company, are not warranted and
should be avoided.
We are concerned about a number of items in the proposal as it stands. We be-

lieve the following provisions are insufficiently targeted in that they will not only
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impact poorly funded plans but will also hurt sponsors of responsibly funded plans.

In the interest of focusing on the real problem at hand, we believe that adjustments
should be made to the following provisions of S. 1780:

• the restriction on actuarial assumptions used for current liability,

• the proposed treatment of negotiated benefit increases, and
• the planned increases in PBGC premiums.
Each of these provisions is addressed separately below in terms of our concerns

and some suggested changes which would help focus the provisions on poorly funded

plans.

II. ACTUARIAL ASSUMPTIONS FOR CURRENT LIABILITY

The measure of current liability was first introduced as part of the Additional Def-

icit Reduction Contribution rules. These rules require that additional contributions

be made to poorly funded plans. As it stands, current liability must be calculated

with an interest rate that is within a corridor defined by the IRS. As market inter-

est rates drop, so do the rates in the corridor for current liability. Since interest

rates are volatile, current liability for many plans will be overstated and artificially

high because of temporary drops in interest rates. Consequently, more and more

plans are being subjected to these additional contributions even though interest

rates are now starting to rise. S. 1780 proposes to further restrict the assumptions
available for this calculation by both narrowing the range of allowable interest rates

to a lower level and mandating the use of a single mortality table.

Our Concerns

We disagree with both the narrowing of the corridor for allowable interest rates

and the mandated mortality assumption in S. 1780. It is unreasonable to judge the

liability of all plans on such a narrowly defined set of assumptions. Plans vary in

many ways, and these variations need to be considered in determining appropriate

assumptions. Some facts that must be considered include the demographics of the

plan population, the size of the investment pool, the chosen investment policy, the

past experience of the plan, and the health of the plan sponsor. Under current law
the PBGC has a claim against the net worth of a company, which in Champion's
case is more than $3 billion. Even on the PBGC's short-term basis, our plans are

only $64 million underfunded and could easily be supported by our net worth.

Is it appropriate to value a short-term liability with the same interest rate as a

long-term liability? We think not. Wide variations exist in the make-up of plan li-

abilities and the health of plan sponsors that would result in variations in suitable

interest rates. S. 1780 puts even more emphasis on volatile, short-term interest

rates. Plan sponsors that pose no real risk of termination in the near future should
not be burdened with the unpredictability of short-term interest rates. We need to

run our company based on a sound, long-term business plan, which in turn requires
that both our labor and production expenses be predictable to every extent possible.
On a long-term basis, Champion's pension plans are 120% funded in total. On a

short-term PBGC basis, this translates to 95%. Given the volatility in short-term
interest rates, our funded ratio on the PBGC's basis can fluctuate significantly. For

example, the change in interest rates alone from 1992 to 1994 increased our liabil-

ities by over 20% or $200 million. Funding that increase in liabilities over a short

period would prove to be a significant and unnecessary burden to Champion under
the proposed rules. When interest rates begin to rise (as they now appear to be),

we will be considered overfunded and our contributions will be restricted. Why
should we be subjected to volatile contribution requirements when these short-term

measures have no real bearing on the long-term viability of the plan? In the mean-
time, these unnecessary contributions based on short-term interest rates would have

deprived our business of capital normalcy available for reinvestment toward com-

pany growth, increased wages, or increased return to shareholders. One goal in de-

signing funding rules should be to make the contribution requirements predictable,
instead of having them fluctuate erratically with temporary changes in interest

rates. The only way to accomplish this is to focus on long-term expectations.
In addition to variations in interest rates, appropriate variations also exist for

mortality assumptions. There are real differences in mortality rates among different

classifications which are evidenced by insurance company experience. A valuation

is intended to provide the best estimate of the cost of future benefits for the specific

population of plan participants. Clearly then, the same mortality table and interest

rate cannot be appropriate for every plan. It would be a grave public policy mistake
if all valuations were required to be performed with the same set of assumptions.
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Suggested Changes

Any changes to current law should be narrowly focused to affect only truly under-
funded plans and the specific risks to the PBGC and plan participants. PBGC short-

term, plan termination type measurements must be adjusted to reflect the funded
status and the probability of actual plan sponsor default.
For example, a plan that is $1 million underfunded, but 99 percent funded does

not pose a significant risk to the PBGC and should not be forced to make additional
deficit reduction contribution through restrictive interest rate and mortality as-

sumptions. However, a plan that is $1 million underfunded and only 50 percent
funded, does arguably pose a risk and should be forced to make additional deficit

reduction contributions.

Retaining the current law interest rate corridor for current liability measurement
provides needed flexibility to ensure that well funded plans are not needlessly forced
to over-fund pension plans when interest rates temporarily decline and the ensuing
requirements that are triggered when a plan is considered to be underfunded under
S. 1780.

Additionally, Congress should not generally mandate mortality assumptions un-
less a plan does not have sufficient historical experience to eve at a sound actuarial

assumpilon. Broad actuarial tables on mortality of the population as a whole are
not necessarily accurate for a particular plan's population and should not be man-
dated when better, more accurate information is available.

If Congress believes poorly funded plans should be subject to tighter cor.trols on
interest rate assumptions for current liability and mortality assumptions, then a
safe harbor should be provided so that only truly underfunded plans will be affected

by the legislation. Plans that are 90 percent or more funded under current I.R.C.

§412(b) standards should not be subject to the changes in current liability interest
rates or the mandated mortality assumptions.

Finally, Congress should direct the PBGC to change its methodology in determin-

ing the companies appearing on public lists of underfunded plans, such as the Top-
50 list. Under current methodology, it is possible for even well funded plans to be
listed and misrepresented as posing a threat to PBGC or plan participants. Compa-
nies are currently chosen based solely on the dollar amount of underfunding on a
PBGC short-term basis. Even if interest rate reductions have a similar percentage
impact on two plans, the dollar increase in underfunding will be greater for the

larger plan. For example, a 1% decrease in funded status for Champion translates
to over $10 million in additional liabilities. This can result in even well funded
plans being included on the list due to their size and the leveraging that takes place
in a low interest rate environment. This list should be more clearly focused on prob-
lem plans by incorporating the plan funded ratios in the criteria for listing compa-
nies. Again, a safe harbor should be provided to ensure that plans that are at least
90% funded under IRC. §412(b) are not listed since these plans pose little or no
risk to PBGC or plan participants.

III. NEGOTIATED BENEFIT INCREASES

S. 1780 requires that liabilities for funding include all negotiated future benefit
increases. Under current law only those benefit provisions that are currently in

place need be considered.

Our Concerns

We believe it would be inappropriate to require that all negotiated benefit in-

creases be reflected in the liabilities for itpmediate funding when they are not cur-

rently effective. Why? Because these benefits have not yet been earned and are not

yet available to new retirees. If a sponsor were forced to terminate a plan before
the effective date of a negotiated benefit structure, these benefits would not nec-

essarily be fully protected under ERISA or guaranteed by the PBGC.
Since we do not foresee any plan terminations in Champion's future, we are main-

ly concerned with appropriately matching expense against income. Currently we pay
for the cost of negotiated benefit increases over time with corresponding price and
productivity increases on our paper products. It would be unfair and harmful to our
business to charge Champion for the benefit increases before we can offset them
with price and productivity increases. Any premature reflection of expense in our

product prices would jeopardize our competitive standing internationally.
We have a similar problem with any requirement to collateralize negotiated bene-

fit improvements, other than for very poorly funded plans. Any requirement man-
dating early recognition of future increases could force us into shorter labor con-
tracts. Shorter contracts would clearly diminish the continuity necessary to foster

our team environment, which we believe is necessary to maintain a highly competi-
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tive market position. This effect on a widespread basis would be detrimental to the

overall stability of our economy.

Suggested Changes
A much more direct and logical way to promote faster funding of negotiated bene-

fit increases would be to require that the associated increases in liability be amor-

tized over the average remaining service of the affected employees (generally 12-

18 years), instead of the 30 years currently allowed for all plan amendments. This

would avoid recognition of future benefits that are not yet available but would still

hasten the funding of these newly created HabiUties for past service. It would also

help us maintain a reasonable connection between the expense of doing business

and the income flow associated with that business.

rv. PBGC PREMIUMS

Currently PBGC premiums consist of a $19 per person charge plus an additional

$9 charge per $1,000 in underfunding per participant. The total annual charge is

capped at $72 per person. S. 1780 would continue this structure, but remove the

$72 cap.

Our Concerns

We fear that the PBGC premiums for well funded plans may become excessive

if the current $72 cap is removed from the variable rate portion. The intention of

removing the cap is to fully recognize in the premiums the underfunding in poorly
funded plans: removing the cap could provide further incentive for sponsors of these

plans to strengthen their funding policy. These are admirable purposes, but they
need to be accomplished more deliberately so that sponsors of responsibly funded

plans are not also penalized.

Removing the cap leaves even well funded plans with unpredictable exposure. If

interest rates drop drastically, most plan sponsors will be subject to large increases

in variable premiums, due solely to temporary market conditions; and there is no

direct benefit derived for the plan or plan participants from these unnecessary pre-
miums. Currently that exposure is capped at $72 per person which gives employers
at least some certainty. Removing the cap without somehow factoring in the viabil-

ity of the plan sponsor would again be penalizing all plan sponsors for the unpre-

dictability of short-term interest rates, even where they have no real application.

Suggested Changes
We believe the premium cap should not be removed for well funded plans. If, how-

ever, Congress accepts the general direction of the PBGC's recommendation, we
would strongly urge Congress not accept the method in which PBGC has proposed
to increase premiums. Any premium increase structure should not penalize respon-

sibly funded plans that are caught by temporary fluctuations in interest rates.

One option would be to allow well funded plans to pay any premium amount in

excess of the $72 level to their plans instead of to the PBGC. At least this way plan

participants would derive some benefit from the use of short-term measurements by
the PBGC.

In Summary
Champion supports the general goals of S. 1780. We believe that responsibly fund-

ed, defined benefit pension plans provide important security to employees. We be-

lieve the majority of plan sponsors are taking this responsibility to heart and are

acting in the best interest of their employees.
To preserve the security of our employees, we must also concentrate on our viabil-

ity as an employer. In order to do this we need to make significant investments in

both the manufacturing assets of the corporation and the training and development
of our employees. To do that efficiently we need our expenses to be as predictable
as possible so that they appropriately match our income. We ask for your help in

providing some certainty to our pension contributions and premiums by using long-
term assumptions for generally healthy companies and plans.

In some cases, plan sponsors have taken their commitment too lightly by allowing
their plans to become severely underfunded. However, the burden for these compa-
nies should not be shift.ed to responsible companies or to the government. Instead,
we need a fair way to identify these companies and force them into further funding
to improve plan security. The best way to accomplish this is through incorporation
of solvency measures both for pension plans and their sponsors in all short-term
measures.
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Statement of the Committee on Employee Benefits

principles for reform

FEI's Committee on Employee Benefits has reviewed the Clinton Administration

proposal, The Retirement Protection Act of 1993 (H.R.3396/S. 1780), on refomiing
the pension system. CEB strongly believes that plan sponsors should responsibly
fund their defined benefit plans in order to fulfill their benefit promises. In review-

ing PBGC legislation, CEB has established the following set of principles for PBGC
reform:

• Funding should be accelerated for new amendments to underfunded plans.
Guarantees for these increased benefits should accrue over a time frame that
is similar to the funding period.

• Changes in funding rules should be primarily prospective.
• Funding rules must balance volatility against the need for increased funding.
• In order to encourage funding, employer's ability to make tax-favored pension

contributions should be increased, thereby reversing recent trends to reduce or

limit the deductibility of employer contributions.
• Shut down benefits should be reimbursed to the pension plan as soon as pos-

sible.
• Contributions should be increased to reduce current liability underfunding in a

manner that addresses the problems caused by double counting of gains and
losses and removes the possibility of abuse.

• The current open-ended PBGC guaranty needs to provide appropriate limita-

tions and exclusions.
• Pre-petition and post-petition required contributions should be given priority

status in bankruptcy.
• Premium increases should not be considered as a solution.
• Actuarial assumptions should not be rigidly mandated in statute, but should

continue to refiect individual plan circumstances.
We are in agreement with many of the goals of the Clinton Administration pro-

posal. We agree that funding must be increased in underfunded plans; that better

opportunities must be made available to underfunded plans that have the money
to "fund up;" that companies should not be able to avoid pension contributions dur-

ing bankruptcy; that shut down benefits should not be allowed to drain a pension
plan's assets. However, we differ very significantly on the appropriate ways to

achieve these goals. Furthermore, we disagree with the PBGC on the need for a pre-
mium increase, the proposed reduction in 415 limits, and the intrusion of the PBGC
into sensitive merger and acquisition negotiations.
A discussion of significant areas follows:

FUNDING REQUIREMENTS

CEB strongly believes that plan sponsors should fund their pension plans in order
to meet their plan commitments. However, we are concerned by certain items in the
Administration's proposal that could increase short term volatility in cash flow, jeop-
ardizing the long term commitment of sponsors to maintain defined benefit plans.
CEB opposes the Administration proposal to specify mortality assumptions and

reduce the range of current liability interest rates. Mortality should represent the

actuary's best estimate of the actual experience of the plan population, not a stand-
ard that is based on an entirely different population group. In combination, the Ad-
ministration interest and mortality proposal could significantly overstate the liabil-

ity of the plan at termination, causing mature plans with sufficient assets to con-

tinue to make unneeded contributions.
The Administration proposal focuses on the provisions of the law that determine

contributions as a percentage of unfunded current liabilities. This amount does not

distinguish between items under the sponsor's control (e.g., new benefit promises)
and short term gains and losses. There is a potential for significant annual fiuctua-

tions in the unfunded current liability value that are not significant in the long
term view of plan funding. CEB believes that the appropriate focus should be pri-

marily on new benefit promises. If the Administration approach is to be followed,

caps on contribution volatility must be adopted that minimize short term fiuctua-

tions in cash fiow due to items not under the sponsor's control.

CEB supports the Administration proposal to maintain a minimum level of liquid
assets in the least well funded plans. However, we believe that the definition of liq-

uid assets must be carefully defined to avoid anomalous results (e.g., in plans that

have insured benefits).

CEB believes that the proposal should not apply retroactively. Companies have

planned for capital needs on the basis of current law. We agree that, under the ap-
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proach taken by the Administration, it is important to eliminate double counting of

gains and losses, but on a prospective basis. Prospective application of the elimi-

nation of double counting is primarily a transition rule, since double counting of

gains and losses will wear off rapidly over the next 4 to 7 years.

Finally, CEB believes that legislation should give positive incentives for better

funding of underfunded plans. Under the Administration proposal, the requirements
for funding a percentage of current liability costs are significantly accelerated for

relatively well funded plans, but unchanged for plans that are funded at less than

35 percent. CEB believes that requirements on plan sponsors should become less on-

erous as plans become relatively better funded.

REDUCTION IN FUNDING OPPORTUNITIES

CEB strongly believes that plan sponsor's ability to make pension contributions

should be strengthened. The Clinton Administration proposal would carefully pre-

serve the ability of plan sponsors to prepay required contributions. We support that

provision strongly; it is important that plan sponsors be given the opportunity to

prepay contributions in good times, so that the money will be available to the pen-
sion plan in bad times.

The Administration proposal also embodies measures to remedy flaws in the law

that allow sponsors of plans with assets less than 100% of current liability to "fund

up" their plans to the 100% level. We think the measures in the proposal are a step
in the appropriate direction but insufficient. The problem arises when a sponsor
maintains both a pension and a savings plan. Under current law, a plan sponsor
that wishes to "fund up" the pension plan may not be able to deduct contributions

to the savings plan and may incur an excise tax on the nondeductible contribution.

The Administration proposal would remove the excise tax for sponsors that main-
tain both a savings plan and an (underfunded) pension plan, but does not provide
that the contribution to the savings plan is deductible. To the extent that the sav-

ings plan contribution represents reasonable compensation, CEB strongly believes

that the contribution should be deductible.

Finally, the Clinton Administration proposal would reduce 415 limits by rounding
them down, further constraining the ability of sponsors to appropriately fund future

liabilities. We believe that there are other more appropriate ways to raise needed
revenue—such as simplification and extension of the ability of plan sponsors with
excess assets to use those assets to provide other employee benefits. (An example
of such a provision is in IRC 420, allowing plan sponsors with excess pension assets

to use those moneys to provide retiree medical benefits.)

PBGC GUARANTY

CEB believes that the PBGC should continue to guarantee defined pension bene-
fits. However, the current open-ended PBGC guaranty needs to provide appropriate
limitations and exclusions. Of course, any limitations on PBGC's guaranty of

prefunded benefits should be prospective.
We believe that contingent benefits that increase or cause underfunding (e.g.,

shutdown benefits) should not be guaranteed. We believe that the moral hazard in-

herent in allowing plans to grant benefits which are guaranteed in five years but
funded over 30 years should be stopped.
We also believe that the period over which guarantees accrue should be linked

to a reasonable period in which to fund the plan.
The Clinton Administration proposal would further reduce the linkage between

guarantees and funding. This is particularly evident in the shortening of the period
over which guarantees accrue for partial owners of plan sponsors, who well may
have participated in plan funding decisions. CEB believes that it is inappropriate
to increase the disparity between the period allowable for funding a plan improve-
ment and the period over which that benefit improvement is guaranteed.

TREATMENT OF PENSION OBLIGATIONS IN BANKRUPTCY

CEB believes that the bankruptcy code should not encourage the transfer of pen-
sion liabilities to PBGC rate payors. We believe that pre-petition and post-petition

required contributions should be given priority status in bankruptcy. ERISA priority
status should be expressly adopted in the federal bankruptcy code. The Clinton Ad-
ministration proposal does not directly address this area; we believe a separate bill

should be proposed to deal with these important issues.
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PREMIUM TAX INCREASES

The Clinton Administration proposal would remove the cap on the variable rate
PBGC premium. CEB does not support an increase in PBGC premiums. Given re-

form, it is not clear that the increase in premium is needed for the PBGC to fulfill

its obligations. It doesn't make sense that when PBGC's liabilities are decreased by
reform the PBGC should need larger premium collections.

Overall CEB is opposed to increases in PBGC premium for general revenue collec-

tions. Any increases in PBGC premium must be directly linked to an evaluation of
the PBGC's long term assets and liabilities.

NOTICE TO PARTICIPANTS

CEB recognizes that there is a need to better inform participants about PBGC
guarantees and the extent of unfunded benefits before a plan termination that re-
sults in loss of pension benefits. However, we cannot accept the Clinton Administra-
tion disclosure proposal, which would be triggered on the basis of unreasonable as-

sumptions in a format as yet unknown. We would like to work with the Administra-
tion and the Congress to come up with a workable method for providing this infor-
mation that is based on commonly available and accessible information such as the
disclosure of vested and accrued benefit obligations that are required under FAS87
(and monitored by the SEC).

PBGC ROLE IN MERGERS AND ACQUISITIONS

The Clinton Administration proposal would intrude the PBGC into the sensitive
arena of merger and acquisition negotiations. We believe that it is inappropriate to

provide this authority to the PBGC. Under current law (ERISA §4069) the PBGC
already has the authority to pursue abusive transactions that are entered into to
evade liability to the PBGC for an underfunded pension plan.
The imposition of the Clinton Administration proposal would likely be counter-

productive. Addition of another party to merger and acquisition negotiations in and
of itself will close off the opportunity for many such transactions and increase the
costs of those that proceed. This reduces the market value of operations held by a
sponsor that has any underfunded plan, thereby reducing the ability of a troubled
sponsor to access capital needed to stay in business and ultimately fund pension ob-

ligations.

FINANCIAL EXECUTIVES INSTITUTE'S COMMITTEE ON EMPLOYEE BENEFITS

Financial Executives Institute's Committee on Employee Benefits is the policy-
making body for FEI on benefit issues. The Committee's members represent a broad
cross section of financial executives from mid-sized to Fortune 50 companies who ad-
minister over $226 billion in defined benefit assets. Financial Executives Institute,
the leading advocate for financial executives, has over 14,000 members from over
8,000 companies.

Statement of Loews Corporation

Loews Corporation would like to comment on what we believe to be a very limited

problem under existing law, which will be exacerbated by the Retirement Protection
Act of 1993 ("the Bill").

Loews generally supports the efforts of Congress to further secure the private pen-
sion system and to strengthen the PBGC. "However, we strongly believe that Con-
gress should enact legislation to enable companies such as Loews to reduce or elimi-
nate their underfunded pensions on a more timely basis, by allowing for greater de-
ductions and eliminating penalties.
Loews is a substantial corporation with assets of over 45 billion dollars and a net

worth of over 6 billion dollars. Yet, to our embarrassment, Loews appears each year
on the PBGC list of the fifty corporations with the largest underfunding of pension
plans, colloquially know as the "iffy fifty."

Loews appearance on this list is caused by the underfunding (approximately 140
million dollars using PBGC calculations) of a collectively bargained hourly pension
plan of its wholly owned subsidiary, Lorillard, Inc. Over the past few years Lorillard
has contributed the maximum amount it could to the Lorillard hourly pension plan
on a deductible basis, not subject to excise tax penalties.

In addition, in January of 1993 we initiated discussions with the PBGC and with

Congress as to ways in which Lorillard might contribute even more. We were ad-
vised that even though extra contributions were desirable because they would
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strengthen the private pension system, Congress was not likely to permit deductions

for such greater contributions since this would affect the deficit.

The problem for Loews under the Code as it now exists comes about because in

addition to Loriliard's underfunded collectively bargained hourly pension plan,
Lorillard also has a collectively bargained profit sharing plan. The formula to deter-

mine the contribution level to the profit sharing plan has remained the same since

1970 with one negotiated reduction in 1986.

Deductions for combined contributions to pension and profit sharing plans are

limited under Code Section 404(a)(7) to 25% of total aggregate compensation. The
fact that contributions in excess of the 25% limitation may be carried forward for

possible deduction in future years is not at all helpful in a downsizing industry with

a high proportion of retirees and older workers.
Contributions in excess of the deductible limits are also subject to a 10% excise

tax penalty under Code Section 4972. Section 105 of the Bill does offer some relief

from excise tax penalties for contributions to 401(k) plans that exceed the 25% limit

to a maximum of 6% of compensation. This would not solve Loews problem since

the Bill does not provide for any relief where profit sharing plans are involved. Fur-

thermore, the limit of 6% of compensation would be inadequate in our case.

The Bill, while intended to increase minimum funding of substantially under-
funded pension plans, will not affect the Lorillard contribution level. Our actuaries

project that Loriliard's expected voluntary contribution level (up to the 25% limita-

tion) will for the foreseeable future be higher than the increased minimum funding
level proposed under the Bill.

The Bill also provides that for certain underfunded plans the PBGC variable in-

surance premium cap of $53 per participant will be phased out and the variable in-

surance underfunding formula of $9 per $1,000 will be applied without the cap. At
first blush it seems reasonable to charge higher premiums to plans with the great-
est underfunding on the assumption that this is where the greatest risk lies. But
an increase in PBGC premiums for the Lorillard hourly pension plan of more than
one million dollars each year is not reasonable—and is manifestly unreasonable
where:

1. the 25% of compensation limitation on deductions and excise tax penalties has
prevented Lorillard from further funding the pension plan;

2. Lorillard has offered to contribute more and has petitioned the PBGC and Con-
gress to remove the limitations;

3. Loriliard's income has been well in excess of the underfunding each year for

many years; and
4. The Loews controlled group, which is statutorily liable under Section 4062 of

ERISA for the underfunding, has a net worth which is over 40 times the

underfunding.

PROPOSED SOLUTIONS AND SUMMARY

The deductibility and excise tax problems exist under current law, but would not
be cured by the Bill. The PBGC premium has been raised by the Bill from a toler-
able level to an unconscionable level. We respectfully propose the following solu-
tions.

DEDUCTIBILITY LIMITATIONS

We would further fund the Lorillard hourly pension plan if we were able to get
statutory relief from the deductibility and penalty limitations. We understand that
the Treasury Department has costed out the elimination of the 25% of compensation
limit on combined plans and has indicated this would be very costly.

Therefore, we propose that 25% of compensation limit be liberalized (rather than
eliminated) by granting an exception for:

(i) combined plans both of which are collectively bargained;
(ii) combined plans covering more than 100 (or ?) employees;
(iii) combined plans where pension plan component is more than $50,000,000 (or

?) underfunded;
(iv) combined plans where the pension plan component is more than 25% (or ?)

underfunded; or

(v) any combination of the above.

Different costs would attach to each of these, but the combinations could substan-

tially reduce such cost. In the alternative, we would propose a one or two year win-
dow of relief from the 25% of compensation limitation.
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EXCISE TAXES

If such relief provisions are enacted for deduction limitations, then relief will obvi-

ously not be necessary for excise tax penalties.
If such deduction relief provisions are not enacted, then relief from excise tax pen-

alties should be provided by incorporating in the Bill a provision imposing the excise
tax on nondeductible contributions only when one (or a combination) of the items
enumerated above in Roman numerals is not present. Such excise tax relief, if in-

cluded in the Bill, would not create more than a de minimus revenue loss since the
excise tax provision as it currently operates must apply very infrequently and only
in cases of unintentional over-contributions. It is unlikely that a taxpayer would
purposefully incur a 10% nondeductible penalty in order to make a nondeductible
contribution.

PBGC PREMIUMS

If relief is not granted from the existing deductibility and/or excise tax limitations,
the proposed increase in PBGC premiums under the Bill should be reconsidered.

Companies should not be penalized now because Congress has limited their past
and present contributions to pension plans.
Whether or not relief from the deductibility and/or excise tax limitations is grant-

ed, the proposed increase in premiums might nevertheless be amended to reflect

real risk to the PBGC, rather than an oversimplified test based on underfunding
alone. For example, a company or a controlled group with large income and large
net worth which poses a de minimus risk to the PBGC should not be subject to the
increased premiums. We understand that a subjective standard is undesirable, but
such a test could be based on company bond ratings.

In the alternative, Congress might provide a mechanism for the employer to

pledge Treasury Bills or other securities and to recalculate the variable rate pre-
mium of $9 per $1,000 of underfunding, based on the underfunding as reduced by
the security.

SUMMARY

Lorillard has been faced with the equivalent of a "catch 22." If it adequately funds
its pension plan it is penalized in the form of nondeductibility and excise tax pen-
alties— if it funds its pension plan to the maximum extent it can while still avoiding
these penalties, it is then penalized by excessive insurance premiums for the risk
involved and by adverse publicity on the "iffy fifty" list.

Trying to strengthen the private retirement system without affecting the deficit

is a quandary which should not be resolved by the expedient of increasing PBGC
premiums on plans whose underfunding has been mandated by the limitations of
the Code. I am confident that Congress will provide appropriate relief in situations
such as ours where equity clearly requires relief

Statement of the National Employee Benefits Institute

The National Employee Benefits Institute ("NEBI") represents Fortune 1,000-
sized employers with respect to their employee benefit plans. Most NEBI members
sponsor at least one defined benefit pension plan for the benefit of their employees.
In addition, most of the defined benefit plans sponsored by NEBI members are well-

funded.
NEBI members support the interest of the Senate Finance Committee in strength-

ening the Pension Benefit Guaranty Corporation ("PBGC") termination insurance
for single-employer plans. NEBI members also believe that Congress should enact

legislation which improves the funding of underfunded defined benefit plans and in-

sures that the PBGC will be able to pay guaranteed benefits.

general comments on S. 1780

Although NEBI supports the efforts of the Committee to strengthen the PBGC
termination insurance system, NEBI believes that pension legislation should not be
enacted without addressing the impact of the legislation on national retirement pol-

icy. National retirement policy should encourage employers to sponsor plans which

provide retirement income to employees. Certain provisions of S. 1780, however,
may encourage responsible employers to terminate their defined benefit plans and
discourage the formation of new defined benefit plans. This would result in a con-

tinuing decrease in worker's retirement income security. Also, the PBGC termi-

nation insurance system would be threatened due to an erosion of the PBGC pre-
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mium base. Members of the Committee should recognize that continuous changes
in pension law without regard to the overall effect on the retirement income security

of employees must stop.
The Committee should also note that this legislation does not address issues

raised with respect to the significant underfunding of pension plans sponsored by
federal and state governments. The real problem is twofold: (1) the private pension

plan system lacks encouragement, and (2) regulations applicable to pension plans,

while designed to seek out potential abuses of any kind, nature or degree, have cre-

ated an over-regulated system.

SPECIFIC COMMENTS ON S. 1780

NEBI respectfully submits the following specific comments with respect to S.

1780:
1. The PBGC Should Not Guarantee Increased Benefits Unless Appropriate Fund-

ing Targets Have Been Satisfied By Underfunded Plans. Current law does not dis-

courage employers with underfunded pension plans from increasing pension benefits

provided by these pension plans. In fact, unions and employers routinely negotiate
increased pension benefits with reliance on a PBGC guarantee of those benefits. S.

1780 allows underfunded plans to continue to adopt benefit increases which are

guaranteed by the PBGC, although more rapid funding of the benefit increases is

required.
NEBI proposes that benefit increases adopted subsequent to the enactment of re-

form should not be guaranteed until an appropriate funding target has been satis-

fied by an underfunded plan. A phase-in of the PBGC guarantee in relation to a

plan's minimum funding schedule would be appropriate. This would eliminate the

financing of such promises made by some employers at the expense of all other em-

ployers.
In addition, NEBI proposes that lump-sum payments from underfunded plans be

determined using either a plan's funding assumptions or market interest rates,

whichever yields the lowest lump-sum amount. Sponsors of plans which fail to sat-

isfy funding targets should not be permitted to determine lump sums based on sub-

sidized interest assumptions. (It may be appropriate for plans that are not grossly
underfunded and targeted by this legislation to use subsidized rates.) The use of in-

dividual interest assumptions can increase a plan's unfunded current liabilities and

place PBGC at greater risk.

2. Section 415(e) of the Internal Revenue Code Should Be Repealed. NEBI proposes
that S. 1780 address another issue related to pension plans: repeal of Internal Reve-
nue Code ("Code") section 415(e).

Simplification of rules regarding defined benefit plans are necessary to stop the
exodus of employers from defined benefit plans and to maintain employees' retire-

ment income security. The Administration has indicated an interest in simplification
in its discussion of S. 1780. A simplification measure which can be enacted without

significant revenue loss would be the repeal of Code section 415(e).

Code section 415(e) limits an employer's deduction for contributions to a combina-
tion of pension and defined contribution plans sponsored by an employer. Adminis-
tration of Code section 415(e) is burdensome. In addition, numerous limitations in

the Code which apply to defined benefit plans already significantly restrict benefits

before the application of Code section 415(e). These limitations include: (1) recently
enacted legislation which limits to $150,000 the annual compensation that can be
considered under qualified plans, (2) complicated and extensive nondiscrimination

rules, and (3) individual Code section 415 limits on contributions and benefits to

qualified plans. Therefore, Code section 415(e) imposes unnecessary administrative
burdens on employers without meaningful results.

Another reason to repeal Code section 415(e) is that it greatly impacts on young
employees. NEBI has previously demonstrated to members of this Committee the
harmful impact of the new $150,000 compensation limit, enacted as part of the

Budget Reconciliation Act of 1993, on the participation in 401(k) plans by young em-

ployees and those earning just over the highly compensated employee limit. NEBI
believes that Congress should consider raising the annual compensation cap because
of its harmful effects.

3. S. 1780 Should Not Further Decrease Code Section 415 Limit. S. 1780 reduces
the limits imposed by Code section 415, 402(g) and 408(k) by providing that the cost

of living adjustments to these limits will be made in specific increments, rounding
down to the next lowest multiple of the increment ($5,000 for 415 limits and $500
for pretax elective contributions). The purpose and effect of the proposal is to raise

revenue by delaying cost of living adjustments. Delaying adjustment to the limits

further erodes the retirement income security of employees. Instead, legislation
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should be furthered that focuses on simpHfication and does not penahze employees
for the primary purpose of raising revenue.
NEBI supports legislation passed by the House and transmitted to the Senate Fi-

nance Committee, entitled the "Tax Simplification and Technical Corrections Act of
1993" (H.R. 3419) which would round the cost of living increases to the nearest $
1,000 for 415 limits and nearest $ 100 for elective pretax contributions. In addition,
if cost of living adjustments are lo be simplified, the bill should include the provi-
sions of H.R. 3419 which base the cost of living adjustments on the applicable index
as of the close of the calendar quarter ending September 30 of the preceding year—
so that adjusted dollar limits are published prior to January 1 of each year.

4. An Employer's Ability to Satisfy Complex Nondiscrimination Requirements
Through the Use of Cross Testing Should Not Be Eliminated. The Internal Revenue
Service, in proposed regulations, incorporated the use of cross-testing under the Tax
Reform Act of 1986. These regulations were finalized in 1993. Many large employers
have and continue to rely on cross testing to satisfy complex nondiscrimination re-

quirements which may apply to their qualified plans.
Cross testing applies when a defined contribution plan is tested for non-

discrimination on the basis of the benefits provided. It can be used when a defined
benefit plan and a defined contribution plan are aggregated and tested jointly on
a benefits basis. The Administration proposes in S. 1780 to eliminate cross testing
because the Treasury Department believes that cross testing allows employers to

make allocations to defined contribution plans which unreasonably favor highly
compensated employees.
NEBI supports legislation which prevents abuse in defined contribution plans that

favor primarily highly paid employees. However, NEBI does not support the com-
plete elimination of cross testing, which will unreasonably harm many employees
of responsible employers. NEBI, therefore, encourages the Committee to support
proposals which narrowly limit the use of cross testing to prevent abuse.

CONCLUSION

NEBI is pleased to present its statements on S. 1780, the Retirement Protection
Act of 1993. NEBI hopes the Committee can refocus the legislation on the funding
of pension plans, thereby reducing the PBGC's liabihty and not attempt simply to
raise revenue through provisions which harm the retirement income security of our
nation's workers.
This statement is respectfully submitted by Steven D. Huff, Executive Director of

NEBI.
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June 15, 1994

THE ISSUE

The PBGC single-employer fund currently has a large funding shortfall. Despite increases in PBGC

premium rates and legislation intended to limit PBGC's liability, the PBGC's financial condition continues

to worsen. The Retirement Protection Act of 1993 (S. 1780) aims to improve the defined benefit plan

system and protect the benefits of plan participants by strengthening the funding rules for underfunded

plans; increasing premiums for those plans that pose the greatest risk; enhancing PBGC's compliance

authority; and broadening participant disclosure requirements.

BACKGROUND

Congress esUblished the PBGC in 1974 under ERISA to insure, to a large degree, payments made under

most defined benefit pension plans. Congress established two programs—the multi-employer program

(which currently operates at a surplus) and the single-employer program (which currently operates at a

loss). Both programs were to be entirely funded by the premiums paid by plans the PBGC insures. The

minimum aimual premium has increased firom $1 in 1974 to the current $19 per participant, with a

possible additional premium of $53 per participant for underfunded plans ($72 maximum premium).

PBGC's Current Status

• The PBGC's deficit for the single-employer fund was nearly $2.9 billion in 1993.

• Total underfunding in single-employer plans insured by the PBGC was $53 billion at the end of 1992.

• The PBGC forecasts that, depending on the level of future losses, its deficit could range between $1.9

billion and $13.8 billion by the end of fiscal year 2003, due to minimal funding of a minority of

defined benefit plans and increased benefits due to plan terminations or plant shut downs.

• Potential liability rests primarily with certain industries or specific plan types.

• $38 billion underfunding is concentrated in the steel, airline, tire manufacturing and automobile

industries ($14 billion of this in financially troubled companies).
• Troubled plans are typically larger ones with "dollars times years of service" benefit formulas

(e.g. a monthly benefit of $10 for each year of service with the employer).

• PBGC has sufficient revenues and assets on hand to meet its obligations for many years.

THE PRINCIPAL POSITION

The Principal believes a strong PBGC is essentia! to the r.aticna! pension system. It must remain a »afeiy

net to insure the benefits of defined benefit plan participants. We applaud the portions of the proposal

which help protect the retirement security of millions of workers and retirees. We agree that while the

PBGC is not in immediate danger, changes should be made now — while the problem is still manageable.

For that reason, we believe the proposed legislation is a step in the right direction. However, we are

concerned about some provisions which seem to be unrelated to strengthening the PBGC. We offer the

following additional comments and concerns;
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1. Proposals We Strongly Support

Strengthen funding rules for underfunded pension plans to require faster funding;

Prohibit employers from increasing benefits in underfunded plans during bankruptcy proceedings;

Phase out the current cap on PBGC's variable rate premium over three years;

Eliminate quarterly premium contributions for fully funded plans;

Eliminate the 10% excise tax on certain nondeductible contributions;

Enable PBGC to seek judicial relief short of plan termination when corporate transactions

threaten pension funding (e.g., seeking a court order to require a departing controlled group

member to remain responsible for pension underfunding for a specific period of time or to post

security for part of the pension liabilities);

• Enable plans to file claims against a liquidating sponsor or controlled group member without plan

termination;
• Enable PBGC to enforce minimum funding requirements; and

• Improve PBGC's current authority to file liens for missed contributions.

In particular, The Principal supports the goal of strengthening the PBGC's financial condition through

tougher funding requirements for underfunded plans. We feel the proposal will, in general, achieve

this goal. We are particularly pleased that the proposed funding rule changes will not affect fully

funded plans. We are also pleased that the funding rule changes will not affect plans with less than

100 lives.

The Principal also supports prohibiting employers from increasing benefits in underfunded plans

during bankruptcy proceedings. We believe the proposal should also prohibit certain plan

amendments which do not directly increase a plan's benefit formula, but do substantially increase a

participant's benefit. These would include plant shut down benefits, changes to a plan's early

retirement provisions, or lump sum benefit options. Each of these provisions could increase a

participant's retirement benefit and thus increase the potential liability of the PBGC.

The Principal supports the proposal to increase premiums for those plans most at risk. According

to the PBGC, plans at the variable rate cap account for 80 percent of all underfunding yet account

for only 25 percent of PBGC's premium revenue. Phasing out the cap on the variable rate premium
will provide strong financial incentives for underfunded plan sponsors to improve their funding

levels. We suongly support the recommendation to retain (or lower) the flat premium rate of $19.

Plan sponsors of fully funded plans cannot—and should not be asked to—bear repeated premium
increases. Each time the base rate premium has increased, more sponsors of fully funded plans have

terminated their plans, resulting in less pension coverage nationwide and further pressure on the

PBGC. Requiring plan sponsors of underfunded plans to take more responsibility for their

underfunding is highly appropriate.

2. Proposals Requiring Clarincation

• Transition rules to ease the impact of the new funding rules;

• Establish new reporting requirements to provide information on seriously underfunded plans to

PBGC;
• Protect the interests of participants who cannot be located upon plan termination by requiring the

plan sponsor to transfer sufficient assets to pay the participants' benefits to the PBGC;
•

Specif^ uniform assumptions for calculating a plan's minimum funding contribution;

•
Specify assumptions to be used to calculate participants' lump sum benefit payments; and

• Round dollar limits for cost of living adjustments.

The Principal questions whether the new funding rules should be phased in over a transition period.

This sort of transition rule is a great example of why maintaining a pension plan is so complicated.

We believe it is appropriate to consider applying the funding rules in 1995 (without a transition

period) and then let plan sponsors apply for a waiver to the IRS of a portion of the funding

requirement under the waiver rules as currently in effect.

We support the idea of additional PBGC reporting requirements but believe there will likely be

noncompliance with the new rules. Employers, particularly those owned by foreign companies, may
not know all the members of the controlled group and may not know if a reportable event has

occurred. Also, a single service provider may not provide plan services (actuarial valuation,

recordkeeping, etc.) to the entire controlled group. Therefore, the service provider will not be able

to monitor the plans and determine if a reportable event has occurred. This will likely result in

unintentional noncompliance by some plans.
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The proposal to specify the assumptions used to calculate the plan's minimum funding contribution

concerns us. Enrolled actuaries curently have an obligation to choose reasonable assumptions when

calculationg the minimum funding level. As a result, we question whether it is necessary to place

additional restrictions on the selection of actuarial assumptions.

We believe the proposals regarding lump sum distributions and rounding cost of living adjustments

are separate issues. Neither proposal addresses the issue of improving plan funding. We are

particularly concerned about the single sum distribution proposal since it impacts all defined benefit

plans and requires plan amendments. Before we can support this item we need more information

about using the 30 Year Treasury Rate. Is it averaged over time? Can the rate on the first day of

the plan year be used? As for the proposal to round the cost of living adjustments, we question

whether a provision designed to hold down the tax expenditure for qualified plans should be included

in a PBGC funding proposal.

3. Proposals We Cannot Support

• Add a plan solvency rule requiring underfunded plans to have enough liquid assets to pay at least

3 years of benefits;

We have several reservations about the proposal to require a plan to hold cash equal to three

years' worth of payments (based on the last 12 months). First, a solvency rule based on

payments for the prior 12 months will not ensure adequate assets to pay future benefits. Instead,

any solvency rule should be based on the plan's expected benefit payments. Second, we question

whether Congress should dictate to plan sponsors how to invest plan assets. The solvency rule

may cause plan sponsors to invest more assets in low-yielding instruments than necessary,

resulting in reduced returns and higher contribution requirements. Instead, we believe the DOL
can ensure that plan sponsors and trustees have sufficient assets on hand to pay benefits through

enforcement of ERISA's fiduciary prudent person rule. If some modification is really needed,

we suggest guidelines requiring plan sponsors to take into account expected benefit payments

when establishing asset allocations.

• Broaden disclosure of information for participants and retirees on their plan's underfunding and

the limits of PBGC's guarantee through an annual plain-language explanation of their plan's

funding status; and

The Principal supports the goal of educating participants about their retirement benefits and

preparing them to make better financial decisions. We believe each plan sponsor should provide

participants with information about their plan benefits and explanations of the PBGC's guarantee

of those benefits. However, we question whether increasing the disclosure requirements to

participants about the plan's funding status will improve the level of plan funding. Since

participants generally have no say about a plan's funding level, it is hard to see that this will do

much to solve the core problem of plan underfunding.

• Eliminate cross-testing of defined contribution plans on a benefits basis.

We support the concept of cross-testing defined contribution plans on a benefits basis and fee!

it is an important plan design option. It has opened up some new plan design options and is

bringing more employers (and members) into the private pension system. While some plan

sponsors may use this to skew benefits in favor of the highly paid employees, the majority use

it to provide non-discriminatory benefits to all their employees. If change is needed, we favor

modification of the current rules rather than outright elimination. In uddition, we strongly

oppose the provision that would apply these changes retroactively to plans established after

September 30, 1993. Any modifications made to the current rules should apply prospectively

for all plans.

SUMMARY

The Principal believes a strong PBGC is essential to the national pension system and must remain a safety

net to insure the benefits of plan participants. In general, we support the proposal's efforts to better

coordinate the methods of determining minimum funding requirements and actual plan termination

liability in order to reduce the amount of underfunding at plan termination. We also support efforts to

place more responsibility on employers and employees for establishing affordable benefits. However,
we do have reservations about several of the proposed changes and hope that Congress will consider

carefully whether the changes will indeed achieve the goal of improving the financial status of the PBGC.
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Information About The Principal Financial Group

The Principal Financial Group is a family of insurance and financial services with assets of more than

$44 billion. Its largest member company. Principal Mutual Life Insurance Company, is currently the

fourth largest life insurance company in the nation ranked by premium income.

The Principal Financial Group serves 703,000 individual policy holders, more than 74,000 group

employer clients, 33,000 pension contractholders and 62,600 mutual fund shareholder accounts. In all,

7.6 million customers (businesses, individuals, and their dependents) rely on the companies of The

Principal Financial Group for their financial services needs.

For More Information

Questions or comments may be directed to any of the following employees of The Principal:

Stuart Brahs, Vice President — Federal Government Relations: (202) 682-1280

Larry Zimpleman, Vice President — Pension Services: (515) 247-5752

Jack Stewart, Assistant Director — Pension Services: (515) 247-6389

Prepared Statement of the U.S. Chamber of Commerce

(BY peter M. KELLY 1)

The U.S. Chamber of Commerce Federation of 215,000 businesses, 3,000 state and
local chambers of commerce, 1,200 trade and professional associations, and 69
American Chambers of Commerce abroad welcomes this opportunity to present its

views on legislation concerning the termination insurance program administered by
the Pension Benefit Guaranty Corporation (PBGC).

Background
Since enactment of the Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 1974

(ERISA), the Chamber has been actively involved in legislative debates over amend-

ing the termination insurance system. For example, Chamber committees played a

significant role in the evaluation and improvement of proposals leading to enact-

ment of single-employer system reforms in 1986, 1987, and 1989. Since that time,
we have maintained a continual dialogue with members of this Committee on relat-

ed issues. Chamber policy with respect to the latest proposals to amend the termi-

nation insurance program may be helpful to you in your deliberations.

The Defined-Benefit Pension System
The chart in Attachment A illustrates that the trend away from defined-benefit

plans dates from the enactment of ERISA. Structural reform of the termination in-

surance system temporarily slowed or reversed this trend in 1985 and 1986. How-
ever, the combined impact of premium tax increases (from $1 to $19 per participant
at the most basic level, as shown in Attachment B) and excise taxes imposed in the

late 1 980s has drastically accelerated the decline in the net rate of formation of

new defined-benefit plans (i.e., new plans established minus plans terminated).

Since 1987, the Internal Revenue Service has issued determination letters with re-

spect to 40,982 newly established defined-benefit plans and 80,323 letters with re-

spect to terminating plans, for a negative net growth of 39,341 plans. In each of the

five most recent years for which data are available, "growth" has been negative.
While an economic downturn played a critical role for a time, the trend to slower

plan formation has continued into a period of economic recovery. One reason is that

job growth in the post-ERISA period has been in nonunion service jobs not tradition-

ally associated with defined-benefit plans. In addition, the baby-boom generation
has not yet reached the age when the monetary advantages of defined-benefit plans

' Peter M. Kelly is a partner with the law firm of Murphy, Smith & Polk P.C. in Chicago.
He chairs the Qualified Plan Subcommittee of the Chamber's Health and Employee Benefits

Committee Mr Kelly has practiced in the employee benefits field since 1973.
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exceed the perceived value of the flexibility or growth potential of defined-contribu-

tion plans such as 401(k) plans.
The demographic and business trends which have contributed to the defmed-bene-

fit decline eventually will be reversed. As service workers and their employers be-

come more institutionalized, and as the baby boomers continue to age without ade-

quate savings, pressure for defined-benefit plans will increase. The Chamber would

like to be reassured that restrictive rules and burdensome PBGC premiums will not

prevent such plans from achieving a predominant role in building new retirement

savings. Defined-benefit plans will only be adopted if the applicable rules are made
more rational and if the cost of termination insurance is restrained. We believe that

the PBGC recognized a risk to the whole system when it expressed opposition to

further increases in the flat-rate premium paid by the most well-funded plans.

The defined-benefit plan should be preserved as a viable plan design option, and

we urge you to approach your deliberations on PBGC legislative and regulatory ini-

tiatives from this perspective.

The Retirement Protection Act

PBGC Premiums—The Chamber's primary objective with respect to single-em-

ployer plans is to foster the voluntary sponsorship of well-funded retirement plans,

including defined-benefit plans. Our member companies have been alarmed by the

history of ever-increasing PBGC premiums (Attachment B). The Chamber will op-

pose legislation that further burdens sponsors of well-funded plans. We support the

decision by the drafters of S. 1780 to hold the line on flat-rate premiums. Indeed,

we suggest that any change made should be a reduction in such premiums to en-

courage the formation of healthy defined-benefit plans.
The Chamber certainly can see the rationale for a proposal to increase the pre-

mium pressure on sponsors of poorly-funded plans. However, our members have ex-

pressed to the PBGC their concern about the way that S. 1780 will change the

methods used to determine which plans are subject to risk-related premiums. The

Qualified Plan Subcommittee, a Chamber policy group that I chair, has requested
further information regarding the projected impact of these changes. Our fear is

that some employers who legitimately believe they are maintaining sound, well-

funded plans may be swept into the category of plans on which higher, risk-related

premiums are imposed. We encourage the Committee not to conclude its study of

S. 1780 until reliable information concerning the impact of these provisions is avail-

able.

Funding Changes—S. 1780 proposes several funding changes. Varied and com-

plex in mechanism, they have a stated goal of permitting or requiring faster funding

by sponsors of underfunded plans. Viewed in terms of their impact, the proposed

changes are designed to make it more difficult for sponsors of troubled plans to

transfer their obligations to the termination insurance system.
We respond positively to most of the funding changes, including the elimination

of double counting of actuarial gains and losses in determining an employer's Deficit

Reduction Contribution, the general concept of a solvency contribution, accelerated

recognition of bargained benefit increases, and the prohibition of benefit increases

in bankruptcy. However, we approach more cautiously the proposals to limit actuar-

ial assumptions more strictly, since the precise impact of these restrictions and of

the new solvency contribution requirement is not yet clear. There is some concern

that the new restrictions will subject many more plan sponsors to the Deficit Reduc-

tion Contribution requirements and risk-related premiums.
The proposal to eliminate quarterly contributions for well-funded plans is wel-

come. Aside from this change, S. 1780 offers little assistance to sponsors of healthy

plans. A strong argument can be advanced that plan sponsors should have greater
freedom to increase deductible contributions during years when they experience

strong financial results, even at the risk of modest overfunding over short periods
of time. We believe that a relaxation of the funding limitation to permit additional

contributions by sponsors of healthy plans would be good public policy, contributing
to savings and investment and permitting such plans to remain healthy in all eco-

nomic cycles.
Enforcement—Some of the proposed means to enhance PBGC's enforcement ca-

pabilities, such as a stronger Reportable Event process, seem reasonable. Hovvever,

there appears to be entirely too much emphasis on litigation and preemptive inter-

vention in business transactions. The legislation should include standards and safe-

guards to prevent overzealous administration of the termination insurance program.

Cross-testing and Age-weighting—We oppose the proposal to eliminate cross-

testing of age- and service-weighted plans, which would be quite harmful to Cham-
ber members, especially small businesses, which need a weighted-plan option that

allows them to make up for previous years when company revenues could not sus-
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tain a retirement plan. We question whether S. 1780 is the proper vehicle for any
restriction of the use of these techniques for defined-contribution plans, which are

not even covered by termination insurance.

Other Legislation

Despite the history of increases in PBGC premiums, the termination insurance

system is still menaced by a looming PBGC deficit. In assessing the causes of this

state of affairs and arguing against further premium increases, PBGC has laid

much of the blame on benefit increases in underfunded plans. A solution offered by
Representative Pickle in the House (H.R. 298) was designed to strengthen provi-
sions of ERISA and the Internal Revenue Code which restrict benefit-increase

amendments and require responsible funding.
We share Representative Pickle's concern that the termination insurance system

for both single-employer and multiemployer plans fails to satisfy basic casualty in-

surance underwriting standards. Sponsors and joint boards of trustees with the au-

thority to amend defined-benefit pension plans may exercise that authority to in-

crease benefits even at a time when such plans are seriously underfunded. Although
existing law curbs the ability of single-employer sponsors to adopt such benefit-in-

crease amendments, no such restriction applies to multiemployer plans. We do have
some concerns with the precise funding standard that would be established under

Representative Pickle's legislation, but are confident that with technical amend-
ments these proposals would provide material benefits by restraining system-wide
premium increases.

H.R. 298 would amend the restrictions on underfunded plan benefit increase

amendments contained in Code Section 401(1)(29) and ERISA Section 307 and the

funding rules of Code Section 412 as follows:

1. The restrictions would be extended to cover multiemployer plans. Currently,

only single employer plans are subject to such restrictions.

2. The restrictions would be made applicable to more plans. The rules currently

apply only to plans which fail to satisfy a 60 percent funding standard. The manner
in which the funded status of a plan is calculated would change and the amendment
restriction would apply to plans that are less than 90 percent funded.

3. A provision wnich currently exempts $10 million of underfunding from the se-

curity reauirements would be replaced by a provision exempting $1 million in

underfunding from the stricter 90 percent standard.
4. The funding rules applicable to underfunded single employer plans would be

strengthened for plans that are less than 100 percent funded.

The Chamber believes strongly that trustees of seriously underfunded multiem-

ployer plans should be prevented from increasing plan benefits. ^ This will put an
end to an abusive pattern of conduct which has been followed by some plans.
The withdrawal liability rules and the funding standards force contributing ern-

ployers to underwrite a multiemployer plan's benefit payment obligations, even if

the employers have conscientiously made all contractually-required contributions.

Contributing employers currently have no meaningful protection against unreason-
able benefit amendments.
Imposing benefit amendment restrictions would not be too great a burden for the

large majority of multiemployer plans that are well-funded. However, doing so will

restrain those unscrupulous multiemployer plan trustees who have demonstrated a

willingness to aggravate the financial weakness of underfunded plans in reliance

upon windfall withdrawal liability recoveries.

In single-employer plans, prudent funding avoids the dangers to employers, share-

holders, employees, and the termination insurance system which are
imjplicit

in the

maintenance of an underfunded plan. In addition, by complete funding of benefit en-

titlements, a sponsoring employer fulfills its pension promises. If such plans reach

the end of their life cycles, the expectations of all parties may be satisfied after a

standard termination of the plan.
Actuarial science is imprecise. It is unlikely that an employer's contributions

when combined with fund experience will actually hit the precise funding target.

However, it is reasonable to require plan sponsors to show restraint in promising

2 There is one technical problem in the proposal as applied to multiemployer plans.
The revi-

sion to EAISA Section 307 imposes a security requirement on contributing employers who may
be unaware of and opposed to a benefit increase. Applying a criminal or civil sanction or costs

on such employers seems unreasonable. This will provide unscrupulous trustees with an addi-

tional lever which will make it easier to impose unfunded benefit increases. In order to prevent
this abuse, the following new subsection (f) could be added to EAISA Section 307:

(f) No plan sponsor, plan administrator or other person shall adopt or implement an amend-
ment described in (a) which takes effect with respect to any contributing employer without the

written consent of such contributing employer.
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new benefits at a time when the best available actuarial evidence suggests that ex-

isting benefit commitments are underfunded. The failure of ERISA to restrain the

creation of new benefits rights under an underfunded plan was a fundamental flaw

in the termination insurance program.
The approach taken by H.R. 298 would reduce the pressure on the termination

insurance system. Employers who follow prudent funding practices may face little

risk of surprise liabilities under their own plans, but they are collectively serving
as an involuntary surety of those employers who operate underfunded plans in an

irresponsible fashion. This situation violates fundamental insurance principles since

sponsors of well-funded plans do not have the underwriting discretion that protects
a commercial surety which writes performance or payment bonds. The proposed

changes in the protections of Code Section 401(a)(29) and ERISA Section 307 should

improve the quality of this underwriting risk.

While a 90 percent funding requirement strikes us as excessive, some increase in

the current 60 percent standard probably is appropriate. We also have some res-

ervations concerning the severity of the penalty for violations of a relatively new
and very complex security requirement. However, this proposal deserves the Com-
mittee's attention, especially because it addresses a fundamental flaw in the current

PBGC insurance system.

Bankruptcy Issues

Although we have generally been supportive of past efforts of the PBGC to amend

bankruptcy laws to improve its status in bankruptcy, we want to be sure that ex-

traordinary liens and other priorities favoring the PBGC are geared to restraining

the growth of the PBGC's exposure. This principle will preserve the settled expecta-
tions of other creditors while protecting the PBGC.
We cannot stress strongly enough the importance of viewing any bankruptcy

amendments in the broader context of bankruptcy reform. In this connection, we en-

courage the Committee and the PBGC to work closely with the Judiciary Commit-
tees of the Senate and the House. One of the most frustrating aspects of the legisla-

tive process which led to the enactment of termination insurance system reforms in

1986 was the failure of the PBGC to adequately address the legitimate jurisdictional

concerns of the Senate Judiciary Committee in fashioning its legislative proposals.

Conclusion

The Chamber supports the goals of the Retirement Protection Act, and believes

that it is moving in the right direction. However, the bill as currently written raises

significant concerns. We believe that the termination insurance program and all its

participants would benefit from further deliberation and refinement. We look for-

ward to working together to preserve and strengthen the defined-benefit pension

system.
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Statement of the U.S. General Accounting Office

Mr. Chairman and Members of the Committee: Thank you for inviting me to sub-

mit this statement for the record pertaining to the administration's proposed pen-
sion reform legislation, S. 1780, the Retirement Protection Act of 1993. The majority
of pension plans insured by the Pension Benefit Guaranty Corporation (PBGC) are

well funded. However, a significant minority are underfunded, and the level of

underfunding in these plans has been growing in recent years. This growth in-

creases PBGC's exposure (the size of its potential claims).

Because of PBGC's large and growing deficit,
^ the size of the exposure it faced

from underfunded plans, and its financial system and internal control weaknesses,
we placed PBGC on GAO's list of "high-risk" government programs in 1990. It re-

mains there today. We believe PBGC will continue to be at risk until its deficit is

reduced and the funding in underfunded plans is significantly improved, and we be-

lieve stronger funding requirements are needed for such an improvement to occur.

At the request of tne Chairman of the Subcommittee on Oversight, House Com-
mittee on Ways and Means, we have been studying funding issues for underfunded
defined benefit pension plans and will be issuing a report to him in the near fu-

ture. 2 Our study looks at the effectiveness of current funding rules and at the im-

pact on plan funding of the administration's proposal. This statement is based on

our results to date.

I would like to make three main points. First, current rules designed to ensure
that sponsors of underfunded plans make additional contributions to better fund
their plans are not working well. Second, S. 1780 should lead to substantial im-

provements over current law. And third, S. 1780 could and should be strengthened.

HISTORY OF PENSION PLAN FUNDING REGULATIONS

Before the enactment of the Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 1974

(ERISA), only minimal funding rules existed. As a result, participants lost promised
benefits if their underfunded plans terminated. Among other provisions, ERISA es-

tablished firm minimum funding rules and established PBGC to insure the pension
benefits of participants in most defined benefit plans. The ERISA funding rules

worked as intended for many plans, but by the mid-1980s it became apparent that

they did not work well for some plans.
To further protect PBGC and bolster funding levels in underfunded plans, the

Congress enacted the Pension Protection Act (PPA), a part of the Omnibus Budget
Reconciliation Act of 1987. Among the act's provisions was an additional funding re-

quirement for large (101 or more participants) underfunded plans. Sponsors of these

underfunded plans not only had to make the contribution dictated by ERISA's mini-

mum funding rules (specified in sec. 412(b) of the Internal Revenue Code (IRC), they
had to determine if tney were required to make additional contributions (specified

in sec. 412(1) of the IRC), which are contingent upon both the level of plan

underfunding and when it was incurred.

Plans subject to the additional funding requirement first determine their deficit

reduction contribution (DRC), the additional contribution before any adjustments
are made. ^ The DRC is reduced by subtracting selected components of the plan's
minimum required contribution under ERISA. This reduction amount is called an
offset. " •''

The expectation was that this additional funding requirement would help to accel-

erate the movement of underfunded plans toward full funding. The Congress's ex-

pectation has not been realized. PBGC reports that underfunding in the single-em-

ployer plans it insures increased from $31 billion in 1990 to over $50 billion at the

end of 1992. Although this increase is due in part to declining interest rates, the

trend is cause for concern.

'The deficit in PBGC's Single-Employer Program was $2.9 billion on September 30, 1993.
2 In a defined benefit pension plan, benefits are generally based on a formula that takes into

consideration job tenure and/or earnings.
3The DRC comprises a payment for the plan's underfunding at the beginning of the 1988 plan

year, amortized over 18 years, and a payment for any new underfunding amortized over a short-

er period that depends on the ratio of plan assets to plan liabilities (the plan's funding ratio).

We estimate that between 2,500 and 3,600 plans were subject to the additional funding provi-

sion in 1990.

"•Components of the offset (for example, the amortization payment to reduce unfunded past
service liabilities arising from plan amendments) are listed in sec. 412(lKlKAKii) of the IRC.

^ If the plan has an unpredictable contingent event payment (usually caused hy a plant shut-

down), an additional payment is added to the net amount computed. The net DRC is then tested

to ensure that it does not exceed the beginning-of-year underfunding in the plan. Finally, it is

reduced for plans with not more than 150 participants.
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SHORTCOMINGS IN THE CURRENT LAW

To determine the effectiveness of the Pension Protection Act's additional funding

requirement, we randomly selected a sample of 93 plans from the approximately

5,000 large plans that were making variable rate premium payments to PBGC in

1990.6 Fifty-seven of these 93 plans had unfunded current liabilities and, therefore,

were subject to the additional funding requirement. We focused our analysis on

three factors that can influence the size of additional contributions—the offset, split-

ting plan underfunding into old and new components, and interest rates.

We found that the current law offset completely eliminated additional contribu-

tions for sponsors of 34 plans in our sample that were subject to the additional fund-

ing requirement (60 percent) and reduced them substantially for 16 others (28 per-

cent). Sponsors of only 22 plans in our sample made additional contributions in

1990, ^ and these additional contributions equaled only 2.6 percent of the

underfunding in those 22 plans.
This suggests, in our view, that the design of the offset is flawed. Under current

law, the offset can be much larger than the DRC because, for most underfunded

plans in our sample, the offset contains most of the amortization charges included

in the ERISA minimum contribution but few of the counteracting amortization cred-

its. The offset should, at a minimum, include all amortization charges and all amor-

tization credits in the ERISA minimum contribution.

Also, splitting a plan's liability into old and new components reduced both the size

of additional contributions and the number of sponsors who would make them. Be-

cause this provision is transitional and is designed to phase out, we do not believe

it needs to be modified.

Finally, in 1990 plans were not using high interest rates to avoid making addi-

tional contributions. Only about 25 percent of the plans in our sample used an inter-

est rate in the top half of the allowable range, and only two plans used the highest

permitted rate.

PROPOSED LEGISLATION TO IMPROVE FUNDING

The bill before the Congress, S. 1780, the Retirement Protection Act, addresses

the shortcomings in the current law. Our analysis indicates that S. 1780 would in-

crease the number of sponsors of underfunded plans making additional contribu-

tions compared with current law and would substantially increase the amount of ad-

ditional contributions affected sponsors would pay (see table 1).

Table 1.—COMPARATIVE EFFECTS OF ADDITIONAL FUNDING REQUIREMENTS UNDER CURRENT LAW

AND S, 1780, BASED ON A SAMPLE OF 93 PLANS IN 1990

Provision

S, 1780

Number of plans subject to additional funding requirement

Total underfunding (all plans)

Number of plans receivmg additional contributions

Total underfunding in plans receiving additional contnbutions

Total additional contributions

Additional contribution as a percent of underfunding (in plans receiving

ttiem)

65

$255.6 M

34

$221.6 M

$28.0 M

12.6%

Our analysis suggests that the administration's bill, S. 1780, moves in the right
direction in addressing the underfunding problem for many underfunded plans. In-

deed, most funding provisions in the bill will affect only underfunded plans. Another

advantage of the bill is that its funding proposals only modify the structure of cur-

rent law, so practitioners will not have to learn a new system. Most importantly,
the bill corrects the current law offset's design flaw. In our view, the redesign of

the offset is the single most important funding provision in the bill and is needed,
as is, to maintain the integrity of the proposal.

^The variable rate premium, which depends on the per participant level of plan underfunding,
is an additional premium paid to PBGC by underfunded plans. The measure of underfunding
differs from that used to determine if additional contributions should be made.

^ Another sponsor should have made additional contributions, but did not because the instruc-

tions were misinterpreted.



149

The bill also contains several other provisions that can increase contributions to

underfunded plans. These include a solvency rule, restrictions on actuarial assump-
tions, an increase in the deficit reduction contribution for many plans, and the im-

mediate recognition of benefit increases.

The solvency rule would require that plans' liquid assets equal at least 3 years'
disbursements. Our earlier work on hidden liabilities in pension plans demonstrated
that underfunding can increase rapidly in many plans immediately before termi-

nation.^ The solvency rule would provide that a cushion of assets be maintained to

protect plan participants and the PBGC. Only one plan in our sample would have
received a solvency rule contribution under this provision in 1990.

The restrictions on actuarial assumptions would dictate that plans determine
their current liabilities using a specified mortality table and the lower half of the

current allowable interest rate range. These restrictions would increase current li-

abilities for most plans in our sample and would increase the number of plans sub-

ject to the additional contribution provision.
The administration's bill would also increase the DRC for plans whose funding ra-

tios exceed 35 percent and would require immediate recognition of all bargained
benefit increases, even if part of the increase does not take effect for several years.
The first provision would increase additional contributions for most sponsors mak-
ing them. The second would accelerate funding in negotiated plans, which generally
are flat benefit plans,

^ a type of plan particularly susceptible to underfunding. We
used our sample of plans to estimate tne impact of the administration's bill had it

been in effect in 1990. The actuarial assumption restrictions would have increased

the number of plans subject to the additional contribution provision from 57 to 65.

Sponsors of 34 of these 65 plans (52 percent) would have made additional contribu-

tions equal to about 12.6 percent of the plans' underfunding. Sponsors of all plans
in our sample with funding ratios of less than 50 percent would make additional

contributions, while sponsors of about half the plans with funding ratios between
50 and 80 percent and about 36 percent of those whose plans had funding ratios

above 80 percent would make additional contributions.

Further Strengthening of Funding Rules Desirable

Despite the funding improvements that S. 1780 would bring, sponsors of some
marginally funded plans would still not make additional contributions. These spon-
sors may make additional contributions at some point in the future under S. 1780,
but we are concerned that some plans may never become fully funded unless they
do.

Sponsors of only about 40 percent of the 57 underfunded plans in our sample
make additional contributions under current law. The administration's proposal
would, we estimate, increase both the number of plans subject to the additional con-

tribution provision and the percentage making additional contributions. Based on

our sample, the number of plans subject to the provisions will increase by about 15

percent, and between 50 and 60 percent of this higher number will make additional

contributions. '^ With time, this percentage could increase further (because of the

elimination of the unfunded old liability component of the DRC, for example).
Nevertheless, sponsors of some plans with relatively low funding ratios will not

make additional contributions because their offsets will continue to exceed their

DRCs. For example, one plan in our sample, that did not receive additional con-

tributions in 1989 or 1990 and would not receive additional contributions under S.

1780, had a funding ratio that declined from 58 percent in 1988 to 55 percent in

1990. The ERISA minimum contribution did not improve funding in this plan from
1988 to 1990, and we have no reason to believe that this contribution alone will im-

prove the plan's funding in the future. In our opinion, this plan should be receiving
additional contributions to bolster its funding.
The most direct way to rectify this problem is to require that sponsors of all plans

with funding ratios below a specified threshold, say 80 percent, make an additional

contribution to improve their plans' funding. This could be accomplished by capping
the offset at a certain percentage of the DRC. This modification would cause spon-
sors of all plans with funding ratios below 80 percent to make an additional con-

tribution.

"Pension Plans: Hidden Liabilities Increase Claims Against Government Insurance Program
(GAO/HRD-93-7, Dec. 30. 1992).

8 Flat benefit plans generally pay a specified dollar amount per year of service.

'"Sponsors of 52 percent of the underfunded plans in our sample would make additional con-

tributions with the Dill's proposed transitional limitations in place. These limitations would re-

strict the level of additional contributions through the 2001 plan year. Without these restric-

tions, sponsors of 38 of the 65 underfunded plans (58 percent) would make additional contribu-

tions.
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In our sample, sponsors of 75 percent of the underfunded plans would make addi-

tional contributions if this modification were in effect (see fig. 1). Those that would

not make additional contributions have plans that are at least 80 percent funded.

Figure 2 shows additional contributions as a percent of underfunding (for plans re-

ceiving additional contributions) under current law, the S. 1780 proposal, and an ex-

ample of a strengthened proposal with the offset cap set at 50 percent of DRC.
While this approach will increase additional contributions by sponsors that might

not make them otherwise, it will also reduce federal revenues because these con-

tributions are tax deductible. The lower the level of the cap on the offset, the higher
the additional contributions and revenue loss. To address this issue, the Congress
would ultimately have to balance the budget's PAYGO (pay-as-you-go) consider-

ations against improved protections for PBGC and participants in underfunded

plans.
'1

The administration's bill contains a number of proposals that do not impinge on

plan funding. Although we have not evaluated all of these other provisions, on the

basis of our previous work, we see value in the provisions that would (1) require
notification of participants of their plan's funding status and the limitations of

PBGC's guarantee, (2) require disclosure to PBGC of information necessary to deter-

mine current liabilities and assets for certain plans, and (3) remove the cap on the

variable rate premium.

CONCLUSION

Our work to date suggests that the evidence of funding problems in some plans
is sufficiently compelling to support stronger funding requirements for underfunded

plans. PBGC calculations show that underfunding in the plans it insures is increas-

ing in spite of provisions in the 1987 Pension Protection Act and is now over $50
billion. Continued and growing underfunding has several negative impacts. It (1) in-

creases PBGC's exposure, (2) puts plan participants at risk of losing benefits not

guaranteed by PBGC, (3) may result in premium increases for well-funded plans (to

reduce PBGC's losses), and (4) might result in a taxpayer-assisted bailout of PBGC
should the agency become unable to meet its benefit obligations. Improving the

funding of underfunded plans would benefit each of these groups.
The additional contribution provision of the 1987 Pension Protection Act appears

to be having less impact than envisioned on improving funding in underfunded

plans. The proposed funding provisions in the administration's Retirement Protec-

tion Act, especially the revised offset design, should increase both the number of

sponsors of underfunded plans that make additional contributions and the amount
of these additional contributions. However, based on our sample, sponsors of about

half the plans that are 50 to 80 percent funded will not make additional contribu-

tions under the proposed funding rule changes. As a result, we believe the proposed

funding provisions need to be strengthened further to ensure that an even greater

percentage of underfunded plans' sponsors make additional contributions.

• 1 Under the Budget Enforcement Act, PAYGO requires that all direct spending and tax legis-

lation enacted during a session of the Congress must be deficit-neutral in the aggregate.



151

Figure 1: Estimated Percentage of Underfunded Plans Receiving
Additional Contributions Under Current Law, S. 1780, and S. 1780

Modified So That All Plans Less Than 80 Percent Funded Receive
Additional Contributions

TID Percent of Underfunded Plans

90

80

70

60

50

40

30

20

10

J



152

Figure 2: Estimated Additional Contributions as a Percent of

Underfunding Under Current Law, S. 1780, and S. 1780 Modified So

That the Offset Is Capped for Plans With Funding Ratios of Less

Than 80 Percent
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